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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements in this Report under the captiteam 7, “Managemers’ Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditior
Results of Operations,” Iltem 1, “Business”, Itenfl3gal Proceedings” and elsewhere in this Reponistitute “forward-looking statements”
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litiga Reform Act of 1995 (the “Reform Act”). Suchrfeard{ooking statements invol
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and othetofa which may cause the actual results, perfocmarr achievements of Act
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Acura” or the “Companyd), industry results, to be materially differentrfroany future results, performance
achievements expressed or implied by such ford@olling statements. The most significant of suattdes include, but are not limited
general economic conditions, competitive conditjoleehnological conditions and governmental legjista More specifically, importa
factors that may affect future results include, dmat not limited to: changes in laws and regulatigrarticularly those affecting the Company’
operations; the Compars/ability to continue to attract, assimilate anthire highly skilled personnel; its ability to seeuand protect i
patents, trademarks and proprietary rights; itstalto avoid infringement of patents, trademarks @ther proprietary rights or trade secre
third parties; litigation or regulatory action thaduld require the Company to pay significant dag@sagr change the way it conducts
business; the Comparsyability to successfully develop and market itedorcts; customer responsiveness to new productsligtributior
channels; its ability to compete successfully asfagurrent and future competitors; its dependenmcéhd-party suppliers of raw materie
the availability of controlled substances that ¢ibute the active ingredients of the Companptroducts in development; difficulties or del
in clinical trials for Company products or in theanufacture of Company products; and other risksamgtrtainties detailed in this Rep
The Company is at an early stage of developmentnaayl not ever have any products that generate vevaithen used in this Report,
words “estimate,” “project,” “anticipate,” “expettyintend,” “believe,” and similar expressions amtended to identify forwardboking
statements.




PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General

The Company is a New York corporation establistmetia35. Prior to the restructuring of the Compargperations described bel
the Company had been engaged in the developmentjfatdure, sale and distribution of a variety ohgec finished dosage pharmaceult
products and active pharmaceutical ingredients (8APOn November 6, 2003, the Company announcedl#n to restructure the Compasny’
operations to focus on research and developmeatereto certain proprietary opioid synthesis andfied dosage formulation technolog
The Board of Directors determined, among otherofactthat the Compang’ability to generate positive cash flow from thpetion of th
Companys finished dosage manufacturing, packaging, labedind distribution facilities located in CongersgviN York (collectively, th
“Congers Facilities”)in the manufacture and distribution of finished alyps generic products pursuant to abbreviated neny application
(“ANDAs") was compromised by the highly competitive marketirmmment, low market pricing and declining markée for its existin
generic products and the lack of new generic prisdincdevelopment. The Board determined that neran sales of the Compasyfinishec
dosage generic drug products would likely resulieégative gross margins in view of the market emiuinent. Based on this analysis and ¢
factors, the Board concluded that the Compsimganufacture and sale of finished dosage prodigetssed to be produced at the Con
Facilities would result in continuing negative catbw for the foreseeable future. After due considien of alternative strategies ¢
considering the optimal use of available fundinge Board adopted a strategy to substantially retsire the Companyg’ busines
Manufacturing of the Comparg/’generic finished dosage products at the Congariittes substantially ceased on January 30, 2804}
date also marks the completion, in large parthefreduction in work force by approximately 100 é&gpes, 70 of whom were employed
the Company at the Congers Facilities, associai#itl ttve restructuring of the Company’s operatidgBse “Recent EventsRestructure ¢
Operations” below.

As restructuredthe Company is an emerging specialty pharmaceuticaipany primarily engaged in research, developraec
manufacture of innovative abuse deterrent formorfeti(“Aversion™ Technology”) intended for use in orally administbi@pioid-containing
pharmaceutical products. The status of the Aversiérirechnology development is described below under cdgtion “Aversion™
Technology”. The Company is also engaged, to a niesber extent, in research, development and metowéaof proprietary, higlyield,
short cycle time, environmentally sensitive opiagnthesis processes (the “Opioid Synthesis Teclgiesdd and, collectively with th
Aversion ™ Technology, the “Technologiestitended for use in the commercial production ataie bulk opioid APIs. The status of
Opioid Synthesis Technologies is described belodeutthe caption “Opioid Synthesis Technologiess. described below under the cap
“Patent Applications”as of February 1, 2005, the Company had one idd&epatent, one US Notice of Allowance and 14 paa@piication
pending, including one (1) issued US patent, ondJ& Notice of Allowance granted, eight (8) US matapplications pending and one
foreign patent application pending relating to ®gioid Synthesis Technologies, and four (4) US magpplications pending and one
foreign patent application pending relating to fhersion ™ Technology.As of February 1, 2005, the Company retained oviniersf all
intellectual property and commercial rights togteduct candidates and Technologies .

The Company conducts research, development, ladygramanufacturing and warehousing activities ietato its Technologies at
Culver, Indiana facility (the “Culver Facility”). fle Culver Facility is registered by the U.S. Drutfdtcement Administration (the “DEA'tp
perform research, development and manufacture & Bdntrolled substances in bulk and finished dodagas. In 2001, the Company fil
with the DEA an application for registration (thenport Registration”) to import narcotic raw matdsi (“NRMs”). NRMs are common
used as the initial starting materials in the sgath of certain opioid APIs. The Import Registratid ultimately granted, for which there ¢
be no assurance, will provide the Company with @memical source of NRMs for use as starting maltein the commercial manufact
and supply of certain opioid APIs utilizing the Oj Synthesis Technologies. The status of the eafdin for the Import Registration
described below under the caption “Import LicensgiBtration.”




The Company plans to enter into development anchoenmtialization agreements with strategically focupharmaceutical compa
partners (the “Partners”) providing that such Rentrlicense the Comparsyproduct candidates incorporating the Aversionhfetogy ani
further develop, register and commercialize mudtifdrmulations and strengths of orally administeogibid-containing finished dosa
products utilizing the Aversiom Technology. The Company expects to receive milesfmayments and a share of profits and/or ro
payments derived from the Partners’ sale of finisheoducts incorporating the Aversid¥ Technology. The Company also believes tr
may derive revenues through licensing the Opioiahtlsssis Technologies, and contract manufacture samply of clinical trial an
commercial supplies of finished dosage productizint the Aversion™ Technologies. As of February 1, 2005, the Compaay mot a par
to any development or commercialization agreemetit avthird party relating to any of its Technolegiand no assurance can be giver
the Company will be successful in entering into angh agreement in the future.

The Company files annual, quarterly and currenbrisp proxy statements and other information witlh Securities and Exchar
Commission (the “SEC"). These filings are availalgiéhe public over the internet at the SE@/eb site at http://www.sec.gov. You may
read and copy any document we file at the SH6liblic reference room at 450 Fifth Street, N.Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call
SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information oa plublic reference room.

The Companys internet address is www.acurapharm.com. We muéidahle free of charge on www.acurapharm.com aunual
quarterly and current reports and amendments &etheports, as soon as reasonably practicablevedtetectronically file such material wi
or furnish it to, the SEC. In addition, you may ueqt a copy of these filings (excluding exhibitsha cost by contacting us at the follow
address or telephone number:

Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
616 N. North Court, Suite 120
Palatine, lllinois 60067
Attn: Investor Relations
847.705.7709

Aversion™ Technology

The class of drugs exhibiting opium or morphiike-properties is referred to as opioids, or ogpiagonists. This class of products
experienced substantial market growth in recentsyg@ertain opioids act as agonists, interactintp wtereo specific and saturable binc
sites in the brain and other tissues. Endogenoigsdelike peptides are present in areas of the cenemalaus system that are presumed t
related to the perception of pain, to movement, dnaod behavior, and to the regulation of neuroerndological functions. Three classi
opioid receptor types, mu ((mu)), delta ((delta)d kappa ((kappa)), have been studied extensitzgh of these receptors has a un
anatomical distribution in the brain, spinal coethd the periphery. Most of the clinically used dgsoare relatively selective for (v
receptors, reflecting their similarity to morphirt¢owever, it is important to note that opioid canitag drugs that are relatively selectiv¢
standard doses will often interact with additioreteptor subtypes when given at sufficiently higlses, leading to possible changes in
pharmacological effect. This is especially tru@pmid doses are escalated to overcome tolerance.

The potential for the development of tolerance,gitgl and/or psychological dependence (i.e., aibirtvith repeated opioid use
a characteristic feature of most opioid containinggs. The possibility of developing addiction isecof the major societal concerns in
longterm use of opioids for the management of pain.tA@momajor concern associated with the use of dpi@ the diversion of these dri
from a patient in legitimate pain to other indivadisl (non-patients) for illegitimate purposes.

Drug abusers and/or addicts typically may obtaodommercial dosage form containing an opioid anatgasd crush, shear, grit
chew, dissolve and/ or heat, extract or otherwismipulate the product so that a significant amauneven the entire amount of the d
becomes available for immediate absorption by tiga¢inhalation, and/or oral consumption.




There are three basic patterns of behavior leatirapioid abuse. The first involves individuals wkoopioid drug use begins in
context of medical treatment and who obtain theitidl drug supplies through prescriptions from gicians. The second begins v
experimental or “recreationalirug use and progresses to more intensive useiré phttern of abuse involves users who begin ia ol
another of the preceding ways but later switch i opioids such as methadone, obtained from organaddiction treatment progra
Physicians cannot easily identify or predict whidliheir patients may fall into one of these bebapatterns.

There are various routes of administration by wlkinhabuser may commonly attempt to abuse an opasithining drug formulatio
The most common methods include (1) intravenousctign, (2) intranasal (e.g., snorting), and (Yeaed oral ingestion of excess
guantities of orally administered tablets or capsuDne very common mode of abuse of oral solid groduct involves mixing the tablet
capsule with a suitable solvent (e.g., water), tah subsequently extracting the opioid componerhfthe mixture for use in a soluti
suitable for intravenous injection of the opioidaichieve a “high.”

Attempts have been made by various companies telai@¥echnology to deter abuse of orally adminestespioid analgesics. So
of these attempts have included the use of anapioiagonist in the oral dosage form designed lbstauntially block the analgesic effect:
the opioid if one attempts to crush/grind the tahled snort the resulting powder or dissolve/exttiae opioid and administer the opioid d
intravenously. The Aversion Technolo$y does not utilize opioid antagonists. A clear needtioues to exist to have a delivery systen
commonly used oral dosage formulations of drugs.,(immediate release, sustained or extended eckead delayed release tablets
capsules) which deters abuse and minimizes or esdtlee potential for physical or psychological defency. The need is particule
imperative for opioid analgesics.

It is with the growing concern in mind about thieditimate use of legitimate opiotohsed drug products described above the
Company is pursuing its abuse deterrent formulatémmnology (the “Aversion™ Technology”). The Company believes that the intern
developed Aversiof Technology is applicable to both immediate releas® extended release orally administered tabletsapsules whic
are formulated with an opioid analgesic or otheeptally abusable orally administered drug, suelamaamphetamine, as an active ingrec
Company research and laboratory experiments tosiagest that the AversidM Technology may be formulated into an orally adniarisc
tablet with the commonly utilized opioid active pimaceutical ingredients and related salts includimarphine, codeine, hydrocodone
oxycodone. The Aversiol Technology utilizes certain pharmaceutical produatipients and other ingredients in addition todpéid API
The Aversion Technology™ does not utilize opioidagonists. The Company believes that the Aver$tbiiechnology will discourage
deter a preexisting opioid drug abuser, or a legitimate pdtiproperly using opioid containing analgesics faamagement of pain, frc
abusing an orally administered opioid containingdorct. Provided the Aversioff' Technology is appropriately tested and proves ssto
in clinical trials, of which no assurance can beegi the Company believes that its Aversi¥nrechnology will discourage or deter the tt
most commonly utilized routes of opioid abuse idahg (1) intravenous, (2) intranasal/snorting aBdegxcess oral consumption of tablet
capsules. However, the Company can provide no asserthat such clinical testing will demonstratat tthe Aversion™ Technology wil
discourage or deter abuse. In addition, if suctsalieterrent characteristics are demonstrated;dhgany can provide no assurance the
magnitude of such effect will be statistically sfggant or clinically meaningful.

To date, the Company has formulated and evaluateddistinct product candidates incorporating theedsion ™ Technolog:
(“Product Candidate #1” and “Product Candidate #Bgth product candidates are tablet formulationsrided for oral administration &
contain, among other ingredients, a widely presttibpioid active pharmaceutical ingredient. During second half of 2004, the Comp
and the Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”") helda scheduled telephonic meetings relating to they@any’s Aversion™Technolog'
product development efforts. Subsequent to thé fiirseting the Company received acceptance by th é&an Investigational New Drt
(“IND”) for Product Candidate #1 and clearance to iniatdinical trial program. The clinical developmgmbgram included in the IND
designed to optimize the formulation of such pradiandidate to effectively deter opioid abuse whilimimizing the potential for any ne
adverse events compared to non-Averstbformulated commercially marketed products. Aftendacting a Phase 1 clinical trial for Proc
Candidate #1 and following (1) a second telecomiezevith the FDA, (2) the Company’s receipt andlysis of new proprietary Company-
initiated primary market research with physiciaasd (3) an assessment of the Compamgw patent applications and intellectual proj
relating to the AversioMM Technology, a strategic decision was made by thagamy to shift its AversioM Technology development effo
to Product Candidate #2. This decision was basmdapty on the Company belief that the development expense and timétinéroduc
Candidate #2 would be reduced and the commerc@rtymity for success would be increased with Peo@andidate #2 as compared \
Product Candidate #1.




To date, the Company has performed gigical and clinical research and development tnproduct candidates througl
combination of internal and external collaboratiesearch programs. The Company has and will comtiourely on contract resea
organizations (“CROs™o perform key components of its product developnaetivities. To date such development efforts haetuded th
completion of two laboratory studies by CROs dentratisig the relative advantages in effectiveneshefAversion™ Technology compart
to selected currently marketed, widely prescribpiid products in deterring potential intravenomigction. In addition, in the first quarter
2004, the Company entered into a Master Servicagekgent with a full service CRO with wide rangingpabilities and expertise
regulatory and clinical development consultatidmical trial and clinical data management, biastats, medical writing, and other relev
research and development services. Such full sa@RO is engaged in writing clinical trial protogotontracting with clinical trial sites a
IND development compilation and submissions toRB&.

In addition, to the studies outlined above, the @any has evaluated Product Candidate #1 in twacalirstudies to assess
bioavailability and bioequivalence (“BA/BEYf such product candidate in comparison to a fratiu@rescribed, commercially marketed d
products with the same opioid active ingredient Without abuse deterrent properties. The resulttheffirst BA/BE study indicated tr
Product Candidate #1 was sufficiently bioavailablg not bioequivalent to the reference commerciafigrketed opioid product. T
Company subsequently developed a revised formulafi®roduct Candidate #1R")The second BA/BE study confirmed that Proi
Candidate #1R is both bioavailable and bioequivaethe commercially marketed product which doesspossess abuse deterrent properties.

Currently, the Company is engaged in plieical studies and manufacturing of clinical ksapplies and contemplates submitting
IND or an IND amendment with the FDA for Productn@alate #2 during the first quarter of 2005. Sitlce formulation of Produ
Candidate #2, the Company has suspended all neglaenment activities for Product Candidate #1 armbiBet Candidate #1R and will foc
future development activities primarily on Prod@andidate #2. There can be no assurance, howéatrany of the Company’produc
candidates incorporating the AversithTechnology will result in a commercially acceptaiteg product.

To receive marketing authorization for commerciakribution in the United States, all drug produfttemulated with the Aversic
™ Technology will require the development, compilatieubmission and filing of a new drug applicatitthDA”) and approval of su
application by the FDA. In the event that Produan@idate #2 is stable and demonstrates acceptat@guivalence, then additional clini
and nonelinical testing will be required prior to the suilssion of an NDA. There can be no assurances ttoatuiet Candidate #2 will lead
an NDA submission or that if an NDA is filed, thi&ie FDA will approve such regulatory applicatiom fmmmercial distribution of su
product candidate.

The Company plans to enter into development andhoentialization agreements with strategically foclpharmaceutical compa
partners (the “Partners”) providing that such Remtnlicense the Company’s Aversidf Technology and further develop, register
commercialize multiple formulations and strengthemilly administered opioid containing finishedsdge products utilizing the Aversidt
Technologies. The Company believes that it willerevenues through licensing fees, milestone pags) profit sharing and/or royalties
net sales of such products as well as from theraonmanufacture and supply of clinical trial aranmercial supplies of finished dos:i
products for distribution and sale by such Partn&ssof February 1, 2005 the Company did not hawesach collaborative agreements.
Company can make no assurance that it will be tabfegotiate such agreements on favorable termseaeth assuming that such agreerr
are successfully executed, that the milestonesbeitichieved and the milestone payments will beegiently made by our Partners.

Estimating the dates of completion of clinical depenent, and the costs to complete developmenth@fCompanys produc
candidates would be highly speculative, subjectind potentially misleading. Pharmaceutical prodtake a significant amount of time
research, develop and commercialize, with the adinirial portion of development generally takireyeral years to complete. The Comg
expects to rassess its future research and development plaesi o the review of data received from currenéaesh and developme
activities. The costs and pace of future reseanchd@velopment activities are linked and subjecti@nge.
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Opioid Synthesis Technologies

In 2004 the Company was engaged in the researctdevelopment of proprietary manufacturing procegsespioid APIs (th
“Opioid Synthesis Technologies”) including the &lling:

APPLICABLE DEA

OPIOID SYNTHESIS STARTING ESTIMATED STATUS OF PATENT
REGISTRATIONS
TECHNOLOGY MATERIAL YIELD REQUIRED APPLICATION
Hydrocodone Bitartrate Codeine 0 . . .
Process #1 Phosphate 85% a) Manufacturing Filed and pending

Oxycodone HCI a) Research

Process #2 NRMs 68-72% b) Manufacturing Filed and pending
¢) Import
. a) Research
g;)od;:g: Elhosphate NRMs 90-100% b) Manufacturing Filed and pending
¢) Import
. a) Research
g?odggg ;’zhosphate NRMs 80-90% b) Manufacturing Filed and pending
¢) Import
. a) Research
g?od:e:g: ::;losphate NRMs 65-85% b) Manufacturing Filed and pending
¢) Import

Hydrocodone Bitartrate a) Research

Codeine Base 85-95% Filed and pending

Process #2 b) Manufacturing
a) Research
Morphine Sulfate NRMs 96% b) Manufacturing Draft application pending
¢) Import
Dihydrocodeine Codeine 0 a) Research . .
Bitartrate Phosphate >90% b) Manufacturing Filed and pending
Hydrocodone Derivatives Dihydrocodeine 90% a) Research Filed and pending

b) Manufacturing

The Company believes at this stage of developnieitthe above-described Opioid Synthesis Technedogie efficient and cost-
effective methods of manufacturing opioid APIs. T®@mpany believes that the primary advantageseasetiprocesses include a reductic
the time and number of processing steps requirguidduce the desired opioid APIs and reductiorhefdquantity and/or toxicity of the wa
products relating to such production. The Compagiielses that at the current manufacturing scalerblyatlone Bitartrate Process #1 m
all United States Pharmacopeia (“USPgJease testing specification and provides higldgi@nd comparable levels of purity compare
competitive manufacturing processes used for tttis@ingredient.

The development and documentation of HydrocodortartBate Process #1 has been completed and the &gnielieves sur
process is ready to be tested at full commercialescThe Company estimates that to scale up itgdtgdione Bitartrate Process #1 Op
Synthesis Technology to desirable commercial satligs Culver Facility, additional funding of atalgt $7.0 million will be required f
facility improvements, the purchase, installatiard avalidation of new APl manufacturing equipmentyieonmental waste managem
compliance, the preparation of the drug mastes fite the API to be produced at the facility, apthted direct labor expenses (collectiv
the “API Scale Up Expenses”). Until such time, iyaas the Company secures third-party financirgjod¢ed to such scalgp expenses tl
Company will be unable to complete the commercaalesup of the Hydrocodone Bitartrate Process #1 ordtier Opioid Synthes
Technologies in the above table. No assurance eagivien that the Company will obtain the thpdrty financing necessary to scale ug
Opioid Synthesis Technologies or that if such firiag is obtained, that any one or more of the @p&#ynthesis Technologies will be cap:
of commercial scalep. As an alternative to scaling up the Opioid 8gsis Technologies in its own facility, the Compangy license ol
such Technology to third parties on an exclusivaarexclusive basis. There can be no assurance, howtbatéithe Company will actua
enter into any license agreements relating to thmi® Synthesis Technologies or derive any licegdeges, milestone payments or roya
from such arrangements.




The Company is in the process of suspending furleeelopment and commercialization efforts relatinghe Opioid Synthes
Technologies. The Company has determined basednoong other factors, the Company’s limited castarzds, prospects for thighrty
financing, the Company’s focus on the AversidhTechnology, the API Scale Up Expenses and the giexjetimeline for resolution of t
Companys application for the Import Registration, thatpsersding further activities relating to the Opioignfhesis Technologies is in 1
Company'’s best interests. The Company expects-¢évakiate the development and commercializatiomef@pioid Synthesis Technolog
after the Administrative Law Judge’s determinatiaiating to the Import Registration (see “Importcémnse Registrationbelow). Nc
assurance can be given that development and conafi@ation efforts relating to the Opioid Synthes$ischnologies will resume in the futL
or even if such activities resume, that the Opfytthesis Technologies will be capable of commeésziale up or commercialized.

Patent Applications

As of February 1, 2005, the Company had one US&qatent, one US Notice of Allowance and 14 pad@piications pendin
including one (1) issued US Patent, one (1) USd¢otif Allowance granted and eight (8) US patentiegtions pending and one (1) fore
patent application pending relating to the OpioidhtBesis Technologies and four (4) US patents egitins pending and one (1) fore
patent application pending relating to the Aversi8iTechnology. The typical review time of a US patapplication varies. The initial revie
generally occurs approximately 12 to 18 months fiaate of patent filing. At the completion of thetia review, the patent examiner v
issue an Office Action letter, which will detailyanecessary amendments, supplements or reasotiefogjection. Subsequent processir
the patent application will depend on the numbedffice Action letters issued and the speed ofeevdf the Companyg responses thereto
an application is granted, a Notice of Allowancdl Wwé issued, requiring a payment of the issuevfdhin three (3) months from the date
the notice. Upon the payment of the fee, the patewntid be issued.

In September 2004, the Company received from thiediStates Patent and Trademark Office (“PT@f)issued patent relating
one of the Opioid Synthesis Technologies. In Oatéi®4, the Company received from the PTO a Naifcallowance for a second pat:
application relating to one of the Opioid Synthebezhnologies. The Company has paid the issuingefie¢ing to the Notice of Allowan
and expects that the corresponding US patent willssued. No assurance can be given, howeverattyabther currently pending pat
applications or future patent applications relatinghe Opioid Synthesis Technologies will be geaintin addition, the Company is currel
unable to provide any assurance that all or arth@fUS patent applications associated with the gisar™ Technology will issue, or if su
patents issue, that the claims granted will beigefitly broad to provide economic value. Moreowaren if such patents issue, there can t
assurance that the commercialization of produaterporating the Aversiof¥ Technology will not infringe the patents or othetellectua
property rights of third parties. For example, ifhard party were issued a patent with claims ergassing the AversiofM Technology ¢
products incorporating such Technology, the Compaay need to obtain a license in order to commizeiproducts utilizing the Aversic
™ Technology, should one be available or, alterngtj\ater the Aversiod™ Technology so as to avoid infringing such thiralty patents.
the Company were unable to obtain a license on cncially reasonable terms, the Company could bé&icesd or prevented fro
commercializing products utilizing the Aversid¥ Technology. The Company’s success depends in gigntfpart on the Comparsyability
to obtain protection for the Aversidh Technology, both in the United States and in ottmmtries, to enforce these patents and to :
infringing third-party patent and intellectual pesty rights.




Import License Registration

The research, development and manufacture of AfRisfinished dosage products incorporating the @p&ynthesis Technologi
are subject to extensive regulation by the DEA #mel FDA. The Culver Facility is currently registdrdy the DEA to research &
manufacture certain DEA controlled substances ‘{thenufacturing Registration”)To provide for an economical source of raw material
the commercial manufacturing of opioids utilizifgetOpioid Synthesis Technologies the Company filétth the DEA an application f
registration to import narcotic raw materials (“NRNIincluding raw opium, opium poppy and concentratepoppy straw from certa
foreign countries. These NRMs are commonly useti@itial starting materials in the synthesiseftain opioid APIs.

The Company filed its application for registratitmimport NRMs on January 31, 2001 (the “Import Ragtion”). Notice of the
Companys application was published in the Federal RegmteBeptember 6, 2001. Within the 30 day periodided under DEA guideline
three parties, including two companies that the gamy believes are the largest U.S. importers of MRbfuested a hearing to form
object to the Compang’ request for an Import Registration. Pursuant dtaldished procedures, an evidentiary hearinginglatio the
Company’s Import Registration application was hieédore a DEA Administrative Law Judge (*ALJ”) in 4ust 2003. The ALJ later re-
opened the administrative record, at the requesppbsing parties, to consider the Companyovember and December 2003 announcer
concerning the Company restructuring and financiatyvities. After submission of additional testingoby the Company and certain of
opposing parties, the ALJ closed the evidentiacpm on May 25, 2004. As of August 31, 2004, then@any and the opposing parties
prepared and submitted to the ALJ briefing documéased on the evidentiary record and repliese@fiposing partiediriefing document
With the evidentiary record closed and the briefilaguments and reply briefing documents submitteel Company estimates that within
months from September 1, 2004, the ALJ will makwdifigs of fact, draw legal conclusions and makeeciic recommendation on t
Company’s Import Registration application to the DBeputy Administrator. Historically, within 14 mdtrs after receiving the ALS’
recommendation, the DEA deputy administrator walue an order relating to the Compangpplication. Assuming DEA grants
Companys application, of which no assurance can be githenCompany would be permitted to import NRMs upppropriate notice in tl
Federal Register. However, the opposing parties chajlenge the DEA decision to grant the Comparapplication in an appropriate Cc
of Appeals. In such a case, assuming the Compapgsas an appellate challenge, the Company woudty likcur additional time delays a
legal expenses prior to the issuance of a finalstmt by the U.S. Court of Appeals. Provided thenany continues to seek the Imj
Registration, it is expected that the proceedinidjscantinue through 2005 and beyond.

No assurance can be given that the Commahwyport Registration application will be approveyl the DEA or that, if granted

DEA, the Import Registration would be upheld foliog an appellate challenge. Furthermore, the Coyigasash flow and limited sources
available financing make it uncertain that the Campwill have sufficient capital to continue to tlthe development of the Opioid Synth
Technologies, to obtain required DEA approvals tmfund the capital improvements necessary fornttamufacture of APIs and finish
dosage products incorporating the Opioid Synth&sishnologies. See “Opioid Synthesis Technologiaksbve for a discussion of 1
Company’s need for additional financing and estedatapital requirements for the scafe-of the Hydrocodone Bitartrate Process #1 O
Synthesis Technology and the Companguspension of development and commercializatiborte relating to the Opioid Synthe
Technologies.

Recent Events
Restructure of Operations

After due consideration of alternative strategied eonsidering the optimal use of available fundiagd the prospects for attract
new funding, on October 30, 2003, the CompanBoard of Directors unanimously adopted a strategypubstantially restructure i
Companys operations. On November 6, 2003, the Companyighuldnnounced its restructuring plan to focusdfforts on research a
development related to certain proprietary finisdedage products and APIs. In making its deterriwinahe Board of Directors consider
among other factors, the Company’s ability and theguired to generate positive cash flow and incénm@ the operation of the Company’
finished dosage manufacturing, packaging, labeling distribution facilities located in Congers, N&mrk (collectively, the Conger
Facilities”) in the manufacture and distributionfimiished dosage generic products pursuant to at#iesl new drug applications (“ANDAS").
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The Company incurred losses of $48.5 million in 20859.6 million in 2002 and $12.6 million in 2000he Board determined tt
near term sales of the Compasmyinished dosage generic products would likelultes continued financial losses in view of theglhly
competitive market environment, low market pricidgglining market size for its existing genericdguwots and the lack of timely new gen
product launches. Based on this analysis and d#utors, the Board concluded that the Company uefstre its operations by closing
divesting the Congers Facilities and reducing aedativities at its Culver Facility.

In implementing the restructuring of operationstia¢ Congers Facilities, finished generic productnuafacturing operatior
substantially ceased on January 30, 2004. Packagiddabeling operations ceased approximately Feprii2, 2004 and quality assura
and related support activities ceased on approgim&ebruary 27, 2004. Such dates also mark thstantial completion of the reduction
work force of approximately 70 employees engagdtiése activities at the Congers Facilities.

In accordance with the restructuring of the itsrafiens, the Company has transitioned to a singtéoally integrated operations ¢
located at its Acura Pharmaceutical Technologies, subsidiary in Culver, Indiana. The Company ridte to implement the followir
strategy and perform relevant key activities priityaat the Culver Facility:

- Development, in concert with Contract Research Gimgdions (“CROs"), of the Company’s proprietaryeksion™ Technology fo
use in orally administered opioid finished dosagmdpcts.

- Manufacture and quality assurance release of alinial supplies of certain finished dosage formducts utilizing the AversiofV
Technology.

- Evaluation, in concert with CROs, of certain firdshdosage products utilizing the AversidhTechnology in clinical trials.

- Scale-up and manufacture of commercial quantiiegdain products utilizing the AversidM Technology for sale by the
Company’s licensees.

- Prosecution of the Company’s application to the DIBAeceive a registration (the “Import Registratjoto import Narcotic Raw
Materials (“NRMs").

- Negotiating and executing license and developmgrgeaments with strategic pharmaceutical companyeer providing that suc

licensees will further develop certain finished algss products utilizing the AversidM Technology, file for regulatory approval w
the FDA and other regulatory authorities and conaiaéize such products.

The development, scale-up and commercializatiofRi% incorporating the ComparsyOpioid Synthesis Technologies and Aver
™ Technology are subject to various factors, manwlith are outside the Compasycontrol. To date, a portion of such technolodiage
been tested in laboratory and clinical setting$saAth Technologies will need to be successfulblest up to be commercially viable, of wh
no assurance can be given. Additionally, the Companust satisfy, and continue to maintain compliamgth the DEA’s and FDAS
requirements for the maintenance of its controielistances research and manufacturing registraffdressCompany is pursuing the Img
Registration to import NRMs from certain foreigruotries as described above under the caption “Itripoense RegistrationThe Compan
is unable to provide any assurance that such Téofies can be scaled up to commercial scale orttieat will be commercially viabl
Moreover, no assurance can be given that the Coynpéh succeed in obtaining the Import Registratiothe Company is committii
substantially all of its resources and availablpited to the development of the Aversid¥ Technology and to a lesser extent the Oj
Synthesis Technologies and the prosecution of @it Registration. The failure of the Company tecessfully develop the Aversidi
Technology will have a material adverse effectlmm@ompany’s operations and financial condition.




2004 Debenture Offering

On February 10, 2004, the Company consummated \atprioffering of convertible senior secured debessiu(the 200<
Debentures”) in the aggregate principal amountpgreximately $12.3 million (the “2004 Debenture €fhg”). The 2004 Debentures wi
issued by the Company pursuant to a certain Debertnd Share Purchase Agreement dated as of Fel@u2004 (the 2004 Purchas
Agreement”)by and among the Company, Care Capital Investmé&ssex Woodlands Health Ventures, Galen Partnetseach of th
purchasers listed on the signature page theretoAmih 14, 2004 and May 26, 2004, the Company catga additional closings under
2004 Purchase Agreement raising the aggregate grosseds received by the Company from the offeahthe 2004 Debentures to §
million. The 2004 Debentures carried an interett o $1.62% per annum and were secured by a heallcassets of the Company and
assets of Acura Pharmaceutical Technologies, im¢.Axiom Pharmaceutical Corporation, each a wholknred subsidiary of the Compa
As the conversion price of the 2004 Debentures less than the fair market value of the Compamgommon stock on the date of is:
beneficial conversion features were determinedxist.eThe Company recorded approximately $14.0iomllof debt discount limited to t
face amount of the new debt. The debt discountamaartized over the life of the debt, which matuoedAugust 13, 2004, the date the 2
Debentures were automatically converted into thengany’s Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (feentersion of 2004 Debentures i
Series A Preferred Stock” below).

Source and Amount of Funding under 2004 Purchaseehgent

Of the $14.0 million in 2004 Debentures issuechim 2004 Debenture Offering, approximately $2.0iomllof 2004 Debentures we
issued in exchange for the surrender of like amaidirdrincipal plus accrued interest outstandingarn@ompanys 5% convertible seni
secured debentures issued pursuant to workingatdgpitige loan transactions with Care Capital, Ed8&eodlands Health Ventures and G
Partners during November and December, 2003.

Conversion of 2004 Debentures into Series A Prefe8tock

The 2004 Debentures (including the principal amqulos interest accrued) converted automaticallp the Company Series
convertible preferred stock (the “Series A Prefdfyen August 13, 2004, the business day followihg Companys receipt of shareholc
approval to restate the Company’s Certificate abhporation (the “Charter Amendment9 authorize the Series A Preferred and the J
Preferred Shares (as described below) and the fiinthe Charter Amendment with the Office of thewNYork Department of State,
provided in the 2004 Purchase Agreement. The 2GBkeBtures converted into an aggregate of 21,96 5@é6és A Preferred shares base
a $0.6425 per share conversion price.

Series A Preferred Stock Liquidation Preference)v@esion Right and Participation Right

In general, the Series A Preferred shares havguadition preference equal to five (5) times th&ah$0.6425 Series A conversi
price (the “Series A Liquidation Preference”). ldd#ion, the Series A Preferred shares are cormlerinto the Compang’ Common Stoc
with each Series A Preferred share convertible intonumber of shares of Common Stock obtainediviglidg (i) the Series A Liquidatic
Preference, by (ii) the $0.6425 Series A convergiice, as such conversion price may be adjusted) fime to time, pursuant to the dilut
protections of such shares. Without limiting thei&eA Liquidation Preference, the holders of SeAePreferred shares also have the rig
participate with the holders of the Company’s Comn&tock upon the occurrence of a liquidation everdtiuding the Compang’ merge!
sale of all or substantially all of its assets @hange of control transaction, on ancasverted basis (but for these purposes only, asgpiine
Series A Preferred shares to be convertible intg tnirty percent (30%) of the shares of Commonc&tmto which they are otherwise tt
convertible). The holders of Series A Preferredahalso have the right to vote as part of a siolles with all holders of the Compaay’
voting securities on all matters to be voted onsbgh security holders. Each holder of Series AdPredl shares will have such numbe
votes as shall equal the number of votes he woale lhad if such holder converted all Series A Preeshares held by such holder
shares of Common Stock immediately prior to the@rédate relating to such vote.




Board of Director Representation

The 2004 Purchase Agreement provides that each avé Capital, Essex Woodlands Health Ventures antbnGRartner
(collectively, the “Lead 2004 Investors”) has tlight to designate for nomination one member ofGloenpanys Board of Directors, and tt
the Lead Investors collectively may designate csditeonal member of the Board (collectively, theeéfignees”)The Purchase Agreem:
further provides that the Designees, if so requaebiesuch Designee in his sole discretion, shalajyeointed to the ComparsyExecutiv:
Committee, Compensation Committee and any otherritiee of the Board of Directors. The Designee€affe Capital, Essex and Galen
Messrs. Karabelas, Thangaraj and Wesson, respigctaach of whom are current Board members. In @zrwe with the terms of the 2(
Purchase Agreement, the Lead 2004 Investors magctiokely nominate one additional Designee to tloaul. The Company has agree
nominate and appoint to the Board of Directorsjetttto shareholder approval, one designee of ea€tare Capital, Essex and Galen,
one collective designee of the Lead 2004 Investorsso long as each holds a minimum of 50% of Sieeies A Preferred shares initi:
issued to such party (or at least 50% of the st@r€®»mmon Stock issuable upon conversion of theeSé Preferred shares).

Impact of Conversion of the Company’s Outstandirdpéntures

As of February 10, 2004, the date of the initialsohg of the 2004 Purchase Agreement, the Compadydsued and outstanding .
aggregate of approximately $86.6 million in prirddijmount of 5% convertible senior secured debestaraturing March 31, 2006 issi
pursuant to three separate Debenture Purchase lAgnée dated March 10, 1998, as amended (the “19%@Mures”)May 26, 1999, ¢
amended (the “1999 Debentures”) and December ZIE ghe “2002 Debenturesespectively. The 1998 Debentures, 1999 Debenture
2002 Debentures are referred to collectively as‘1898-2002 Debentures”. After giving effect to tBempanys issuance of additional £
convertible senior secured debentures in satisfaaf interest payments on the 1998-2002 Debentaesf February 10, 2004, the 1998-
2002 Debentures were convertible into an aggregfaapproximately 190.4 million shares of the Compsi€ommon Stock.

Conversion Agreement of Holders of 1998-2002 Delrest

Simultaneous with the execution of the 2004 Purehagreement, and as a condition to the initial iolgsof the 2004 Purcha
Agreement, the Company, the investors in the 20@bebtures and each of the holders of the dH® Debentures executed a cel
Debenture Conversion Agreement, dated as of Fepr6ar2004 (the “Conversion Agreementln accordance with the terms of
Conversion Agreement, effective August 13, 2004heaolder of 1998-2002 Debentures converted th&-P@92 Debentures held by si
holder into the Company’s Series B convertible @nefd stock (the “Series B Preferred”) and/or Sefiel, C-2 and/or G- convertibl
preferred stock (collectively, the “Series C Preddi). The Series C Preferred shares together with thiesSBr Preferred shares are he
referred to as, the “Junior Preferred Shares”.

Under the Conversion Agreement, the holders of @pprately $6.6 million in principal amount of 20@bentures issued duri
2003 converted such 2002 Debentures (plus accmeédiapaid interest) into Series B Preferred Shadéshe remaining approximate $
million in principal amount of the 1998902 Debentures, approximately $31.2 million wampnsed of 1998 Debentures, approxime
$21.5 million was comprised of 1999 Debentures approximately $27.3 million was comprised of 200@bBntures. Effective August !
2004, the 1998 Debentures were converted into $€¥Hé Preferred shares, the 1999 Debentures wereeded into Series @-Preferre
shares and the remaining balance of the 2002 Deta=nivere converted into Series C-3 Preferred share

The number of Junior Preferred Shares issued b tmpany to each holder of 192802 Debentures was based on the respt
prices at which the 1998002 Debentures were convertible into Common Stdbk. 2002 Debentures issued in 2003 had a conwepsioe
of $0.3420 per share. The 1998 Debentures, 199@metes and the remaining balance of the 2002 DeleEnhad conversion prices
$0.5776, $0.5993 and $0.3481 per share, respeactivplon the automatic conversion of the 12982 Debentures on August 13, 2004,
Company issued an aggregate of 20,246,506 milliereS B Preferred shares, 56,422,558 million SetidsPreferred shares, 37,433,
million Series C-2 Preferred shares and 81,907r0bn Series C-3 Preferred shares.
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Liguidation Preference of Junior Preferred Shares

In general, the Junior Preferred Shares have ddétjon preference equal to one (1) time the ppacamount plus accrued ¢
unpaid interest on the 192802 Debentures converted into Junior PreferredeShd he liquidation preference of the Series BdPred ha
priority over, and will be satisfied prior to, tliquidation preference of the Series C Preferrdtk iquidation preference for each class o
Junior Preferred Shares is equal to the convergimes of such shares. The Junior Preferred Shaeesonvertible into the Company’
Common Stock, with each Junior Preferred Share extile into one share of Common Stock. The holadrthe Junior Preferred Sha
have the right to vote as part of the single claigls all holders of the Comparg’'Common Stock and the holders of the Series AeReaf ol
all matters to be voted on by such security holdeith each holder of Junior Preferred Shares hlpsich number of votes as shall equa
number of votes he would have had if such holdet banverted all Junior Preferred Shares held by sw@der into Common Sto
immediately prior to the record date relating tolsuote.

Common Share Equivalents of the Series A PrefanelJunior Preferred Shares

The Series A Preferred shares, the Series B Peefestnares and the Series C Preferred shares avertible into approximate
109.8 million, 20.2 million and 175.7 million sharef Common Stock, respectively. If all of suchfBrned Shares were converted
Common Stock, the Company would have issued arstanding approximately 328 million shares of ComrStock.

Amendment to Watson Term Loan Agreement

The Company was a party to a certain loan agreemigmiWatson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Watsoptysuant to which Watson me
term loans to the Company (the “Watson Term LoameAment”)in the aggregate principal amount of $21.4 milles evidenced by tv
promissory notes (the “Watson Notedt)was a condition to the completion of the 200bBmture Offering that simultaneous with the clo
of the 2004 Purchase Agreement, the Company shedl paid Watson the sum of approximately $4.3 amlliwhich amount was funded fr
the proceeds of the 2004 Debenture Offering) amveped to Watson certain Company assets in corgiderfor Watsors forgiveness
approximately $16.4 million of indebtedness under Watson Notes. A part of such transaction, thés@aNotes were amended to ext
the maturity date of such notes from March 31, 2a08une 30, 2007, to provide for satisfactionuifife interest payments under the Wa
Notes in the form of the Compe’s Common Stock, to reduce the principal amounhefWatson Notes from $21.4 million to $5.0 milli
and to provide for the forbearance from the exeroisrights and remedies upon the occurrence ddiceevents of default under the Wat
Notes (the Watson Notes as so amended“2004 Note”). Simultaneous with the issuance of the 2004 Noteh ed Care Capital, Ess
Woodland Health Ventures, Galen Partners and ther dgtvestors in the 2004 Debentures as of Febrl@r2004 (collectively, theWatsor
Note Purchase”) purchased the 2004 Note from Watson in constitardor a payment to Watson of $1.0 million.

In addition to Watsos’forgiveness of approximately $16.4 million unttes Watson Notes, as additional consideratio
the Company’s payment to Watson of approximatelyd $4illion and the Compang’ conveyance of certain Company assets, all s
agreements between the Company and Watson weraédech and Watson waived the dilution protectioostained in the Common Stc
purchase warrant dated December 20, 2002 exereisabbpproximately 10.7 million shares of the Camps Common Stock previous
issued by the Company to Watson, to the extent dilation protections were triggered by the tratigens provided in the 2004 Debent
Offering.

Terms of the 2004 Note

The 2004 Note in the principal amount of $5.0 rilli as purchased by the Watson Note Purchasesscused by a first lien on all
the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ assets, caarfbmating rate of interest equal to the prime gius 4.5% and matures on June 30, 2007.

Sale o f Certain Company Assets

On February 18, 2004, the Company and Mutual Pheentecals, Inc. (“Mutual”)entered into a certain Asset Purchase Agree
(the “Mutual Asset Purchase Agreement”) pursuanttiich the Company sold certain inactive, nemenue generating ANDAs to Mutua
consideration of $2.0 million. The ANDAs sold to Mal were in various therapeutic categories, inclgdinalgesics, anti-infectives, anti-
hypertensives, antihistamines, steroids and ceotiier categories. The decision to divest such ANB/As based, among other things, ol
Company'’s revised business strategy which focusesesearch and development of the Aversidimechnology and the Opioid Synthe
Technologies, and that the Company had ceasedtmperat its finished dosage manufacturing faeiitin Congers, New York and was in
process of negotiating the sale of such facilities.

11




On March 19, 2004, the Company and its wholly-ownseldsidiary, Axiom Pharmaceutical Corporation (“émx"), entered into &
Asset Purchase Agreement with IVAX Pharmaceutidsy York LLC (“IVAX"). Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Compar
Axiom agreed to sell to IVAX substantially all df¢é Company’s assets used in the operation of tlmep@oys former generic manufacturi
and packaging operations located in Congers, Nevk ¥oconsideration of an immediate payment of $8ilion and an additional payme
$0.5 million upon receipt of shareholder approvhlttee transaction. Shareholder approval of thetasake transaction with IVAX wi
obtained on August 12, 2004 and the closing waspteted on August 13, 2004, at which time the Comgpaceived the remaining paym
of $0.5 million from IVAX.

Marketing and Customers

As a result of restructuring its operations, thenpany has discontinued the manufacture and disimitbof all of its generic produc
and therefore at this time is not engaged in produarketing, selling or distributing finished dosagroducts or bulk API to trade
pharmaceutical industry customers.

Segment Reporting

The Company operates in only one business segnpeimarily engaged in research, development andufaature of innovative
abuse deterrent formulations (“AversiBfhTechnology”) intended for use in orally administéapioid-containing pharmaceutical products.

Government Regulation
General

All pharmaceutical technology and manufacturingnBr including the Company, are subject to extensdggilation by the Fede
government, principally by the FDA, and, to a lessdent, by state and local governments. Additignéhe Company is subject to extens
regulation by the DEA for research, developmentmathufacturing of controlled substances. The Comgannot predict the extent to wh
it may be affected by legislative and other reqarlatievelopments concerning its products and tladtheare industry in general. The Fed
Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, the Controlled Suiista Act and other Federal statutes and regulagomsrn or influence the testi
manufacture, labeling, storage, record keepingraya, pricing, advertising, promotion, sale angtidbution of pharmaceutical produc
Noncompliance with applicable requirements canltésuines, recall or seizure of products, crimipeoceedings, total or partial suspen:
of production, and refusal of the government teemtto supply contracts or to approve new drudiegfions. The FDA also has the authc
to revoke or withhold approvals of new drug applaas.

FDA approval is required before any “new drug,” Wies prescription or over-the-counter, can be markeA “new drug’is one nc
generally recognized by qualified experts as safé effective for its intended use. Such generabgaition must be based on publis
adequate and well controlled clinical investigasioBach dosage form of a specific “new drpgdduct requires separate approval by the |
In general, as discussed below, less costly and tiomsuming approval procedures may be used farigeaquivalents as compared to
innovative products. In addition, certain modifioas using existing pharmaceutical products maysbbject to streamlined appro
procedures, although a casedase analysis must be undertaken. In addition ewigng required safety and effectiveness dataFDA
approval, a drug manufacturer’'s practices and phaes must conform to current Good ManufacturingcBee Regulations (“cGMPY)”
which apply to the manufacture, receiving, holdamgl shipping of all drugs, whether or not approgdhe FDA. To ensure full compliar
with relevant standards, some of which are sehfmrtregulations, the Company must continue to edpene, money and effort in the ar
of production and quality control. Failure to somqay risks delays in approval of drugs, disquadifion from eligibility to sell to th
government, and possible FDA enforcement actiomsh @s an injunction against shipment of the Compsaproducts, the seizure of non-
complying drug products, and/or, in serious caseisninal prosecution. The Compasymanufacturing facilities are subject to peri
inspection by the FDA.
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In addition to the regulatory approval process, @mmpany is subject to regulation under Federatesand local laws, includii
requirements regarding occupational safety, laboyapractices, environmental protection and haassdsubstance control, and may
subject to other present and future local, staégleFal and foreign regulations, including possiokeire regulations of the pharmaceut
industry.

Drug Approvals
There are currently three ways to obtain FDA apaktw commercially market and distribute a new druthe U.S.:

1. New Drug Applications (“NDA").Unless one of the procedures discussed in paragtaph3 below is available,
prospective manufacturer must conduct and submihéoFDA complete clinical studies to prove a dsugafety and efficacy,
addition to the bioavailability and/or bioequivatenstudies discussed below, and must also subntitetd-DA information abo
manufacturing practices, the chemical makeef the drug and labeling. Some of the produatscipated to be developed by
Company which will incorporate the Opioid Synthebechnologies and the Aversiof Technology will require an NDA filing. Tt
full clinical testing required for the preparatiand filing of an NDA requires the expenditure obstantial resources. The Comp
intends to collaborate with thindarties to fund the preparation and filing of angls NDAs. There can be no assurance that any
collaboration will be available on terms acceptdbléhe Company, if at all.

2. “505(b)(2) or “PaperNDA. An alternative NDA procedure is provided byth984 Act whereby the applicant may
on published literature and more limited testinguieements. This application process is useful wtien APl is commercial
available in an alternative dosage form or formatat The Company believes that the 505(b)(2) apgibn procedure may
applicable to a portion of the products it intetmslevelop utilizing its Aversiof Technology.

3. Abbreviated New Drug Applications (“ANDAs"Y.he Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restmrakct of 198«
(the “1984 Act”) established the ANDA procedure &dataining FDA approval for those drugs that arfepaftent or whose exclusiv
has expired and that are bioequivalent to bnaahe drugs. An ANDA is similar to an NDA, exceptttithe FDA waives tt
requirement of conducting complete clinical studi¢safety and efficacy, although it may requir@axded clinical bioavailabili
and/or bioequivalence studies. “Bioavailabilityifeans the rate of absorption and levels of conagoitr of a drug in the blood stre
needed to produce a therapeutic effect. “Bioeqaived”means equivalence in bioavailability between twagdoroducts. In gener
an ANDA will be approved only upon a showing thia¢ tgeneric drug covered by the ANDA is bioequivalenthe previous|
approved version of the drug product, i.e., thatrdite of absorption and the levels of concentmatioa generic drug in the body
substantially equivalent to those of a previousppraved equivalent drug product. The principal adage of this approv
mechanism is that an ANDA applicant is not requitecconduct the same preclinical and clinical stadio demonstrate that
product is safe and effective for its intended use.

Healthcare Reform

Several legislative proposals to address the risogjs of healthcare have been introduced in Cesgard several state legislatu
Many of such proposals include various insuranceketaeforms, the requirement that businesses geokiealth insurance coverage fol
their employees, significant reductions in the gtowf future Medicare and Medicaid expenditureg] atringent government cost cont
that would directly control insurance premiums andirectly affect the fees of hospitals, physiciaared other healthcare providers. <
proposals could adversely affect the Comparysiness by, among other things, reducing theaddpand the prices paid, for pharmacetL
products such as those being developed by the Gompalditionally, other developments, such as kfg fidoption of a nationalized hei
insurance system or a single payor system, (iingha in needbased medical assistance programs, or (iii) grqatralence of capitat
reimbursement of healthcare providers, could adeisfect the demand for the Company’s productdewelopment utilizing the Compary’
Technologies.

13




Environmental Compliance

In addition to regulation by the FDA and DEA, ther@pany is subject to regulation under Federalesiaid local environmen
laws. The Company believes it is in material coamptie with applicable environmental laws. The Corgpgrent $180,000, $227,000
$227,000 in the years 2004, 2003 and 2002, resedgtion environmental compliance relating to thepdsal of hazardous and contro
substances waste and personnel costs.

Competition

The Company competes to varying degrees with numsecompanies in the pharmaceutical research, dawelot, manufacturir
and commercialization fields. Most, if not all, tle Companys competitors have substantially greater finanaia other resources and
able to expend more funds and effort than the Comparesearch and development of their competitdothnologies and products. Althot
a larger company with greater resources than threpgaay will not necessarily have a higher likelihaddeceiving regulatory approval fo
particular product or technology as compared tmaller competitor, the company with a larger reseand development expenditure will
in a position to support more development projeitsultaneously, thereby improving the likelihood aiftaining regulatory approval o
commercially viable product or technology tharsitsaller rivals.

The Company is aware of potential competitors thay be developing technologies designed to haveoormaore of the abu
deterrent features of the Company’s Aversi¥nTechnology. Such competitors include, but are imoitéd to, Elite Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Northvale, New Jersey, Collegium Pharmaceutical€whberland, Rhode Island, New River Pharmaceusti¢at. of Radford, Virginia ar
Pain Therapeutics of South San Francisco, Caléorhi addition, Purdue Pharma of Stamford, Conoettand Endo Pharmaceuticals
Chadds Ford, Pennsylvania have announced thatafteyursuing abuse deterrent formulations of oplmded products. The Comp:
believes that Endo Pharmaceuticals has enteredairtioense agreement to evaluate opioid abuse rdatetechnologies developed
Collegium Pharmaceuticals.

Raw Materials

The DEA controls both the quantity of controlledbstances produced in the U.S. and the quantitydin raw materials obtain
by pharmaceutical developers and manufacturerthéproduction of controlled substances. In thggard, the Company is required to file
and obtain quotas from the DEA for the purchaseus®dof controlled substance materials including$RAIthough the Company has mi
initial contacts with overseas NRM suppliers, neuaance can be given that the Company will be ssfekin obtaining an adequate gt
from the DEA or (even assuming the Company’s Imp@gistration is granted) in contracting with thpdrty suppliers in foreign countr
for NRMs on commercially acceptable terms for tt@mpanys requirements of NRMs to be used in its controfledstance development i
commercialization efforts. Provided the Companytoures to seek the Import Registration, the pro@ess proceedings described ak
under the caption “Import License Registration”lwibntinue through 2005 and beyond.

Subsidiaries

The Companys Culver, Indiana research, development, and matwrfag operations are conducted by Acura Pharmniged
Technologies, Inc., an Indiana corporation and Wholvned subsidiary of the Company. Axiom Pharmacalt@orporation, a Delawe
corporation, is a whollypwned subsidiary of the Company and was formerlyaged in generic product manufacturing and distiguin
Congers, New York. Inasmuch as the Companyeneric drug manufacturing and distribution opj@na have been terminated, Axi
Pharmaceutical Corporation is an inactive subsjidiithe Company.

Employees
As of February 1, 2005, the Company had fiifl-time employees. Twelve of these employees are engiagactivities at the Culv
Facility relating to the research, development,lesc@ and commercialization of the Opioid Synthe®echnologies and AversiofA"

Technology. The remaining five employees are engagedministrative, legal, accounting, finance riked research, business developr
and licensing activities.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The Company leases approximately 1,600 squarefegtministrative office space at 616 N. North Gp8uite 120, Palatine, lllinc
60067. The lease agreement is between the Compahgraunaffiliated lessor. The lease agreemenghanitial term of one year expiri
February 28, 2005. The Company has exercised iisropinder the lease to renew the lease for antiaddl one year term. The le:
agreement provides for annual rent, property tac@smon area maintenance and janitorial serviceagproximately $29,000 per year. T
leased office space is utilized for the Compangmmistrative, accounting, finance, market reseaacid business development functions.

The Company conducts research, development, lalsgrananufacturing and warehousing activities ietptto the Aversion™
Technology and the Opioid Synthesis Technologiegtsafacility located at 16235 State Road 17, Cyladiana. At this location tl
Company’'s Acura Pharmaceutical Technologies, labsigliary owns a 28,000 square fodacility configured with (approximately) a 7,C
square feet warehouse, 10,000 square feet of mantifeg space, 6,000 square feet of research arelafement labs and 5,000 square fe
administrative and storage space. The facilitpésated on approximately 30 acres of land.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Beginning in 1992, actions were commenced agaiestompany and numerous other pharmaceutical manougas in connectic
with the alleged exposure to diethylstilbestrol E®'’). The defense of all of such matters was asduoyethe Companyg insurance carri
and a substantial number have been settled byatfieeic Currently, several actions remain pendiritip the Company as a defendant anc
insurance carrier is defending each action. Pfériti the pending litigations seek unspecified dges. The Company does not believe al
such actions will have a material impact on the @any’s financial condition.

The Company is named as a defendant in an actitthednAlfred Kohn v. Halsey Drug Co. in the Suprer@ourt of New Yorl
Bronx County. The plaintiff seeks damages of $1ilian for breach of an alleged oral contract to @afinders fee for a business transac
involving the Company. Discovery in this actiorc@mplete. The Company’s and the Plaingiffhotion for summary judgment were due t
heard by the Court in August 8, 2003. Plaintiff Kotheceased shortly prior to such hearing date tlaadnotions for summary judgment
any trial of this matter were stayed pending thestitution of Mr. Kohns estate as the plaintiff. The Estate of Mr. Kolas been substitut
as the plaintiff. In February, 2005, the Court cula favor of the Company under its motion for suamynjudgment. In doing so, the Cc
dismissed all aspects of Plaintiff's complaint, lwihe exception of Plaintiff claim for payment of the fair value for the sees alleged !
have been performed by Plaintifthe Company and the Estate of Mr. Kohn have agrepdnciple to settle this matter, pursuant to ethihe
Company would make a orierne payment of $35,000. The proposed settlemestiigect to the preparation and execution of andefée
settlement agreement and the approval of the Bidaw; York Surrogate's Court.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of securitgéid during the fourth quarter of 2004.
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND R ELATED SECURITY HOLDER MATTERS
Market and Market Prices of Common Stock
Set forth below for the periods indicated are tightand low bid prices for the CompasyCommon Stock for trading in the Comr

Stock on the OTC Bulletin Board as reported by@ieC Bulletin Board. Such over-the-counter markeattgtions reflect intedealer price:
without retail mark-up, mark-down or commission anay not necessarily represent actual transactions.

BID PRICE

PERIOD HIGH LOW
2003 Fiscal Year

First Quarter 1.0¢ 0.8z

Second Quarter 1.11 0.7¢

Third Quarter 1.6C 0.7¢€

Fourth Quarter 1.07 0.2¢
2004 Fiscal Year

First Quarter 0.8z 0.41

Second Quarter... 0.6z 0.37

Third Quarter... 0.5z 0.31

Fourth Quarter.... 0.64 0.3z

2005 Fiscal Year
First Quarter... 0.5C 0.3¢
(through February 1, 2005)

Holders

There were approximately662 holders of record of the Compasgommon stock on February 1, 2005. This numbevekier, doe
not reflect the ultimate number of beneficial hoklef the Company’s Common Stock.

Dividend Policy

The payment of cash dividends from current earniagsubject to the discretion of the Board of Dioes and is dependent uf
many factors, including the Company’s earningscépital needs and its general financial conditibime terms of the ComparsySeries
Preferred shares and the Term Loan Agreement a&sbipy Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. to Care Capitedéstments Il, LP, Ess
Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P., Galen PartnérsLIP. and certain other investors in the 2004b&wures (seeltem 13. Certai
Relationships and Related Transaction@9hibit the Company from paying cash dividendse @ompany does not intend to pay any
dividends in the foreseeable future.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

During the quarter ended December 31, 2004, thepgaagnissued 277,715 shares of the Compa@pmmon Stock in satisfaction
the payment of $119,417 in accrued interest duee®éer 31, 2004 under the Compangénior secured term note. Each of the recipif
such Common Stock is an Accredited Investor asddfin Rule 501(a) of Regulation D promulgated uride Securities Act. Such Comn
Stock was issued without registration under theuBges Act in reliance upon Section 4(2) of thec@déies Act and Regulation
promulgated thereunder.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data preseonetthe following pages for the years ended Decer8heP004, 2003, 2002, 2C
and 2000 are derived from the Compangudited Consolidated Financial Statements. Thes@imlated Financial Statements as of Dece
31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, and for each of¢hes in the thregear period ended December 31, 2004, and the répemton, at
included elsewhere herein. The selected finannfakination as of and for the years ended Decembge?2@)1 and 2000 are derived from
audited Consolidated Financial Statements of thmgamy not presented herein.

The information set forth below is qualified by eefnce to, and should be read in conjunction wifih, Consolidated Financ

Statements and related notes thereto included bésewin this Report and “ltem 7. Managemsmbiscussion and Analysis of Finan
Condition and Results of Operations.”

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)
OPERATING DATA:
Net revenues $ 83€ $ 575 $ 8,20t $ 16,92¢ $ 20,22
Operating Costs
Cost of manufacturing $ 1,43 $ 11,70 $ 12,53t 14,857 18,74
Research and development $ 4,13( $ 1,46C $ 1,517 1,327 1,821
Selling, general and Administrative expenses $ 523t $ 7,90 $ 7,21¢€ 6,61¢€ 6,20¢
Plant shutdown costs $ — $ 1,92¢ $ (126) 68 53
Interest expense $ 2,962 $ 6,001 $ 4,72¢ 3,91: 3,69¢
Interest income $ 59 $ 25 $ 15 69 662
Amortization of deferred debt Discount and private
offering Costs $ 72,49. % 2477 $ 12,55¢ 2,591 2,44¢
Loss (gain) on extinguishments of Debt $ (12,40) % — $ 28,41¢
Investment in joint venture $ — $ — $ — (202) (57)
Other (income) expense $ (2,962 $ 464 $ 96€ (13 (101
Loss before income tax Benefit $ (69,99¢) $ (48,459 $ (59,589 (12,567 (12,049
Income tax benefit $ — $ — $ — — (389)
Net loss $  (69,990%  (4845H% (59,5896  (12,569% (11,659
Basic and diluted loss per common share $ (3.20 % (2.26 $ (3.90 % (.84) % (.8C)
Weighted average number of outstanding shares 21,86 21,227 15,26: 15,02: 14,50:
DECEMBER 31,
2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
(IN THOUSANDS)
BALANCE SHEET DATA:
Working capital (deficiency) $ 2,42 $ (3,770 % 5,93 $ (8,276 $ (5,067
Total assets $ 4,967 $ 6,622 $ 19,36¢ 11,06¢ 15,20¢
Total liabilities $ 6,052 $ 58,68¢ $ 31,63: 76,50¢ 68,55¢
Accumulated deficit $ (27954)% (209,540% (161,09() (101,50 (88,939
Stockholders’ equity (deficit) $ (1,085 $ (52,067 $ (12,269 (65,43¢) (53,349

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This discussion and analysis should be read inucmtipn with the Compang’financial statements and accompanying notesdec
elsewhere in this Report. Operating results arenaoessarily indicative of results that may ocauthie future periods.

Certain statements in this Report including, withbonitation, in this Item 7 constitute “forwardéing statementsWithin the
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Refofytt of 1995 (the “Reform Act”). Such forwatdeking statements involve known ¢
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors Wwinay cause the actual results, performance oeeefients of Acura Pharmaceuticals,
(“Acura” or the “Company”)or industry results, to be materially differentrfrany future results, performance, or achievemexypsessed



implied by such forwardeoking statements. The most significant of suattdies include, but are not limited to, general exuit
conditions, competitive conditions, technologicahditions and governmental legislation. More speally, important factors that may affi
future results include, but are not limited to: mhes in laws and regulations, particularly thoseciihg the Companyg’ operations; tt
Companys ability to continue to attract, assimilate anthire highly skilled personnel; its ability to seewand protect its patents, tradem
and proprietary rights; its ability to avoid infgament of patents, trademarks and other proprigtghts or trade secrets of third part
litigation or regulatory action that could requitee Company to pay significant damages or changentty it conducts its business;
Companys ability to successfully develop and market itsdoicts; customer responsiveness to new productdigtribution channels; i
ability to compete successfully against current futdre competitors; its dependence on thpedty suppliers of raw materials; the availab
of controlled substances that constitute the adtigeedients of the Compars/products in development; difficulties or delay<iinical trials
for Company products or in the manufacture of Campgaroducts; and other risks and uncertaintiesiléetan this Report. The Company is
an early stage of development and may not ever hayeproducts that generate significant revenueetWMised in this Report, the wo
“estimate,” “project,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “irtnd,” “believe,” and similar expressions are intethdo identify forwardeoking statement
Additionally, such forward-looking statements awgject to the risks and uncertainties discussedvbelnder the section entitledrisk
Factors Relating to the Company”.
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Overview

In November 2003, the Company commenced the reating of its operations to focus its efforts orsearch and developm:
relating to the Aversiof¥ Technology and Opioid Synthesis Technologies amitdwide for the cessation of operations, and #ie sf asset
relating to the manufacture and distribution ofdived dosage generic products conducted at the &uoyigpCongers, New York facilities (t
“Congers Facilities”).

To fund continuing operations and the researchdaw&tlopment of the Comparsyproprietary Technologies, on February 10, 2
the Company completed a private offering of deb&stun the aggregate principal amount of approxétya$12.3 million (the 2004
Debenture Offering”).As part of the completion of the 2004 Debenturee€ifiy, the Company retired approximately $16.4 ionllin
indebtedness under the Company’s $21.4 million tiean with Watson Pharmaceutical®n April 14, 2004 and May 26, 2004 the Comg
completed additional funding under the 2004 Deben@iffering in the aggregate principal amount gbragimately $1.7 million resulting
an aggregate principal amount of convertible setdebentures issued as part of the 2004 Debenfieer@ of $14.0 million. In accordan
with the terms of the documents executed in commeaetith the 2004 Debenture Offering, effective Aigg13, 2004, the aggregate princ
amount of the 2004 Debentures as well as Comantyier convertible debentures issued during thiegd 998 through 2003 (aggregal
approximately $80.6 million) converted into variotlasses of the Company’s preferred shares. (‘lf=a 1 - Business - Recent Events -
2004 Debenture Offering”).

On February 18, 2004, the Company sold certaintofiriactive, norrevenue generating Abbreviated New Drug Applica
(“ANDAs") to Mutual Pharmaceutical Company, Inc.donsideration of $2.0 million. On March 19, 206 Company and its whollgwnec
subsidiary, Axiom Pharmaceutical Corporation, esdeinto an Asset Purchase Agreement with IVAX Pleaeoticals New York LL
(“IVAX") pursuant to which the Company and Axiomragd to sell to IVAX substantially all of the Commyés assets used in the operatio
the Congers Facilities in consideration of $2.5ioml On August 13, 2004, the Company completedstile of the assets used in the oper.
of the Congers Facilities to IVAX.

As restructured, the Company is an emerging spgggddarmaceutical company primarily engaged in aedg development a
manufacture of innovative abuse deterrent formorfeti(“Aversion™ Technology”) intended for use in orally administb@pioid-containing
pharmaceutical products. In addition, to a lesséerg, during 2004 and early 2005 the Company wam@ged in research, development
manufacture of proprietary, high-yield, short cydlme, environmentally sensitive opioid synthesimgesses (the Opioid Synthesi
Technologies” and, collectively with the AversioH Technology, the “Technologiesihtended for use in the commercial productiol
certain bulk opioid active pharmaceutical ingretefiAPIs”). The Company is currently in the process of suspanélirther developme
and commercialization efforts relating to the Og@iGynthesis Technologies (See “ltem 1 -Businespiei® Synthesis Technologies'As of
February 1, 2005, the Company has one (1) issuegdtht, one (1) US Notice of Allowance grantedhei8) U.S. patent applications ¢
one (1) foreign patent application pending relatinghe Opioid Synthesis Technologies. Additionathe Company has four (4) U.S. pa
applications and one (1) foreign patent applicappending relating to the Aversidi Technology.As of February 1, 2005, the Compi
retained all intellectual property and commercights to its product candidates, the Aversidh Technology and the Opioid Synthe
Technologies.
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Company 's Present Financial Condition and CommeatFocus

At December 31, 2004, the Company had cash and egsivalents of approximately $3.1 million compared $942,000
December 31, 2003. The Company had working capft&P.4 million at December 31, 2004 and a workiagital deficit of approximate
$3.8 million at December 31, 2003. The Company aadaccumulated deficit of approximately $279.5 ignilland approximately $20¢
million at December 31, 2004 and December 31, 20@ectively. The Company incurred a loss fromragens of approximatel{9.<
million and a net loss of approximately $7@llion during the year ended December 31, 2004;caspared to a loss from operations a
net loss of $17.2 million and $48.5 million, resipexly, for the year ended December 31, 2003 .

In implementing the restructuring adopted by theaf8p the Company has transitioned to a single acadlyi integrated operatio
facility located in Culver, Indiana. The Compangtsategy and key activities to be conducted atthkver Facility are as follows:

o Development, in concert with Contract Researcga@izations (“CROs”) of the Company’s AversiBh Technology fo
use in orally administered opioid finished dosagspct candidates.

o Manufacture and quality assurance release oicalifirial supplies of certain finished dosage fopmoduct candidat
utilizing the Aversion™ Technology.

o Evaluation, in concert with CROs, of certainished dosage product candidates utilizing the giear™ Technology il
clinical trials.

o Scale-up and manufacture of commercial quantitfecertain product candidates utilizing the Aversi™ Technology fo
sale by the Company’s licensees.

o Prosecution of the Company’s application to th8.UDrug Enforcement Administration (“DEAfr registration to impo
narcotic raw materials (“NRMs”).

o Negotiating and executing license and developragrdgements with strategic pharmaceutical companyp@rs providin
that such licensees will further develop certaimsfied dosage product candidates utilizing the giwar™ Technology, file fo
regulatory approval with the FDA and other regufatauthorities and commercialize such products.

The Company has incurred net losses since 1992hen@ompanys consolidated financial statements for each ofyders ende
December 31, 2004 and 2003 have been preparedgming-concern basis, expressing substantial dobbttathe Compang’ ability tc
continue as a goingencern as a result of recurring losses and negathsh flows. The Company expects net losses tbnoenat lea:
through 2005. The Company’s future profitability will depend oeveral factors, including:

o The successful completion of the developmenteaga, clinical testing and acceptable regulatory eevdf the Aversio
™ Technology;

o The receipt of a notice of allowance from the .\P&tent and Trademark Office (“PTOr the material claims in tl
Company'’s patent applications relating to the Ai@rs“ Technology;

o The commercialization of products incorporatihg tAversion™ Technology without infringing the patents and o
intellectual property rights of third parties;
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0 The receipt of approval from the DEA to import MR to be used in the Compasydevelopment and manufactur
efforts; and

0 The interest of third parties in the Technologiesl the Compang’ability to negotiate and execute commerciallyblé
collaboration agreements with interested thirdipantelating to the Technologies.

Many of these factors will depend upon circumstarmyond the Company’s control.

As of February 25, 2005, the Company had cash ast equivalents of approximately $2rbllion. The Company estimates
current cash reserves will be sufficient to fund tevelopment of the Aversidlf Technology and related operating expenses onlyugf
May, 2005. See “Liquidity and Capital Resource®minercial Focus, Cash Reserves and Funding Reqeitsri

In order to complete the development and regulagppyroval of the Company’product candidates and commercialize such prs
if any are approved by the FDA, the Company mutgrento development and commercialization agreameith third party pharmaceutic
company partners providing that such partners $ieethe Compang’ Technologies and further develop, register antngercialize th
Company’s orally administered opiotbntaining finished dosage products utilizing s@ielthnology. Future revenue, if any, will be deri
from milestone payments and a share of profits@anayalty payments relating to such collaboratpagtners’sale of products incorporati
the Companys Technologies. As of February 1, 2005, the Commdidynot have any such collaborative agreementscan there be a
assurance that the Company will enter into collatvee agreements in the future.

Estimating the dates of completion of clinical depeent, and the costs to complete developmenth@fCompanys produc
candidates would be highly speculative, subjectind potentially misleading. Pharmaceutical prodt@ke a significant amount of time
research, develop and commercialize, with the adinirial portion of development generally takireysral years to complete. The Comg
expects to reassess its future research and dewvetdpplans based on the review of data receivet frarrent research and developn
activities. The cost and pace of future researchdmvelopment activities are linked and subjecttange.

Results of Operations for the Year Ended Decembgr 3004 and 200

In comparing results of operations for the yeareghDecember 31, 2004 with those for 2003 it is irtgrd
to consider that in 2004 the Company, as restradiuocused the majority of its efforts and researon research and development acti\
and, subsequent to March, 2004, no longer mairdaamy generic manufacturing facilities or conducéey finished dosage manufactui
activities. Net product revenues and manufactuerpgenses realized in 2004 were incurred as paanodrderly phase out of all gene
manufacturing activities.

Net Product Revenug

The Company’s net product revenues for the yeae@itbcember 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003 wéodl@ss (in thousands):

12/31/04 12/31/03 12/31/04-12/31/03 12/31/04-12/31/03
NET PRODUCT REVENUES NET PRODUCT REVENUES ~ NET PRODUCT REVENUE ~ NET PRODUCT REVENUE
CHANGE CHANGE
%) (%)
$ 838 $5,750 ($4,912) (85%)

The decrease in net product revenues was a refsihle €Companys decision to restructure operations and ceasm#mifacture ¢
finished dosage generic pharmaceutical products. fdt product revenues for the year ended DeceBibheR004 reflect the sale of
remaining inventories of saleable finished dosageegc pharmaceutical products during the first tuarters of 2004. No product s¢
revenues were recorded for the third or fourth tpraf 2004.
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Cost of Manufacturing

The Company’s cost of manufacturing for the yeateghDecember 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003 wéodl@ss (in thousands):

12/31/04 12/31/03 12/31/04-12/31/03 12/31/04-12/31/03
COST OF MANUFACTURING COST OF MANUFACTURING COST OF MANUFACTURING COST OF MANUFACTURING
CHANGE CHANGE
%) (%)
$1,435 $11,705 ($10,270) (88%)

For the year ended December 31, 2004 cost of metwifiag includes the fixed costs of the Compangeneric finished dosa
manufacturing operations in the first quarter 0020Gnd residual expenses through the second qu#Ert2004. The Company’ generi
finished dosage manufacturing operations ceaskthinch 2004.

Research and Development Expenses

The Companys research and development expenses for the ydad éecember 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003 wdml@ass
(in thousands):

12/31/04 12/31/03 12/31/04-12/31/03 12/31/04-12/31/03
R&D EXPENSES R&D EXPENSES R&D EXPENSES CHANGE R&D EXPENSES CHANGE
®) (%)
$4,130 $ 1,460 $ 2,670 183%

Research and development expense consisted pginaddroduct development costs prior to the cesmatif the manufacture a
sale of finished dosage products. During 2004 ,aefeand development expense consists primaritirugf development work associated \
our Aversion™ Technology, including costs of preclinical, clini¢gals, clinical supplies and related formulatiand design costs, salai
and other personnel related expenses, and fac@ijs. The increase in R&D expenses is primarigtee to the Compang’strategic decisit
to devote a major portion of its resources in 2@Ddesearch and development activities relatinigstéwersion™ Technology and to a les:
extent to its Opioid Synthesis Technologies. Theeeses include aaon cash compensation charge of $553 recorded éoistuance of sto
options and $1,093 of personnel and departmenpa& tharges, which were reassigned from being chblgdo general and administra
department to being chargeable to research andogenent .

Selling, Marketing, General and Administrative Expes

Selling, marketing, general and administrative esgs for theyear ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 were asvil(n
thousands):

12/31/04 12/31/03 12/31/04-12/31/03 12/31/04-12/31/03
SELLING, MARKETING, SELLING, MARKETING, SELLING, MARKETING, SELLING, MARKETING,
G&A EXPENSES G&A EXPENSES G&A EXPENSES CHANGE ~ G&A EXPENSES CHANGE
%) (%)
$5,212 $7,903 ($2,691) (34%)
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The decrease in selling, marketing, general andiragirative expenses resulted from the Compasydécision to restructt
operations by discontinuing the marketing and sdlgeneric finished dosage products and reducim@diministrative and manufactur
support staff. The decrease includes $1,093 ofoped and departmental type charges, which werssigrged from being chargeable
general and administrative department to beinggetedile to research and development, a nonrecurengfit for settlement of trade payal
at a discount of $194 and a non cash compensédimnge of $1,453 recorded for the issuance of stptions.

Environmental Compliance Expenses

During the year ended December 31, 2004 and Deae®ih003, the Company incurred the following exges in connection wi
environmental compliance (in thousands):

12/31/04 12/31/03 12/31/04-12/31/03 12/31/04-12/31/03
ENVIRONMENTAL ENVIRONMENTAL ENVIRONMENTAL ENVIRONMENTAL
COMPLIANCE EXPENSES ~ COMPLIANCE EXPENSES ~ COMPLIANCE EXPENSES ~ COMPLIANCE EXPENSES

CHANGE CHANGE
%) (%)
$ 180 $ 227 ($47) (21%)

The environmental compliance expenses related pifim@ disposal of hazardous and controlled sulista waste and rela
personnel costs for environmental compliance duthey period the Company maintained its manufacgudperations. No environmer
compliance costs were incurred subsequent to tandequarter of 2004.

Interest Expense, Net of Interest Income

The Companys interest expense, net of interest income foyédaze ended December 31, 2004 and December 31,2803s follow
(in thousands):

12/31/04 12/31/03 12/31/04-12/31/03 12/31/04-12/31/03
INTEREST EXPENSE, INTEREST EXPENSE, INTEREST EXPENSE, INTEREST EXPENSE,
NET OF INTEREST INCOME  NET OF INTEREST INCOME ~ NET OF INTEREST INCOME  NET OF INTEREST INCOME

CHANGE CHANGE
(%) (%)
$2,903 $5,976 ($3,073) (51%)

The change in the interest expense, net of intémestme reflects the interest savings from theruestring of the Compang’tern
note indebtedness to Watson Pharmaceuticals,rieebruary, 2004 as well as the conversion of the@anys 5% convertible debentu
into convertible preferred stock on August 13, 2004

Amortization of Deferred Debt Discount and PrivBtebt Offering Costs

The Companys deferred debt discount and private debt offeciogts for the year ended December 31, 2004 andnilere31, 200
were as follows (in thousands):

22




12/31/04 12/31/03 12/31/04-12/31/03 12/31/04-12/31/03
DEFERRED DEBT DISCOUNT DEFERRED DEBT DISCOUNT DEFERRED DEBT DISCOUNT DEFERRED DEBT DISCOUNT

AND PRIVATE DEBT AND PRIVATE DEBT AND PRIVATE DEBT AND PRIVATE DEBT
OFFERING COSTS OFFERING COSTS OFFERING COSTS CHANGE OFFERING COSTS CHANGE
(%) (%)
$ 72,491, consisting of $ 24,771, consisting of $47,720 193%
¢ $ 1,030 private debt offerir « $ 1,099 private del
costs offering costs
« $ 71,461 deferred de « $ 23,672 deferred de
discount discount

The change in the deferred debt discount and mridabt offering costs reflects the amortizationtte remaining deferred de
discount and private debt offering costs incurnemirf all of the Companyg’ debenture and bridge loan financings consummatedg the
period from March 1998 through May, 2004. As a lestithe conversion of all convertible debentune® preferred stock at August !
2004, all remaining unamortized deferred debt dist@nd private debt offering cost balances wertenroff to expense.

Net Loss

The Company’s net loss for the year ended Deceihe2004 and December 31, 2003 was as followshingands):

12/31/04 12/31/03 12/31/04-12/31/03 12/31/04-12/31/03
NET LOSS NET LOSS NET LOSS CHANGE NET LOSS CHANGE
(%) (%)
($ 69,996) ($ 48,455) ($21,541) 44%

Included in the net loss for the year ended Decerlhe 2004 is the full amortization of the remamideferred debt discount ¢
private offering costs of $72,491, gains on debtrreturing of the Watson note of $12,401 and asales of $2,359, net interest expens
$2,903 and other income of $603 relating to setfets of a liabilities at discount.

Results of Operations for the Year Ended Decembgr 3003 and 200

Net Product Revenug

The Company’s net product revenues for the yeag@imtecember 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002 wdéodl@ss (in thousands):

12/31/03 12/31/02 12/31/03- 12/31/02 12/31/03-12/31/02
NET PRODUCT NET PRODUCT  NET PRODUCT REVENUE CHANGE NET PRODUCT REVENUE CHANGE
REVENUES REVENUES %) (%)
$ 5,750 $ 8,205 ($2,455) (30%)
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The decrease in the 20@802 Net Product Revenues resulted primarily fragaliding purchases by a single customer und
exclusive supply agreement for the Companyajor product lines. The Company, pursuant ttageprovisions in that agreement, termin;
the exclusive supply agreement in March, 2003 dmebfter attempted to establish itself in the market place by manufaomranc
distributing generic products under its Axiom sdlimiy label. The Compang’relatively narrow generic product lines, the emthed mark
positions of existing competitors, relatively lowargins and time required to fulfill the regulatorgquirements of restablishing th
Companys generic products under its Axiom label resultedrévenues lower than anticipated. Ultimately, ¢hesnditions caused 1
Company to reassess its strategy and to implemestiaucturing of operations. Such restructuring aanounced on November 6, 2003.

Cost of Manufacturing

The Company’s cost of manufacturing for the yeateghDecember 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002 wéoll@ss (in thousands):

12/31/03 12/31/02 12/31/03-12/31/02 12/31/03-12/31/02
COST OF MANUFACTURING COST OF MANUFACTURING COST OF MANUFACTURING COST OF MANUFACTURING
CHANGE CHANGE
%) (%)
$11,705 $12,535 ($830) (7%)

The increased cost as a percentage of sales in, 2808ompared in the year 2002, was directly aftaile to a charge
approximately $1,345 in 2003 for impairment of intery in connection with the Company’s restructgrin

Research and Development Expenses

The Companys research and development expenses for the ydad éecember 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002 wdml@ass
(in thousands):

12/31/03 12/31/02 12/31/03-12/31/02 12/31/03-12/31/02
R&D EXPENSES R&D EXPENSES R&D EXPENSES CHANGE ~ R&D EXPENSES CHANGE
(%) (%)
$1,460 $1,517 ($57) (4%)

The decrease in research and development expesffests the reduction in the resources availabléuta these activities. Tl
development expenditures in 2003 were primarilgtesl to the Company’s Aversid¥ Technology and Opioid Synthesis Technologies.
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Selling, Marketing, General and Administrative Expes

Selling, marketing, general and administrative eges for theyear ended December 31, 2003 and December 31, RefR a
follows (in thousands):

12/31/03 12/31/02 12/31/03-12/31/02 12/31/03-12/31/02
SELLING, MARKETING, G&A SELLING, MARKETING, G&A SELLING, MARKETING, G&A SELLING, MARKETING, G&A
EXPENSES EXPENSES EXPENSES CHANGE EXPENSES CHANGE
®) (%)
$ 7,903 $7,216 $ 687 10%

The increase in selling, marketing, general andiadtnative expenses is primarily due to added ggsional costs associated \
the prosecution of the Compasylmport Registration of $233,000, increased badt éxpense of $350,000 and sales personnel cc
$93,000.

Environmental Compliance Expenses

During the year ended December 31, 2003 and Deae®ih002, the Company incurred the following exges in connection wi
environmental compliance (in thousands):

12/31/03 12/31/02 12/31/03-12/31/02 12/31/03-12/31/02
ENVIRONMENTAL ENVIRONMENTAL ENVIRONMENTAL ENVIRONMENTAL
COMPLIANCE EXPENSES COMPLIANCE EXPENSES COMPLIANCE EXPENSES COMPLIANCE EXPENSES

CHANGE CHANGE
&) (%)
$ 227 $ 227 $— — %

The environmental compliance expenses relatedsygodal of hazardous and controlled substances wadteelated personnel cc
for environmental compliance during the period @@npany maintained its manufacturing operations.

Interest Expense, Net of Interest Income

The Companys interest expense, net of interest income foryder ended December 31, 2003 and December 30,\2882s follows (i
thousands):

12/31/03 12/31/02 12/31/03-12/31/02 12/31/03-12/31/02
INTEREST EXPENSE, INTEREST EXPENSE, INTEREST EXPENSE, INTEREST EXPENSE,
NET OF INTEREST INCOME NET OF INTEREST INCOME NET OF INTEREST INCOME NET OF INTEREST INCOME

CHANGE CHANGE
®) (%)
$ 5,976 $4,713 $1,263 27%

The increase in interest expense, net of incomeatsfinterest expense on the Compargdnvertible debenture financing comple
in December, 2002 and the Company’s bridge finayeccompleted during the 2003.
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Amortization of Deferred Debt Discount and PrivBXebt Offering Costs

The Companys deferred debt discount and private debt offeciogts for the year ended December 31, 2003 andniere31, 200
were as follows (in thousands):

12/31/03 12/31/02 12/31/03-12/31/02 12/31/03-12/31/02
DEFERRED DEBT DISCOUNT DEFERRED DEBT DISCOUNT DEFERRED DEBT DISCOUNT DEFERRED DEBT DISCOUNT
AND PRIVATE DEBT AND PRIVATE DEBT AND PRIVATE DEBT AND PRIVATE DEBT

OFFERING COSTS OFFERING COSTS OFFERING COSTS CHANGE OFFERING COSTS CHANGE
$) (%)
$24,771, consisting of $12,558, consisting of $12,213 97%
* $1,099 private debt offerir  + $ 751 private debt offerir
costs costs
e $ 23,672 deferred de + $ 11,807 deferred de
discount discount

The Company incurred offering costs associatedgfigance of certain convertible debentures andybrfthancings in 2003, 20
and 2001. Additionally, these offerings includedrraats and beneficial conversion features whichewealued using the BlacRehole
valuation model. The value of the warrants, privatfering costs and beneficial conversion featuses amortized over the life of 1
underlying debentures and notes

Net Loss

The Company’s net loss for the year ended DeceBihe2003 and December 31, 2002 was as followsingands):

12/31/03 12/31/02 12/31/03-12/31/02 12/31/03-12/31/02
NET LOSS NET LOSS NET LOSS CHANGE NET LOSS CHANGE
%) (%)
($ 48,455) ($ 59,589) $10,134 17%

In 2002, the Company recorded a charge to earmagwded as loss on the extinguishment of deb28{415,000 as a result of
Companys 2002 debenture offering. The loss consists offthewing amounts: 1) $11,985,000, representing filur value of 10,700,6t
warrants, as calculated using the Black-Scholesmricing model, that the Company issued to Wat8barmaceuticals, Inc. (“Watsorit)
consideration of Watsog'extension of the maturity date of the Watson Teaan; 2) $2,282,000, representing the fair valfithe shares
Common Stock issued on the exercise of 8,145,736n@un Stock Purchase Warrants in excess of the nuofitshares that would have b
issued as a result of a modification of the Was'amit shares settlement provisions; and 3) $14,1881@@resenting the incremental incre
in the fair value of the remaining Warrants issasdpart of the Comparg/'debenture offerings completed in 1998 and 1998 eesult ¢
reducing their exercise price in connection witk thodification of the associated debt agreemestsakculated using the Bla&ehole
option-pricing model.

Liquidity and Capital Resource

At December 31, 2004, the Company had cash and egsivalents of $3.1 million as compared to $94Q2,80 December 31, 2003. 1
Company had working capital of $2.4 million at Derxer 31, 2004 as compared to a working capitatdedff $3.8 million at December :
2003.

2004 Debenture Offering

On February 10, 2004, the Company consummated \atprioffering of convertible senior secured debesstu(the 200<
Debentures”) in the aggregate principal amountppreximately $12.3 million (the “2004 Debenture €fhg”). The 2004 Debentures wi
issued by the Company pursuant to a certain Debertnd Share Purchase Agreement dated as of Fel@u2004 (the 2004 Purchas
Agreement”)by and among the Company, Care Capital Investmé&ssex Woodlands Health Ventures, Galen Partnegseach of th
purchasers listed on the signature page theretoAmih 14, 2004 and May 26, 2004, the Company catgad additional closings under
2004 Purchase Agreement raising the aggregate groseeds received by the Company from the offeahthe 2004 Debentures to §
million. As the conversion price of the 2004 Dehwas was less than the fair market value of the g2smmy's Common Stock on the date
issue, beneficial conversion features were deterchto exist. The Company recorded approximately@Gaillion of debt discount limited



the face amount of the new debt. The debt discauaist amortized over the life of the debt, which maduon August 13, 2004, t
date the 2004 Debentures were automatically coegénto the Company’s Series A Convertible Prete8eock.

26




Pursuant to the terms of the 2004 Purchase Agreemrah other documents executed in connection vhitgh 2004 Debenture
effective August 13, 2004, each of the holdershef€ompany’s 2004 Debentures converted the 2004mefes into the ComparsySeries ,
preferred shares (the “Series A Preferred”). Initeatt effective August 13, 2004, each of the hoddef the Compang’ 5% convertible seni
secured debentures issued during the period 19@figh and including 2003 converted such debentimes the Companyg Series |
Preferred Stock (the “Series B Preferred”) andfnies C-1, C-2 and/or C-3 preferred stock (colletyi, the “Series C PreferredThe Serie
C Preferred shares together with the Series B Peefeshares are herein referred to as the “JumigfeRed Shares”)Jpon conversion of tt
Companys outstanding debentures, the Company issued appatety 21.9 million Series A Preferred shares,rapipnately 20.2 milliol
Series B Preferred shares, approximately 56.4anilBeries C-1 Preferred shares, approximately Bilin Series C2 Preferred shares ¢
approximately 81.9 million Series &Preferred shares. The Series A Preferred shacktha Junior Preferred Shares are convertiblear
aggregate of approximately 349.7 million shareshef Company’s Common Stock. Reference is madetém“[L-Business-Recent Events-
2004 Debenture Offeringfor a more detailed description of the 2004 Debentdffering, the conversion of the outstanding abes int
preferred shares and the rights and preferencit®e @eries A Preferred shares and the Junior Pedf&hares.

Amendment to Watson Term Loan Agreer

The Company was a party to a certain loan agreemiémWatson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Watsoptysuant to which Watson me
term loans to the Company (the “Watson Term LoameAment”)in the aggregate principal amount of $21.4 millas evidenced by tv
promissory notes (the “Watson Notedt)was a condition to the completion of the 200bBmture Offering that simultaneous with the clo
of the 2004 Purchase Agreement, the Company shedl paid Watson the sum of approximately $4.3 amlliwhich amount was funded fr
the proceeds of the 2004 Debenture Offering) amveged to Watson certain Company assets in corsgiderfor Watsors forgiveness
approximately $16.4 million of indebtedness under ¥Watson Notes. A part of such transaction, thées@aNotes were amended to exi
the maturity date of such notes from March 31, 2@08une 30, 2007, to provide for satisfactionuifife interest payments under the Wa
Notes in the form of the Compe’s Common Stock, to reduce the principal amounhefWatson Notes from $21.4 million to $5.0 milli
and to provide for the forbearance from the exeroisrights and remedies upon the occurrence ddiceevents of default under the Wat
Notes (the Watson Notes as so amended“2004 Note”). Simultaneous with the issuance of the 2004 Noteh ed Care Capital, Ess
Woodlands Health Ventures, Galen Partners andttier mvestors in the 2004 Debentures as of Feprl@y 2004 (collectively, theWatsor
Note Purchase”) purchased the 2004 Note from Watson in constitardor a payment to Watson of $1.0 million.

In addition to Watson'’s forgiveness of approximat$l6.4 million under the Watson Notes, as add#iaronsideration for the Company’
payment to Watson of approximately $4.3 million @hd Companys conveyance of certain Company assets, all suaplyements betwe
the Company and Watson were terminated and Wats@red the dilution protections contained in the @oon Stock purchase warrant de
December 20, 2002 exercisable for approximately tfillion shares of the ComparsyCommon Stock previously issued by the Compa
Watson, to the extent such dilution protectionseanteiggered by the transactions provided in thed2D8benture Offering.
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Terms of the 2004 Note

The 2004 Note in the principal amount of $5.0 roillias purchased by the Watson Note Purchasersugeskeby a first lien on all
the Company’s and its subsidiari@ssets, senior to the lien securing the Outstaridetzgentures and all other Company indebtednesses
a floating rate of interest equal to the prime gtes 4.5% (paid quarterly in the Company’s comratmtk) and matures on June 30, 2007.

Sale of Certain Company Assets

On March 19, 2004, the Company and its wholly-owrmeldsidiary, Axiom Pharmaceutical Corporation (“émx”), entered into &
Asset Purchase Agreement with IVAX Pharmaceutidsy York LLC (“IVAX"). Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Compar
Axiom agreed to sell to IVAX substantially all dfe& Company’s assets used in the operation of tlmep@oys former generic manufacturi
and packaging operations located in Congers, Nevk ¥oconsideration of an immediate payment of $8ilion and an additional payme
$0.5 million upon receipt of shareholder approvhlttee transaction. Shareholder approval of thetasake transaction with IVAX wi
obtained on August 12, 2004 and the closing waspteted on August 13, 2004, at which time the Comgpaceived the remaining paym
of $0.5 million from IVAX.

Commercial Focus, Cash Reserves and Funding Reqairts

As of February 25, 2005, the Company had cash ast equivalents of approximately $2r8llion. The majority of such ca
reserves will be dedicated to the development ef @ompany’'s Aversio™ Technology, the prosecution of the Companyater
applications relating to the AversioM Technology and for administrative and related ofegaexpenses. Currently the Compan
suspending further development and commercialinagitorts relating to the Opioid Synthesis Techgis and expects to minimize the
of cash and cash equivalents for the prosecutigrat#nt applications relating to the Opioid Synihd®chnologies (See “ltem 1 - Business -
Opioid Synthesis Technologies”).

As restructured, the Company is no longer engagdtle manufacture and sale of finished dosage geplkarmaceutical produc
As a result, the Company has no ability presemtlggnerate revenue from product sales. Accordirtgly,Company must rely on its curr
cash reserves to fund the development of its Asars¥ Technology and related ongoing administrative apdrating expenses. T
Companys future sources of revenue, if any, will be datdifiom contract signing fees, milestone paymentsragalties and/or profit shari
payments from licensees for the Company’s Averstbfiechnology. The Company estimates that its cugash reserves will be sufficient
fund the development of the Aversi® Technology and related operating expenses throuay, ®005. To fund operations through Ma
2006, the Company estimates that it must raisetiaddl financing, or enter into alliances or cobthaftion agreements with third pari
providing for net proceeds to the Company of asti&d million. No assurance can be given that tom@any will be successful in obtain
any such financing or in securing collaborativeeggnents with third parties on acceptable termes, #l, or if secured, that such financing
collaborative agreements will provide for paymetshe Company sufficient to continue to fund opierss. In the absence of such financ
or thirdparty collaborative agreements, the Company willréguired to scale back or terminate operationgoargkek protection unc
applicable bankruptcy laws.

Even assuming the Company is successful in secutltitional sources of financing to fund the coméid development of t
Aversion™ Technology, or otherwise enters into alliancesadlaborative agreements relating to the Aversidifechnology, there can be
assurance that the Company’s development effoltsegult in commercially viable products. The Camy’s failure to successfully devel
the Aversion™ Technology in a timely manner, to obtain an issue8. patent relating to the Aversiof Technology and to avoid infringil
third-party patents and other intellectual propeidits will have a material adverse impact orfiitancial condition and results of operations.

In view of the matters described above, recovetghiff a major portion of the recorded asset amsgitown in the Comparg’
accompanying consolidated balance sheets is depengen continued operations of the Company, wircturn are dependent upon
Companys ability to meet its financing requirements onantmuing basis, to maintain present financing, amdsucceed in its futu
operations. The Comparg/ffinancial statements do not include any adjustmedating to the recoverability and classificatimirecorded ass
amounts or amounts and classification of liab#itieat might be necessary should the Company daaitmcontinue in existence.
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The following table presents the Compangxpected cash requirements for contractual didigs outstanding as of December

2004:
DUE IN DUE IN DUE IN DUE
TOTAL 2005 2006 2007 THEREAFTER
(IN THOUSANDS)

Term loan payable 5,00( 5,00( —
Capital leases 93 29 32 — 7
Operating leases 34 29 5 — —
Contract research obligations 93 93 — — —
Employment agreements 76E 64C 12t — —
Total Contractual Cash Obligations $ 5,98t ¢ 791 $ 162 $ 502t $ 7

Critical Accounting Policies

Financial Reporting Release No. 60, which was ssldaby the Securities and Exchange Commission ("BECDecember 200
requires all companies to include a discussiorritital accounting policies or methods used ingheparation of financial statements. Not
of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementtuded as a part of this Report, includes a summofirthe Company significan
accounting policies and methods used in the préparaf the financial statements. In preparing éhésancial statements, the Company
made its best estimates and judgments of certaouats included in the financial statements, givihge consideration to materiality. 1
application of these accounting policies involviee exercise of judgment and use of assumptione &gure uncertainties and, as a re
actual results could differ from these estimatdse Tompany does not believe there is a great tiketi that materially different amou
would be reported under different conditions ongsilifferent assumptions. The Company’s criticalcamting policies are as follows:

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are recognized for tempodéffgrences between financial statement and inctemebases of assets
liabilities and loss carryerwards for which income tax benefits are expectedbe realized in future years. A valuation allowe it
established, when necessary, to reduce deferredstets to the amount expected to be realizedstimating future tax consequences,
Company generally considers all expected futur@isvether than an enactment of changes in theates br rates. The Company has reco
a full valuation allowance to reduce its deferraxl 4ssets to the amount that is more likely thartombe realized. In the event the Comg
were to determine that it would be able to reailigedeferred tax assets in the future an adjustrientduce the valuation allowance wc
increase income in the period such determinatios wade.

Stock Compensation

The Company accounts for stobksed employee compensation arrangements in accerdath provisions of APB Opinion No. :
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB N&b") and complies with the disclosure provisidnS&AS No. 148, Accounting fo
Stock-based Compensation - Transition and Discégsan amendment of FASB Statement No. 123" (“SFAS M8"). The amouni
disclosed include various estimates used to deterrfair value of stock options. If the Company werenclude the cost of stodkase!
employee compensation in the financial statemeéhésCompany’s operating results would decline basethe fair value of the stodiase!
employee compensation.

Deferred Debt Discount

Deferred debt discount results from the issuancetarfk warrants and beneficial conversion featimennection with the issuar
of subordinated debt and other notes payable. Wwuat of the discount is recorded as a reductioth@frelated obligation and is amorti
over the remaining life of the related obligatioh&nagement determines the amount of the discbastd, in part, by the relative fair val
ascribed to the warrants determined by an indepgndduation or through the use of the Bla@gholes valuation model. Inherent in
Black-Scholes valuation model are assumptions made byageament regarding the estimated life of the wasthetestimated volatility of tl
Company’s common stock and the expected divideeld yi

29




New Accounting Pronouncemen
Consolidation of Variable Entities

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Stand&ulgrd (“FASB”), issued FASB Interpretation of FMb. 46, ‘Consolidation ¢
Variable Entities,” VIES). FIN 46 establishes standards for determininger what circumstances VIEs should be cons@atith thei
primary beneficiary, including those to which thsual condition of consolidation does not apply. FBl also requires disclosure ak
unconsolidated VIEs in which the company has aifsagimt interest. The consolidation requirementd=tfl 46 apply immediately to old
entities the first fiscal year or interim periodgirning after June 15, 2003. certain disclosurgsiirements apply in all financial stateme
issued after January 31, 2003. The adoption ofatte®unting pronouncement did not have an impaatwrfinancial position or results
operations.

In December 2003, the FASB publishes FIN No. 4&Bnsolidation of Variable Entities (revised Decemd@03),” superseding F
46, and exempting certain entities from the pravisiof FIN 46. Generally, application of FIN &bis required in financial statements
nonpublic entities immediately to VIEs or potentiflEs created after December 31, 2003 and for rdities by the beginning of the fi
annual period beginning after December 31, 2004¢& adoption of the accounting pronouncement didhage an impact on our financ
position or results of operations.

Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments witle tCharacteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity

FASB issued Statement No. 150Actounting for Certain Financial Instruments withetCharacteristics of Both Liabilities ¢
Equity”, in June 2003. The Statement establishes standardsofv an issuer classifies and measures certaandial instruments wi
characteristics of both liabilities and equity. rkquires an issuer to classify a financial instroteethat is within the scope of !
pronouncement as a liability. Many of those finahénstruments were previously classified as equltye statement is effective for
financial instruments entered into or modified aftéay 2003 and otherwise shall be effective at ltleginning of the first interim peris
beginning after June 15, 2003. The adoption ofat®ounting pronouncement did not have an impaaiwrfinancial position or results
operations.

Share-Based Payment

On December 16, 2004, the FASB released FASB StateNo. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Paym#m\3B 123R")". Thest
changes in accounting replace existing requiremanter FASB Statement No. 123, “Accounting for &tBased Compensationgnc
eliminates the ability to account for share-basethgensation transaction using APB Opinion No.2A¢cbunting for Stock Issued
Employees”. The compensation cost relating to shased payment transactions will be measured basdhbeofair value of the equity
liability instruments issues. This Statement doesahange the accounting for similar transaction@living parties other than employe
Publicly traded companies must apply this Standardf the beginning of the first interim or annpatiod that begins after June 15, 2(
This Statement applies to all awards granted #fierequired effective date and to awards modifiedurchased, or cancelled after that
The cumulative effect of initially applying this é&ément, if any, is recognized as of the requirdctive date. The Company has
completed it evaluation of the impact of adoptifgSB 123R on its consolidated financi&htements, but anticipates that more compen:
costs will be recorded in the future if the us@pfions for employees and director compensationimoes as in the past.
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Capital Expenditures

The Companys capital expenditures during 2004, 2003 and 208&:$444,000, $412,000 and $287,000, respectiTélg.capite
expenditures during these periods are attributtbleapital improvements to the Companyongers, NY and Culver, Indiana facilities
connection with the Compars/prosecution of its Import Registration with thEA) specific improvements were made for security eelate:
items to the Culver, Indiana facility. Additionallgxpenditures were made to improve and expandrmidseufacturing capabilities of bc
Congers, NY locations.

Impact of Inflation

The Company believes that inflation did not haweaterial impact on its operations for the periagjsorted. Significant increases
labor, employee benefits and other expenses coald la material adverse effect on the Compamerformance. The Company
indebtedness which incurs interest on a floatingjsan relation to the Prime Rate. To the exteat thflation is reflected in higher inter.

rates, the Company would expect to incur greater@st costs on this debt.

Risk Factors Relating To The Compatr

The Company Received a “Going ConcernOpinion From Its Independent Auditors, Has a Histoty of Operating Losses and May Nc
Achieve Profitability Sufficient to Generate a Podive Return on Shareholders’ Investment

We have incurred net losses since 1992, includetgasses of approximately $70.0 million for theayended December 31, 2(
and net losses of $48.5, $59.6 and $12.5 millierfidzal 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. As eE&mnber 31, 2004 our accumulated de
was approximately $279.5 million. The Compangonsolidated financial statements for the yeaedrDecember 31, 2004 and 2003 |
been prepared on a going-concern basis, expressbgiantial doubt about the Compangbility to continue as a going concern as a ted
recurring losses and negative cash flows. Our éuypuofitability will depend on several factors, lunting:

* the successful completion of the formulation depgient, clinical testing and acceptable regulatesiew of our Aversion™
Technology;

« the receipt of a notice of allowance and issuedmidtom the US Patent and Trademark Office (“PTfot)the material clairr
in our patent application relating to the Avers™ Technology;

» the Aversior™ Technology not infringing thil-party patents or other intellectual property rig

» the completion of the development, commercial scaleand acceptable regulatory review of our opaitive pharmaceutic
ingredient manufacturing process technology (thpit@ Synthesis Technologies”);

« the receipt of approval from the U.S. Drug EnforeamAdministration (“DEA”)to import narcotic raw materials to be use
our development and manufacturing efforts; and

* the interest of qualified third parties in our Asiem ™ Technology and our Opioid Synthesis Technologiesldctively the
“Technologies”)and our ability to negotiate and execute commeycighble collaboration agreements with qualifiddrd
parties relating to the Technologies.

Many of these factors will depend on circumstanioegond our control. We cannot assure you that weewer have a produ
approved by the FDA, that we will bring any prodtemarket or, if we are successful in doing sat the will ever become profitable.
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We Require Additional Funding
Our requirements for additional capital are sulitsthand will depend on many factors, including:
« the expenses incurred in the development and coaiafization of products incorporating our Technaésg

« the structure of any future collaborative or deped@nt agreements relating to the Technologiesydiay) the timing and amot
of payments, if any, that may be received undesiptsfuture collaborative agreements;

« our ability to develop additional products utiligithe Technologies;

« our ability to negotiate agreements with third ertffor development, marketing, sale and distrdyutf products utilizing ot
Technologies;

« the prosecution, defense and enforcement of pal@ms and other intellectual property rights rielgtto the Technologies; and

« the commercialization of products incorporating dwchnologies without infringing thirdarty patents or other intellect
property rights.

We currently have no committed sources of capitéé anticipate that our existing capital resourcel lve sufficient to fun
operations only through May, 2005. To fund operaithrough March, 2006, the Company estimatesittihaist raise additional financing,
enter into alliances or collaborative agreementth vhird parties providing for net proceeds to thempany of at least $5 million. |
assurance can be given that the Company will beesséul in obtaining any such financing or in ségycollaborative agreements with tt
parties on acceptable terms, if at all, or if sedythat such financing or collaborative agreemuiiitsprovide for payments to the Comps:
sufficient to continue to fund operations. In thesence of such financing or thipérty collaborative agreements, the Company wi
required to scale back or terminate operationsaarsgek protection under applicable bankruptcy laws

Even assuming the Company is successful in secuiltitional sources of financing to fund the coméid development of t
Technologies, or otherwise enters into alliancesadiaborative agreements relating to the Techrielyghere can be no assurance the
Company’s development efforts will result in commially viable products.

We Have No Near Term Sources of Revenue and Must Reon Current Capital Resources, Third Party Finandng, and Technolog
Licensing Fees to Fund Operations

Pending the completion of the development and comialescale up of our Technologies, and the receiptgulatory approval of produ
incorporating our Technologies, of which no assceanan be given, the Company must rely on its atircapital resources, thinpharty
financing and technology licensing fees to fund @mmpanys operations. As a consequence of the restructofiogir operations, includi
the cessation of our finished dosage manufactwind)packaging operations at our former Congers fat¥ities and the sale of such as:
and related generic products to third parties, aeehno ability to generate revenues from the shigeoeric products. As of February
2005, we had cash and cash equivalents of apprtdyrs2.5million. No assurance can be given that such casburces will be sufficient
fund the continued development of our Technologiesl such time as we generate revenue from thendie of products incorporating
Technologies to third parties. Moreover, in thergvef a cash shortfall, no assurance can be giklahwe will be successful in raisi
additional financing to fund operations or, if fungl is obtained, that such funding will be suffitig¢o fund operations until the Compasy’
Technologies, or products incorporating such Teldgies, may be commercialized.
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Our Product Candidates Are Based on Technologies &t Could Ultimately Prove Ineffective

In accordance with the restructuring of the Compsaimperations, the Company has transitioned toglesoperations facility locat
in Culver, Indiana. At such site, the Company wékEk to develop its proprietary AversiBhTechnology and Opioid Synthesis Technolog
With respect to the Aversioft' Technology, the first product candidate (“Produah@idate #1") resulting from the Aversi®f Technology i
a tablet formulation intended for oral administati Six month real time stability data for ProdGeindidate #1 are satisfactory. However
Company can provide no assurance that the stabflBroduct Candidate #1 will result in a commaéigiacceptable drug product with at le
24 months of acceptable stability data. In addjtiBroduct Candidate #1 was evaluated in a singse atinical study to assess the bio-
availability and bio-equivalence (“BA/BE™f such product candidate in comparison to a fratiygrescribed commercially marketed d
product with the same opioid active ingredient Without abuse deterrent properties. The resulthefBA/BE study indicate that Prod
Candidate #1 is sufficiently bioavailable but ndbdguivalent to the reference commercially marketgibid product. The Compa
subsequently developed a more discriminating digsw test methodology and a revised formulationPodduct Candidate #1 Ftoduc
Candidate #1R")Based on an additional BA/BE study, we confirmeat tRroduct Candidate #1R is both bioavailable andduivalent to
commercially marketed product without the abusement properties. The Company has additionallynfdated another product candic
(“Product Candidate #2") incorporating the AversiéfiTechnology and contemplates submitting an IND oiN{D amendment with the FC
for Product Candidate #2 during the first half 603. Since the formulation of Product Candidatetk2, Company has suspended all
development activities for Product Candidate #1 Rratiuct Candidate #1R and will focus future depelent activities on Product Candic
#2. Substantial additional clinical and nolimical testing will be required to continue demainent and for the preparation and submissior
new drug application (“NDAYiling with the FDA. There can be no assurance Braduct Candidate #2 or any other product develoséng
the Aversion™ Technology will lead to a NDA submission to the FRAd that if an NDA is filed, that the FDA will amve such regulato
application to allow for commercial distribution thfe product.

With respect to the Opioid Synthesis Technologigsle the Company believes that such technologiesHective and costffective
methods of manufacturing opioid APls, such techgie® will need to be scaled up to commercial staleave economic value, of which
assurance can be given. Additionally, unless them@amy secures thirgarty financing dedicated to the scale up expenskasing to th
Opioid Synthesis Technologies (estimated by the @om to be at least $7.0 million), the Company Wi unable to complete f
commercial scale up of the Opioid Synthesis Teatgiek. No assurance can be given that the Compahgbiain the thirdparty financing
necessary to scale up the Opioid Synthesis Tecgiesloor, if such financing is obtained, that anye @r more of the Opioid Synthe
Technologies will be capable of commercial scaleTiye Company is currently suspending further dgwalent and commercialization effc
relating to the Opioid Synthesis Technologies ($&en 1 - Business - Opioid Synthesis Technologies”

The Company is committing substantially all ofriésources and available capital to the developmwitite Aversion™ Technolog'
and the prosecution of its patent applicationssiach Technologies. The failure of the Company tocessfully develop the Aversiof!
Technology, to successfully obtain an issued pdtent the PTO relating to the Aversidd Technology and product candidates utilizing
Aversion™ Technology, and to avoid infringing thipgkrty patents and intellectual property rightshe tommercialization of such Avers
™ Technology will have a material adverse effectltmm@ompany’s operations and financial condition.

If Pre-clinical Testing or Clinical Trials For Our Product Candidates Are Unsuccessful or Delayed, W&/ill Be Unable to Meet Our
Anticipated Development and Commercialization Timehes.

To obtain FDA approval for any of our product catades, we must submit to the FDA an NDA demonsigatamong other things, that
product candidate is safe and effective in human#d intended use. This demonstration requirgsiftant research and animal tests, w
are referred to prehnical studies, as well as human tests, whichreferred to as clinical trials. As we do not pGssthe resources or emp
all the personnel necessary to conduct clinical siudies, it is our intention to rely on collaative partners to conduct Phase Il and Pha
clinical trials on our product candidates. As aitgsve will have less control over the timing asttier aspects of these clinical trials than i
performed the monitoring and supervision of clihicils entirely on our own. Third parties may metrform their responsibilities for our pre-
clinical testing or clinical trials on our anticiga schedule or, for clinical trials, consistenthaa clinical trial protocol. Delays in pinical
and clinical testing could significantly increasgr @roduct development costs and delay product carialization. In addition, many of t
factors that may cause, or lead to, a delay irclihécal trials may also ultimately lead to dengdiregulatory approval of a product candidate.

33




The commencement of clinical trials can be deldged variety of reasons, including delays in:

demonstrating sufficient pre-clinical safety datquired to obtain regulatory approval to commencknical trial;

reaching agreement on acceptable terms with praspeamllaborative partners;

manufacturing and quality assurance release offizisat supply of a product candidate for use ur olinical trials; and/or

obtaining institutional review board approval toxdact a clinical trial at a prospective site.

Once a clinical trial has begun, it may be delagedpended or terminated by us or the FDA or attgulatory authorities due to a numbe
factors, including:

« ongoing discussions with the FDA or other regubatuthorities regarding the scope or design ofatinical trials;

« failure to conduct clinical trials in accordancdiwiegulatory requirements;
« lower than anticipated recruitment or retentiom i@t patients in clinical trials;

« inspection of the clinical trial operations or trites by the FDA or other regulatory authoritiesulting in the imposition of
clinical hold;

« lack of adequate funding to continue clinical sjand/or

 negative results of clinical trials.

Phase Il clinical trials, where required by the A~Bor commercial approval of the CompasyProduct Candidates, may
demonstrate the safety or efficacy of our prodactdidates. Success in poknical testing and early clinical trials does mutsure that lat
clinical trials will be successful. Results of latdinical trials may not replicate the resultspoior clinical trials and prelinical testing. Eve
if the results of our pivotal Phase Il clinicalalls are positive, we and our collaborative pagrmeay have to commit substantial time
additional resources to conduct further plieical and clinical studies before we can subMiDAs or obtain final FDA approval for o
product candidates.

Clinical trials are often very expensive and difficto design and implement, in part because they saubject to rigorot
requirements. Further, if participating patientlinical studies suffer drugelated adverse reactions during the course of siah, or if we
our collaborative partner or the FDA believes tpatticipating patients are being exposed to unadabép health risks, our collaborat
partner may have to suspend the clinical trialsluF& can occur at any stage of the trials, and aallaborative partner could encout
problems that cause the abandonment of clinicbktdr the need to conduct additional clinical stsdrelating to a product candidate.

Even if our clinical trials are completed as plaghrtbeir results may not support our product claifitee clinical trial process may f
to demonstrate that our product candidates areasafeffective for their intended use. Such failwmild cause us or our collaborative par
to abandon a product candidate and could delagielielopment of other product candidates.

If We Retain Collaborative Partners and Our Partners Do Not Satisfy Their Obligations, We Will Be Unake to Develop Ou
Partnered Product Candidates

To complete the development and regulatory approf/alur products and commercialize our productsny are approved by t
FDA, we plan to enter into development and comnadimgtion agreements with strategically focusedrptaeutical company partn
providing that such partners license our Technelwgnd further develop, register and commerciatiattiple formulations and strengths
orally administered opioigdentaining finished dosage products utilizing sd@thnologies. We expect to receive a share of tgrafnd/o
royalty payments derived from such collaborativeteers’ sale of products incorporating the Technologiesré&hily, we do not have a
such collaborative agreements, nor can there beaasyrance that we will actually enter into collatioe agreements in the future. ¢
inability to enter into collaborative agreementspar failure to maintain such agreements, woutttlthe number of product candidates
we can develop and ultimately, decrease our souwrfcany future revenues. In the event we enter amyp collaborative agreements, we |
not have day-talay control over the activities of our collaboratipartners with respect to any product candidats. @ollaborative partn
may not fulfill its obligations under such agreensenf a collaborative partner fails to fulfill itsbligations under an agreement with us
may be unable to assume the development of thaupr@edvered by that agreement or to enter intaoradtére arrangements with a third pa
In addition, we may encounter delays in the comiaézation of the product candidate that is thejsctbof a collaboration agreeme



Accordingly, our ability to receive any revenuerfréhe product candidates covered by collaboratggeements will be dependent
the efforts of our collaborative partner. We coblel involved in disputes with a collaborative partnehich could lead to delays in
termination of, our development and commercial@atprograms and result in time consuming and expergigation or arbitration. |
addition, any such dispute could diminish our dudi@tive partnerscommitment to us and reduce the resources theyteléwaleveloping ar
commercializing our products. If any collaboratpeartner terminates or breaches its agreementherwise fails to complete its obligation:

a timely manner, our chances of successfully dgietp or commercializing our product candidates wlobé materially and advers
effected.
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Additionally, due to the nature of the market f@irpmanagement products, it may be necessary ftw lisense all or significa
portion of our product candidates to a single dmitator, thereby eliminating our opportunity to coercialize other pain managem
products with other collaborative partners.

The Market May Not Be Receptive to Products Incorpeating Our Technologies

The commercial success of products incorporatingf@ghnologies that are approved for marketinghgyRDA and other regulatc
authorities will depend upon their acceptance kg rifedical community and third party payors as céity useful, coseffective and saf
There can be no assurance given, even if we sudcdbd development of products incorporating oecfinologies and receive FDA appr¢
for such products, that our products incorporathiy Technologies would be accepted by the medmaintunity and others. Factors that
believe could materially affect market acceptanfcese products include:

the relative advantages and disadvantages of oohnbéogies and timing to commercial launch of priduutilizing ou
Technologies compared to products incorporatingpsditive technologies;

the timing of the receipt of marketing approvals &éme countries in which such approvals are obthine

the safety and efficacy of products incorporating Bechnologies as compared to competitive proglacis/or

the cost-effectiveness of products incorporatingi@chnologies and the ability to receive thirdtpaeimbursement.

Our product candidates, if successfully developeéi compete with a number of products manufactueied marketed by other bre
focused pharmaceutical companies, biotechnologypamies and manufacturers of generic products. @gdugts may also compete with r
products currently under development by othersskigns, patients, thirgarty payors and the medical community may not @atcoe utilize
any of our product candidates. Physicians may motnblined to prescribe the products utilizing #heersion ™ Technology unless o
products bring substantial and demonstrable adgastaver other products currently marketed forstimae indications. If our products do
achieve market acceptance, we will not be ableeteerate significant revenues or become profitable.
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In the Event That We Are Successful in Bringing AnyProducts to Market, Our Revenues May Be Adverselaffected If We Fail to
Obtain Acceptable Prices or Adequate Reimbursemerftor Our Products From Third-Party Payors

Our ability to commercialize pharmaceutical produsticcessfully may depend in part on the avaitgbilf reimbursement for o
products from:

. government and health administration authorities
. private health insurers; and
. other third-party payors, including Medicare.

We cannot predict the availability of reimbursemtemtnewly-approved health care products. Thoedty payors, including Medica
are challenging the prices charged for medical petgland services. Government and other théndy payors increasingly are limiting b
coverage and the level of reimbursement for newgslr hirdparty insurance coverage may not be available tema for any of ot
products.

The continuing efforts of government and thiaity payors to contain or reduce the costs oftheare may limit our commerc
opportunity. If government and other thipasty payors do not provide adequate coverage eimtbursement for any product we bring
market, doctors may not prescribe them or patiemiy ask to have their physicians prescribe comgepiroducts with more favorat
reimbursement. In some foreign markets, pricing jaraditability of pharmaceutical products are subj® government control. In the Uni
States, we expect that there will continue to loleffal and state proposals for similar controlsaddition, we expect that increasing empt
on managed care in the United States will contitmuput pressure on the pricing of pharmaceuticatipcts. Cost control initiatives col
decrease the price that we receive for any prododtse future. Further, cost control initiativesudd impair our ability to commercialize ¢
products and our ability to earn revenues from ¢bhimmercialization.

Our Success Depends on Our Ability to Protect Ourritellectual Property

Our success depends in significant part on ouitald obtain patent protection for our Aversi&h Technology, both in the Unit:
States and in other countries, and to enforce thatents. The patent positions of pharmaceuticaisfi including us, are generally uncer
and involve complex legal and factual questionshdugh we have filed four (4) patent applicatiorithwhe PTO and one (1) foreign pal
application on our Aversiom™ Technology, there is no assurance that a patehtissile or, if issued, that such patent will beidranc
enforceable against third party infringement ot $wch patent will not infringe any third party @at or intellectual property. Moreover, e
if patents do issue on our Aversidh Technology, the claims allowed may not be suffitiebroad to protect the products incorporating
Aversion™ Technology. In addition, issued patents may belehgéd, invalidated or circumvented. Even if issumd patents may not affc
us protection against competitors with similar temlbgy or permit the commercialization of our prottuwithout infringing thirdparty
patents or other intellectual property rights.

Our success also depends on our not infringingnpmissued to competitors or others. We may becawege of patents and pat
applications belonging to competitors and otheas$ tould require us to alter our Technologies. Qltdrations could be time consuming
costly.

We may not be able to obtain a license to any telclgy owned by or licensed to a third party that iequire to manufacture
market one or more products incorporating our Teldwies. Even if we can obtain a license, the fai@nand other terms may
disadvantageous.

Our success also depends on our maintaining thédeatiality of our trade secrets and kndww. We seek to protect st
information by entering into confidentiality agreemts with employees, potential collaborative pagnpotential investors and consulta
These agreements may be breached by such partesidy not be able to obtain an adequate, or perlaagsremedy to such a breach
addition, our trade secrets may otherwise beconmviknor be independently developed by our competit@ur inability to protect o
intellectual property or to commercialize our prothuwithout infringing thirdearty patents or other intellectual property rightsuld have
material adverse effect on our operations and firsucondition.
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We May Become Involved in Patent Litigation or Othe Intellectual Property Proceedings Relating to OurProducts or Technologie
Which Could Result in Liability for Damages or Delay or Stop Our Development and Commercialization Effrts

The pharmaceutical industry has been characterimedsignificant litigation and other proceedings asling patents, pate
applications and other intellectual property righfthe types of situations in which we may becometigmto such litigation or proceedir
include:

. we may initiate litigation or other proceediragrainst third parties to enforce our patent rigintsther intellectual property
rights;
. we may initiate litigation or other proceediragainst third parties to seek to invalidate thepistheld by such third parties

or to obtain a judgment that our products or preessio not infringe such third parties’ patents;

. if our competitors file patent applications tkektim technology also claimed by us, we may pgdi® in interference or
opposition proceedings to determine the priorityneention; and

. if third parties initiate litigation claiming &t our processes or products infringe their patenther intellectual property
rights, we will need to defend against such promegd

The costs of resolving any patent litigation or esthintellectual property proceeding, even if resdiin our favor, could t
substantial. Some of our competitors may be abustain the cost of such litigation and proceesiimgre effectively than we can becaus
their substantially greater resources. Uncertangsulting from the initiation and continuationpaftent litigation or other intellectual prope
proceedings could have a material adverse effecuorability to compete in the marketplace. Patiigiation and other intellectual prope
proceedings may also consume significant managetinesit

Our Technologies may be found to infringe uponmkiof patents of owned by others. If we determiné ave are found to k
infringing on a patent held by another, we mightéhto seek a license to make, use, and sell tlemteat technologies. In that case, we
not be able to obtain such license on terms acbkpta us, or at all. If a legal action is brouglgainst us, we could incur substantial def
costs, and any such action might not be resolvediirfavor. If such a dispute is resolved agaisstiwe may have to pay the other party |
sums of money and our use of our Technologies hedesting, manufacturing, marketing or sale of onenore of our products could
restricted or prohibited. Even prior to resolutmfrsuch a dispute, use of our Technologies andethténg, manufacturing, marketing or sal
one or more of our products could be restrictegrohibited.

Moreover, other parties could have blocking patggiits to products made using the AversidhTechnology. For example, t
Company has recently become aware of certain USitatks and European patent applications ownelitmygarties that claim multiplésrm
abuse deterrent technologies. If such patent ajgits result in issued patents, with claims enassing our Aversiod™ Technology ¢
products, the Company may need to obtain a liceneeder to commercialize products incorporating &version™ Technology, should ol
be available or, alternatively, alter the AversiéhTechnology so as to avoid infringing such thiakty patents. If the Company is unabl
obtain a license on commercially reasonable tethesCompany could be restricted or prevented frommercializing products utilizing t
Aversion™ Technology. Additionally, any alterations to theesion™ Technology in view of pending thirgarty patent applications col
be time consuming and costly and may not resutt¢hnologies or products that are non-infringingammercially viable.

The Company expects to seek and obtain licensesidb patents or patent applications when, in theg@mys judgment, suc
licenses are needed. If any such licenses arereeljthere can be no assurances that the Compaulg e able to obtain any such licensi
commercially favorable terms, or at all, and ifdbdicenses are not obtained, the Company mightéented from making, using and sel
the Aversion™ Technology and products. The Companfdilure to obtain a license to any technologyt thanay require would material
harm the Company'’s business, financial conditiod sesults of operations. We cannot assure thaCtivapanys products and/or actions
developing products incorporating the Company’sraign ™ Technology will not infringe third-party patents.
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We May Not Obtain Required FDA Approval; the FDA Approval Process Is Time-Consuming and Expensive

The development, testing, manufacturing, marketind sale of pharmaceutical products are subjeektensive federal, state ¢
local regulation in the United States and othemtides. Satisfaction of all regulatory requiremetysically takes many years, is depent
upon the type, complexity and novelty of the prddtandidate, and requires the expenditure of snhataesources for research, developr
and testing. Substantially all of the Compangperations are subject to compliance with FDAIl&ipns. Failure to adhere to applicable F
regulations would have a material adverse effedherCompanys operations and financial condition. In additionthe event the Company
successful in developing product candidates fog salother countries, the Company would becomeestilip regulation in such countri
Such foreign regulations and product approval meguoénts are expected to be time consuming and sxgen

We may encounter delays or rejections during aagestof the regulatory approval process based uperfailure of clinical c
laboratory data to demonstrate compliance withygon the failure of the products to meet, the F©AEquirements for safety, efficacy
quality; and those requirements may become moiegsint due to changes in regulatory agency policthe adoption of new regulatio
After submission of a marketing application, in tteem of an NDA, a 502(b)(2) application, or an Abbiated New Drug Applicatic
(“ANDA"), the FDA may deny the application, may rge additional testing or data and/or may requmstmarketing testing ar
surveillance to monitor the safety or efficacy gbraduct. The FDA commonly takes one to two yeargrant final approval to a market
application (NDA, 505(b)(2) or ANDA). Further, tlierms of approval of any marketing applicationJuding the labeling content, may
more restrictive than we desire and could affeetrttarketability of the products incorporating then@pany’s Technologies.

Even if we comply with all FDA regulatory requirente, we may never obtain regulatory approval for @nour product candidats
If we fail to obtain regulatory approval for any ofir product candidates, we will have fewer sakegibducts and corresponding lo
revenues. Even if we receive regulatory approvabuwf products, such approval may involve limitatian the indicated uses or marke
claims we may make for our products.

The FDA also has the authority to revoke or susptovals of previously approved products for eatis debar companies ¢
individuals from participating in the druapproval process, to request recalls of allegediative products, to seize allegedly violal
products, to obtain injunctions to close manufaontuplants allegedly not operating in conformitytlweurrent Good Manufacturing Practi
(GMP) and to stop shipments of allegedly violagpreducts. As any future source of Company revenilldoes derived from the sale of FC
approved products, the taking of any such actiothbyFDA would have a material adverse effect exGbmpany.

The U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration (“DEA”) Limits the Availability of the Active Ingredients Used in Our Product
Candidates and, as a Result, Our Quota May Not BeuSficient to Complete Clinical Trials, or to Meet Commercial Demand or May
Result in Development Delays

The DEA regulates chemical compounds as SchedlUilellll, IV or V substances, with Schedule | sudnstes considered to pres
the highest risk of substance abuse and Schedalé$tances the lowest risk. Certain opioid activermaceutical ingredients in our curl
product candidates are classified by the DEA a=@dle 11 substances under the Controlled SubstaAcesf 1970. Consequently, th
manufacture, research, shipment, storage, saleusadire subject to a high degree of regulationthEtmore, the amount of Schedul
substances we can obtain for clinical trials anchro@rcial distribution is limited by the DEA and agwota may not be sufficient to compl
clinical trials or meet commercial demand. Therea igsk that DEA regulations may interfere with thepply of the products used in
clinical trials, and, in the future, our ability ppoduce and distribute our products in the volumaeded to meet commercial demand.
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We May Not Obtain Required DEA Approval for Our Nar cotic Raw Materials Import Registration

Our business strategy focuses on the developmeapiofd containing products incorporating the Teubgies. The developme
marketing and sale of products incorporating thehfielogies is subject to extensive regulation by BEA and FDA. At present, t
Companys facility located in Culver, Indiana is approved the DEA to manufacture DEA controlled substancéva pharmaceutic
ingredients (“APIs”) and finished dosage productsorporating such AP3. We are seeking to obtain a registration fromDE& to impor
narcotic raw materials (“NRMs"and have been engaged in the application processngeapproval to import NMRs directly from fore
countries for use in our opioid API manufacturirffpds since early 2001.

No assurance can be given that the Import Regmtrapplication will be approved by the DEA or tlifagranted by DEA, the Impc
Registration would be upheld following an appellet@llenge. Furthermore, our cash flow and limiedrces of available financing mak
uncertain that the Company will have sufficientitalgo reinitiate the development of the Opioid Synthesishir®logies, to obtain requir
DEA approvals and to fund the capital improvememsessary for the commercial manufacture of API3 famished dosage produ
incorporating the Opioid Synthesis Technologies.

We Must Obtain FDA Approval to Manufacture Our Products at Our Facilities; Failure to Obtain FDA Approval and Maintain
Compliance with FDA Requirements May Prevent or Dedy the Manufacture of Our Products and Costs of Manfacture May Be
Higher Than Expected

We have constructed and installed the equipmenéssacy to manufacture clinical trial supplies of dwersion ™ produc
candidates in tablet formulations at our Culverdidma facility. To be used in clinical trials, af our product candidates must
manufactured in conformity with current Good Maruattaing Practice (cGMPS) regulations as interruted enforced by the FDA. All su
product candidates must be manufactured, packagetllabeled and stored in accordance with cGMPdif\ations, enhancements
changes in manufacturing sites of marketed prodaretsin many circumstances, subject to FDA appraviaich may be subject to a leng
application process or which we may be unable obtaur Culver, Indiana facility, as well as thogeany thirdparty manufacturers that
may use, are periodically subject to inspectiontiy FDA and other governmental agencies, and dpesagt these facilities could
interrupted or halted if such inspections are usfattory.

Failure to comply with FDA or other governmentaguéations can result in fines, unanticipated coarple expenditures, recall
seizure of products, total or partial suspensioprofiuction or distribution, suspension of FDA ewiof our products, termination of ongo
research, disqualification of data for submissmneigulatory authorities, enforcement actions,rinfions and criminal prosecution.

We Face Significant Competition, Which May Resultn Others Discovering, Developing or Commercializind’roducts Before or More
Successfully Than We Do

The pharmaceutical industry is highly competitivedais affected by new technologies, governmentgulegions, health ca
legislation, availability of financing, litigatioand other factors. If our product candidates rex&idA approval, they will compete witt
number of existing and future drugs and therapg®ibped, manufactured and marketed by otherstiixisr future competing products n
provide greater therapeutic convenience or clinarabther benefits for a specific indication thaur @roducts, or may offer compara
performance at lower costs. If our products arebleto capture and maintain market share, we wilathieve significant product reven
and our financial condition will be materially adsely affected.

We will compete for market share against fully greted pharmaceutical companies or other compdimégscollaborate with larg
pharmaceutical companies, academic institutionsegonent agencies and other public and privatearebeorganizations. Many of the
competitors have opioid analgesics already approvad development. In addition, many of these cetitprs either alone or together w
their collaborative partners, operate larger redeand development programs and have substangiabter financial resources then we d
well as significantly greater experience in deveigpproducts, conducting piical testing and human clinical trials, obtaigiFDA ant
other regulatory approvals, formulating and mantwfiéeg drugs, and commercializing drugs.
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We will be concentrating all of our efforts on tevelopment of the Technologies. The commerciatesg of products using ¢
Technologies will depend, in large part, on theiisity of competition from branded opioid contaghiproducts, generic versions of bran
opioid containing products and other drugs andreldgies that compete with the products incorpogatbur Technologies, as well as
timing of product approval.

Alternative technologies and products are beingeliged to improve or replace the use of opioidspfin management, severa
which are in clinical trials or are awaiting appabfrom the FDA. In addition, the opioid active nedients in all of our product candidates
readily available for use in generic products. Cames selling generic opioid containing productsy mepresent substantial competiti
Most of these organizations competing with us hewestantially greater capital resources, largerareh and development staff and facilit
greater experience in drug development and in oinigiregulatory approvals and greater manufactuaimg marketing capabilities than
do.

The pharmaceutical industry is characterized bgueat litigation. Those companies with significinancial resources will be bet
able to bring and defend any such litigation. Nsuaance can be given that we would not become \edoin such litigation. Such litigatir
may have material adverse consequences to the @gragaancial conditions and operations.

We May Be Exposed to Product Liability Claims and May Not Be Able to Obtain Adequate Product Liability Insurance

Our business exposes us to potential product iigbisks, which are inherent in the testing, mamiifiring, marketing and sale
pharmaceutical products. Product liability claimgyimi be made by consumers, health care providegharmaceutical companies or ott
that sell our products. These claims may be mada @ith respect to those products that are manukeattin licensed and regulated facili
or that otherwise possess regulatory approvaldorroercial sale.

We are currently covered by clinical trial prodliability insurance in the amount of $1.@nillion per occurrence and $3.@nillion
annually in the aggregate on a claimade basis. This coverage may not be adequateves eay product liability claims. Product liabil
coverage is expensive. In the future, we may noalille to maintain or obtain such product liabilingurance at a reasonable cost ¢
sufficient amounts to protect us against lossestdliability claims. Any claims that are not coedrby product liability insurance could hi
a material adverse effect on our business, finhooiadition and results of operations.

The Market Price of Our Common Stock May Be Volatie

The market price of our common stock, like the meanirice for securities of pharmaceutical, biopheceutical and biotechnolo
companies, has historically been highly volatilaeTmarket from time to time experiences signifigamte and volume fluctuations that
unrelated to the operating performance of particatampanies. Factors, such as fluctuations in qarating results, future sales of
common stock, announcements of technological intimvs or new therapeutic products by us or our @fitge's, announcements regarc
collaborative agreements, clinical trial resultsygrnment regulation, developments in patent oeroginoprietary rights, public concern a:
the safety of drugs developed by us or others, gdmin reimbursement policies, comments made byrisies analysts and general ma
conditions may have a significant effect on the kaaprice of our common stock. In the past, follogviperiods of volatility in the mark
price of a company' securities, securities class action litigatioa bften been instituted. A securities class adtishagainst us could resuli
substantial costs, potential liabilities and theedsion of management’s attention and resources.

In addition, since the Company’s delisting from hmerican Stock Exchange in September 2000, thegaoyis common stock h
been traded on the OTC Bulletin Board, a NASD-spogts inter-dealer quotation system. As the Commaogimmon stock is not quoted ¢
stock exchange and is not qualified for inclusiontbe NASD Smallcap Market, our common stock could be subject twla by the
Securities and Exchange Commission that imposeii@ual sales practice requirements on broftealers who sell such securities to per
other than established customers and accreditegstons. For transactions covered by this rule, bifekerdealer must make a spei
suitability determination for the purchaser andéhasceived the purchasgnvritten consent for a transaction prior to s@lensequently, tt
rule may affect the ability of broker-dealers tdl ke Companys common stock and the ability of purchasers indfiering to sell th
common stock received upon conversion of the PredeBhares in the secondary market. There is n@gtyathat an active trading market
our common stock will be maintained on the OTC &l Board. Investors may be not able to sell theares of common stock quickly o
the latest market price if trading in our commascktis not active.
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No Dividends

The Company has not declared and paid cash dividendts common stock in the past, and the Complaeg not anticipate payi
any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Téragany’s senior term loan indebtedness prohibégptiyment of cash dividends.

Control of the Company

Galen Partners beneficially owns in excess of agrexgate of approximately 48%of the Companys common stock (after givil
effect to the conversion of outstanding common lstegrchase warrants held by Galen Partners). litiadd pursuant to the terms of
Amended and Restated Voting Agreement dated FebiiaR004, between the Company and the holders©i@fCompanys outstandin
convertible preferred stock, all holders of the @amy’s convertible preferred stock have agreed thatBbard of Directors shall |
comprised of not more than 7 members, 4 of whorli beahe designees of each of Care Capital Investsll, LP, Essex Woodlands Hei
Venture V, L.P. and Galen Partners. Each of Cargt@laEssex Woodlands and Galen Partners hasgheto designate one member of
Companys Board of Directors and each of such investorectively may designate one additional member ®Bbard. As a result, Gal
Partners, in view of its ownership percentage ef @ompany, and each of Care Capital, Essex Wooslland Galen Partners, by virtue
their controlling positions on the CompasyBoard of Directors, will be able to control ogificantly influence all matters requiring apprt
by our shareholders, including the approval of reesgor other business combination transactions. ifitezests of Care Capital, Es
Woodlands and Galen Partners may not always cangith the interests of other shareholders and eutities may take action in advanc
their interests to the detriment of our other shalders.

Key Personnel Are Critical to Our Business, and OuiFuture Success Depends on Our Ability to Retain Tém

We are highly dependent on the principal membens adiumanagement and scientific team, particulariydfew Reddick, ot
President and Chief Executive Officer, and Ron 8pj\Wh.D. our Senior Vice President and Chief SifierOfficer. We may not be able
attract and retain personnel on acceptable terrenghe intense competition for such personnel gmmatechnology, pharmaceutical :
healthcare companies, universities and poofit research institutions. We are not awaremf present intention of any our key personn
leave our Company or to retire. However, while ve@édremployment agreements with certain of our eygas, all of our employees are
will employees who may terminate their employmeraray time. We do not currently have key persomm&irance on any of our officers
employees. The loss of any of our key personnetherinability to attract and retain such personmaly significantly delay or prevent
achievement of our research, development and Bssiolgjectives and could materially aversely afteat business, financial condition &
results of such operations.

We Expect That Our Quarterly Results of OperationsWill Fluctuate, and These Fluctuations Could Caus®ur Stock Price to Decline
Our quarterly operating results are likely to fluete in the future. These fluctuations could camsestock price to decline. T

nature of our business involves variable factooshsas the timing of the research, developmentragdlatory pathways of our prod
candidates that could cause our operating resuftadtuate.
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The Company Is Subject to Restrictions on the Incuence of Additional Indebtedness, Which May Adversly Impact the Company’s
Ability to Fund Operations

Pursuant to the terms of each of the Compaoyitstanding $5.0 million senior term loan andlthestor Rights Agreement with 1
holders of the Compang’convertible preferred stock, the Company is Bahias to the type and amount of future indebtedmesay incur
The restriction on the Company’s ability to incaid@ional indebtedness in the future may advergapact the Companyg’ability to fund th
development and commercialization of its products.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

The primary objective of our cash investment atiéigi is to preserve principal while at the sameetimaximizing the income v
receive from our investments without significanihcreasing risk. None of the securities that weestvin are subject to market risk.
minimize this risk in the future, we intend to niain our portfolio of cash equivalents in a variefysecurities, including commercial paj
government and nogevernment debt securities and/or money marketsuhdt invest in such securities. We have no hgkliof derivativ:
financial or commodity instruments. As of DecemBg&r 2004, our investments consisted primarily afrsterm bank commercial paper ¢
checking funds with variable, market rates of iastr

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
The response to this item is submitted as a sepaeation of this Report commencing on page F-1.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

On October 21, 2004, the Company notified Grantriitem LLP (“Grant Thornton”pf its decision to dismiss Grant Thornton a
independent auditor. BDO Seidman, LLP (“BDO Seidfavas selected to replace Grant Thornton as thegamy’s independent auditor 1
the fiscal year ending December 31, 2004. The aecis dismiss Grant Thornton and to select BDQI®&in, which was made to reduce
cost of compliance with SEC accounting rules, waisraved by the Comparg/’Audit Committee of the Board of Directors on (etn21
2004 and subsequently approved by the Company’sdBifeDirectors with an effective date of Octob&r 2004.

Grant Thorntors audit reports on the consolidated financial statgs of the Company and its subsidiaries as offanthe year
ended December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002atésyly, did not contain an adverse opinion otistldimer of opinion, nor were th
qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit seapg accounting principles, except to the exteat,tas discussed in the former accountant’
report, the Company has suffered significant lossesnegative cash flows from operations whicheisubstantial doubt about its ability
continue as a going concern. The Comparfyiancial statements do not include any adjustm#rat might result from the outcome of
uncertainty.

During the Company two most recent fiscal years and in the subsedotim period through October 21, 2004, the Camypdic
not have any disagreements with Grant Thorntonmynnaatter of accounting principles or practicesaficial statement disclosure or audi
scope or procedures, which disagreements, if ramlved to Grant Thorntos’satisfaction would have caused it to make retardn th
subject matter of the disagreements in connectitimits reports.

During the Companyg two most recent fiscal years and in the subsdqoterim period through October 21, 2004, thereramec
“reportable events” as defined in Regulation Si&m 304(a)(1)(v).

At the Companys request and after providing Grant Thornton wittopy of the disclosures contained in this Iten®&€ant Thornto
provided the Company with a letter addressed t&HBE stating that it agrees with the statementserbgtdhe Company in this Item 9.

During the Company fiscal years ended December 31, 2003 and 20@2thansubsequent interim period through Octobe204
neither the Company nor someone acting on the Coypaehalf consulted BDO Seideman regarding (i) theglieation of accountir
principles to a specified transaction either corguleor proposed, (ii) the type of audit opinionttha@ight be rendered on the Company’
financial statements, or (iii) any matter that vedther the subject of a disagreement (as defindRleigulation XK, Item 304(a)(1)(iv)), or
“reportable event” (as defined in Regulation S4€m 304(a)(1)(v)).

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedurgbe Company carried out an evaluation as of DecerBbe 2004, under tl

supervision and with the participation of the Compa management, including the CompangZhief Executive Officer and Chief Finan
Officer, of the effectiveness of the design andrapien of the Companyg’ disclosure controls and procedures pursuant thdhge Act Rul



13a-4. Disclosure controls and procedures are thosérale and other procedures that are designed sarerthat informatic
required to be disclosed by the Company in thenteghat it files or submits under the Exchange i&atecorded, processed, summarizec
reported, within the time periods specified in BIEC’s rules and forms. Based upon that evaluationCthief Executive Officer and Chi
Financial Officer concluded that the Companglisclosure controls and procedures are effettitienely alerting them to material informati
relating to the Company (including its consolidasedbsidiaries) required to be included in the Camypaperiodic Securities and Excha
Commission filings. No significant changes were mau the Company internal controls or in other factors that cosignificantly affec
these controls subsequent to the date of theiuatiah.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repogiifhere was no change in the Company’s internal obotrer financial
reporting that occurred during the period covergdhiis Report that has materially affected, oreiasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal control over-financial reporting

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not Applicable.
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PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE RE GISTRANT

The directors and executive officers of the Compamyas follows:

NAME AGE POSITION

Jerry Karabelas 52 Chairman of the Board

Andrew D. Reddick 52 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific

Ron J. Spivey 58 Officer

Peter A. Clemens 52 Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
and Secretary

James Emigh 49 Vice President of Marketing and Administrati
Vice President, Corporate Controller and

Robert Seiser 41 Treasurer

Bruce F. Wesson 62 Director

William A. Sumner 67 Director

William Skelly 54 Director

Immanuel Thangaraj 34 Director

Jerry Karabelas has been a Director of the Compantg December, 2002 and Chairman of the Boarae $iay 2003. Dr. Karabel
was Head of Healthcare and CEO of Worldwide Phaeutizals for Novartis AG from 1998 until July 20@xior to joining Novartis, D
Karabelas was Executive Vice President of SmithiKBeecham. From July, 2000 until December, 2001 Karabelas was the Founder
Chairman of the Novartis Bio Venture Fund. Sinces&aber, 2001 he has been a Partner with Care Capita Dr. Karabelas holds a Ph.
in pharmacokinetics from the Massachusetts Colt#fgeharmacy and serves as a Director of SykePh&imaHuman Genome Scienc
Nitromed, Anadys and Renov

Andrew D. Reddick has been President and Chief lkex Officer since August, 2003 and a Directotled Company since Augu
2004. From April, 2000 to September, 2002 Mr. Rekldvas Chief Operating Officer and Sr. Vice Prestd€ommercial Operations 1
Adolor Corporation, a pharmaceutical company. Fdome, 1999 to March, 2000 he served as Presiddraudfiing Laboratories, Inc. and
served as Executive Vice President Marketing, S&lBsisiness Development with Purepac Pharmacestfcam August, 1996 to June, 19
Mr. Reddick holds a BA degree in Biology from thailkrsity of California and an MBA degree from Duldaiversity.

Ron J. Spivey has been Senior Vice President anef Gkientific Officer since April, 2004. From Jun2002 to March, 2004 C
Spivey was President of Gibraltar Associates, @iapei company providing consulting services to tharmaceutical industry relating
product research and development. From March, 1898ay, 2002 he served as Vice President, Scienfiffairs for Alpharma/Purepi
Pharmaceuticals. Additionally, Dr. Spivey has sdniie a number of senior level scientific and leatigy positions at Zenith Goldli
Pharmaceuticals, Cima Labs Inc., Marion Merrell D&urroughs Wellcome Company and Warner Chilcottigddon of Warner Lambert. C
Spivey holds a BA degree from Indiana Universitd anPh.D. degree in pharmaceutics from the Unityeofilowa.

Peter A. Clemens has been Senior Vice Presidengf €Emancial Officer and Secretary since April 200Mr. Clemens was Vit
President, Chief Financial Officer and Secretarythaef Company from February 1998 to March 2004 amlractor of the Company fro
June, 1998 to August, 2004. From February, 1988 jaming the Company, Mr. Clemens was employedTdy Manufacturing Co., In
(“TC") which, through its various subsidiaries and divisiomanufactures generic pharmaceuticals, industi@ings and flexible packagir
Mr. Clemens was TG’ President from February, 1996 through Februg@981Prior to that time, he held the position ot&/President at
Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Clemens is a Certifiediblic Accountant and earned a B.B.A. degree ftloeUniversity of Notre Dame and
MBA from Indiana University.

James Emigh has been Vice President of MarketinigAatministration since April 2004. Prior to sucmé&, Mr. Emigh was Vic
President of Sales and Marketing. Mr. Emigh joitteel Company in May, 1998, serving first as Exeaifdirector of Customer Relations ¢
then as Vice President of Operations until Novemd@02. From 1991 until joining the Company, Mr. igmwas employed by Organon, Ir
a pharmaceutical company, in various managemeritigqas and most recently as its Director of Manag@ide and Trade Relations. |
Emigh holds a Bachelor of Pharmacy from Washingktate University and a Masters of Business Admiatigtn from George Masi
University.
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Robert Seiser has been a Vice President, Corp@uaitéroller and Treasurer since April 2004. Priorstach time, Mr. Seiser w
Corporate Controller and Treasurer. From 1992 (aiiling the Company in March 1998, Mr. Seiser senas Treasurer and Corpo
Controller of TC Manufacturing Co., Inc., a privigtéeld company based in Evanston, lllinois. MrisBeis a Certified Public Accountant ¢
earned a B.B.A. degree from Loyola University oficaigo.

Bruce F. Wesson has been a Director of the Comparg March, 1998. Mr. Wesson is President of GAlssociates, a health ¢
venture firm, and a General Partner of Galen PesthiE L.P. Prior to January, 1991, he was Sehiiwe President and Managing Directo
Smith Barney, Harris Upham & Co. Inc., an investimeanking firm. He currently serves on the Boarfi€ncore Medical Corporatic
QMed, Inc., and Crompton Corporation, each a plybtirmded company, and several privately held camgsa Mr. Wesson earned a de(
from Colgate University and a Masters of Businedsnwistration from Columbia University.

William A. Sumner has been a Director of the Conypsince August, 1997. From 1974 until his retiretiarl 995, Mr. Sumner he
various positions within Hoech&eussel Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a manufacturer @stdbditor of pharmaceutical products, includingc
President and General Manager, Dermatology Divi§iom 1991 through 1995, Vice President, Strat&jisiness Development, from 1¢
to 1991 and Vice President, Marketing from 1985L889. Since his retirement from HoecR&iussel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. in 1995,
Sumner has acted as a consultant to various erititidie pharmaceutical field.

William Skelly has been a Director of the Compaimce May, 1996 and served as Chairman of the Coynfram October, 19¢
through June, 2000. Since 1990, Mr. Skelly hasesbas Chairman, President and Chief Executive @ffi¢ Central Biomedia, Inc. and
subsidiary SERA, Inc., companies involved in thareh healthindustry including veterinary biologicals and custmanufacturing of anim
sera products. From 1985 to 1990, Mr. Skelly seredresident of Martec Pharmaceutical, Inc., &iligor and manufacturer of hun
generic prescription pharmaceuticals.

Immanuel Thangaraj has been a Director of the Comsince December, 2002. Mr. Thangaraj has beeramalying Director ¢
Essex Woodlands Health Ventures, a venture cdpitalspecializing in the healthcare industry, sid@97. Prior to joining Essex Woodlal
Health Ventures, he helped form a telecommunicagenvices company, for which he served as its Q#0.Thangaraj also worked as
Associate for ARCH Venture Partners, LP and mar@ne of its portfolio companies, a medical infotima technology company. M
Thangaraj holds a Bachelor of Arts and a MasterBugriness Administration from the University of €ajjo and serves as a Directo
iKnowMed Systems, Sound ID and CBR Systems.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors isTgmsed of Messrs. William A. Sumner, Chairman, Imoe Thangaraj ar
Bruce F. Wesson. The Audit Committee is respondineselecting the Comparg/independent auditors, approving the audit feealpliaytc
the auditors, working with independent auditors alder corporate officials, reviewing the scope aadults of the audit by, and
recommendations of, the Compasiyndependent auditors, approving the servicesigedvby the auditors, reviewing the financial staget:
of the Company and reporting on the results ofahdits to the Board, reviewing the Companifisurance coverage, financial controls
filings with the Securities and Exchange Commisgitie “Commission”), including, meeting quarterlsiqu to the filing of the Company’
quarterly and annual reports containing financtatesnents filed with the Commission, and submittinghe Board its recommendatis
relating to the Company’s financial reporting, aceting practices and policies and financial, actiognand operational controls.

In assessing the independence of the Audit Comenittembers during 2004, the Company has reviewedaalgzed the standal
for independence provided in Section 121A of theefioan Stock Exchange Listing Standards. Basechisnanalysis, the Company |
determined that Mr. Sumner is deemed an independentber of the Audit Committee. While Messrs. Wesand Thangaraj do not sati
the standards for independence set forth in therfiare Stock Exchange Listing Standards as a re$ulie controlling interest held by et
of Galen Partners Ill, L.P., of which Mr. Wessoraigeneral partner, and Essex Woodlands Healthuven, L.P., of which Mr. Thanga
is a general partner, the Board values the experiehMessrs. Wesson and Thangaraj in the revietiveo€ompanys financial statements a
believes that each is able to exercise indeperjddginent in the performance of his duties on thdinGommittee.
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The Audit Committee does not have a financial exfes defined under applicable regulations of tlen@ission) serving on tl
Committee. The Board has determined that while redrike Audit Committee members meet all of théecia established by the Commiss
to be classified as a “financial experthe Company believes that in general, the membénhe Audit Committee have a suffici
understanding of audit committee functions, intermantrol over financial reporting and financiab&ment evaluation so as to capi
perform the tasks required of the Audit Committee.

Nominating Committee

The Company does not have a standing nominatingnittee. Currently the Board of Directors functioas the Company’
nominating committee. The Board performs the fuonditypical of a nominating committee, including tidentification, recruitment a
selection of nominees for election as directorghaf Company. Two of the six members of the Boaragdis. Sumner and Skelly)
“independentas that term is defined by Section 121(A) of theehican Stock Exchange Listing Standards and ppaieiwith entire Boal
in the consideration of director nominees. The Bdaglieves that a nominating committee separat@ ftself is not necessary at this ti
given the size of the Company and the Board, torenthat candidates are appropriately evaluatedsaletted. The Board also believes-
given the Company’'size and the size of its Board, an additionalro@tae of the Board would not add to the effectessof the evaluati
and nomination process. For these reasons, thalBedieves it is not appropriate to have a nommgatiommittee.

The Boards process for recruiting and selecting nominee®t@mrd members is to attempt to identify individualho are thought
have the business background and experience, igdsisecific knowledge and general reputation angedise that would allow them
contribute as effective directors to the Companydvernance, and who are willing to serve as tirecof a public company. To date,
Company has not engaged any third party to assigteintifying or evaluating potential nomineesalpossible candidate is identified,
individual will meet with various members of thedd and is sounded out concerning his/her possildeest and willingness to serve, .
Board members discuss amongst themselves the dindikg potential to be an effective Board member. Ifdiseussions and evaluation
positive, the individual will be invited to serve the Board.

To date, no shareholder has presented any candata®®ard membership to the Company for considematand the Company dc
not have a specific policy on shareholdecommended director candidates. However, the Bobalitves its process for evaluation
nominees proposed by shareholders would be noreiiffédrom the process of evaluating any other aatdi In evaluating candidates,
Board will require that candidates possess, at minmim, a desire to serve on the CompanBoard, an ability to contribute to -
effectiveness of the Board, an understanding ofuhetion of the Board of a public company andvel& industry knowledge and experiel
In addition, while not required of any one candidahe Board would consider favorably experiendeication, training or other expertise
business or financial matters and prior experiesgging on boards of public companies.

Shareholder Communications to the Boa

Shareholders who wish to send communications toChwapanys Board of Directors may do so by sending themare of thi
Secretary of the Company at the address which apmeacover page of this Report. The envelope @inta such communication mt
contain a clear notation indicating that the enstbketter is a “Shareholder-Board Communication"Sinareholder-Director Communication”
or similar statement that clearly and unmistakahljicates the communication is intended for the rBo&ll such communications mt
clearly indicate the author as a shareholder aaid sthether the intended recipients are all membkthe Board or just certain specif
directors. The Secretary of the Company will hawe discretion to screen and not forward to directmmmunications which the Secre
determines in his or her discretion are commurooatiunrelated to the business or governance ofChmpany and its subsidiari
commercial solicitations, or communications that affensive, obscene, or otherwise inappropriate $ecretary will, however, compile
shareholder communications which are not forwaedisuch communications will be available to amgator.
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Code of Ethics

The Company has adopted a Code of Ethics thatepfuithe Compang’principal executive officer, principal financiafficer anc
principal accounting officer. The Code of Ethicsaimilable on the Company’s website @ www.acurapt@m under the caption “Legal”
Any amendments to or waivers from the Code of Ethdl be posted on the Company’s website undecpion “Legal”.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Congice

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of41%% amended, requires the Comparirectors and executive officers, i
persons who own beneficially more than ten per(Edo) of the Common Stock of the Company, to fdparts of ownership and change
ownership with the Commission. Copies of all fikeghorts are required to be furnished to the Compamguant to Section 16(a). Based s¢
on the reports received by the Company and onesritepresentations from reporting persons, the @omjpelieves that the Directc
executive officers and greater than ten percen¥jlBeneficial owners of the CompasyCommon Stock complied with all Section 11
filing requirements during the year ended Decendier2003, except that Essex Woodlands Health Vestur L.P. filed on Form 3 late a
Mr. Thangaraj filed three Form 4s late.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following table sets forth a summary of the pemsation paid by the Company for services renderedl capacities to tt
Company during the fiscal years ended Decembe2@®14, 2003 and 2002 to the Company’s Chief Exeeufifficer and the Comparg/hex
four most highly compensated executive officerdiéctively, the “named executive officerstyhose total annual compensation for 2

exceeded $100,000:

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

LONG TERM COMPENSATION

ANNUAL COMPENSATION

SECURITIES
UNDERLYING
OTHER ANNUAL STOCK ALL OTHER

NAME AND PRINCIPAL POSITION YEAR SALARY BONUS COMPENSATION OPTIONS COMPENSATION
Andrew D. Reddick 200¢$ 305,76¢$ 60,00( — 8,750,001 —
President and Chief 200z: 96,92 0 — — —
Executive Officer 200z -0- 0 — — —
Ron J. Spivey 200¢  190,00( 0 — 3,000,001 —
Senior Vice President and 200z -0- 0 — — —
Chief Scientific Officer 200z -0- 0 — — —
Peter A. Clemens 200¢ 181,78 60,00( — 375,00( —
Senior Vice President and 200:  155,00( 60,00( — — —
Chief Financial Officer 200z  155,00( 0 — — —
Vijai Kumar @ 200¢ 187,53¢ 0 — 200,00 —
Chief Operations Officer 200z  180,00( 0 — — —
200z 18,00( 0 — 400,00( —
James Emigh 200¢  141,89:. 50,00( — 249,00( —
Vice President Marketing 200z  132,00( 0 — — —
and Administration 200z  132,00( 0 — — —

(1) Mr. Kumar’s services as Chief Operations Officeased effective November 17, 2004.
Other Compensatory Arrangements
Executive officers and key employees participatmédical and disability insurance plans providedit@mployees of the Compar
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Employment Agreement

Andrew D. Reddick is employed pursuant to an Emiplegt Agreement effective as of August 26, 2003 ctvhprovides that M
Reddick will serve as the ComparyChief Executive Officer and President for anid@hiterm expiring August 26, 2005. The term of
Employment Agreement provides for automatic oney&Br renewals in the absence of written notidl¢ocontrary from the Company or |
Reddick at least ninety (90) days prior to the ein of the initial term or any subsequent rerepexiod. The Employment Agreem:
provides for an annual base salary of $300,00G; ffie payment of annual bonus of up to thirty-fpercent (35%) of Mr. Reddic&’bas
salary based on the achievement of such targetslitmns, or parameters as may be set from tim@e by the Board of Directors or |
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. Reddick received a bonus of $60,000 in fiscdl20n accordance with the terms
the Employment Agreement, as amended, the Compeanytegl to Mr. Reddick stock options exercisable dprto 8,750,000 shares
Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.13 pereshidre stock options provide for vesting of 3,000,8hares on the date of grant of
option, with the balance vesting in monthly increrseof 250,000 shares at the expiration of eachtiipperiod thereafter commencing w
the month ending August 31, 2004. The exerciseepoic$0.13 per share represents a discount toaihemfarket value of the Compansy’
common stock on the date of grant. On August 1242€he date of grant of the stock options, theaye of the closing bid and asked pr
for the Companys Common Stock was $0.435. The Employment Agreempentits the Company to purchase the vested podfdvr.
Reddick’s options upon his termination for Cause (as ddfinghe Employment Agreement) or his resignatitrenothan for Good Reason
defined in the Employment Agreement) at a purchaas equal to the positive difference, if any,vioetn (i) the average of the closing
and asked prices of the CompasmZommon Stock for the five trading days priorite tlate of termination or resignation, and (ii) ¢xercis
price of the option shares, multiplied by the numshehares which, as of the date of terminationegignation, are vested under the s
option. The Employment Agreement contains stantiamgiination provisions, including upon death, dibh for Cause, for Good Reas
and without Cause. In the event the Employment Aguent is terminated due to death or disability, @mwnpany is required to pay !
Reddick, or his designee, a pro rata portion ofaheual bonus that would have been payable to MddiRk during such year assuming
achievement of the bonus criteria established fich$onus. Additionally, Mr. Reddick or his desigaeshall have a period of twelve (
months following such termination to exercise Meddick's vested stock options. In the event that the Eympémt Agreement is terminai
by the Company without Cause or by Mr. Reddick @mod Reason, the Company is required to pay MrdRkdan amount equal to t
bonus for such year, calculated on a pro rata laasigming full achievement of the bonus criterasfech year, as well as Mr. Reddislbas
salary for the greater of (i) the remainder ofithigal term of the Employment Agreement, and @i)e year (the “Severance Paydayable il
equal monthly installments over a period of twe(\l2) months. In addition, Mr. Reddick is entitledl ¢ontinued coverage under
Companys then existing benefit plans, including medicad éife insurance, for a term equal to the greafefi)ahe remainder of the initi
term of the Employment Agreement, or (ii) twelv@)Inonths from the date of termination. The EmplepimAgreement permits Mr. Redd
to terminate the Employment Agreement in the ewérst Change of Control (as defined in the Employtegreement), in which case st
termination is considered to be made without Caesttling Mr. Reddick to the benefits describedady except that (i) the Severance Pi
payable in a lump sum within thirty (30) days oé thate of termination, and (ii) all outstandingc&t@ptions granted to Mr. Reddick sl
fully vest and be immediately exercisable. The Eoyiplent Agreement restricts Mr. Reddick from disitigs disseminating or using for |
personal benefit or for the benefit of others, @werftial or proprietary information (as definedtie Employment Agreement) and, provi
the Company has not breached the terms of the Eymglot Agreement, from competing with the Compangrat time prior to one year af
the termination of his employment with the Company.
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Ron J. Spivey, Ph.D., is employed pursuant to apl&pment Agreement effective as of April 5, 2004ieh provides that D
Spivey will serve as the CompasySenior Vice President and Chief Scientific Offifer term expiring April 4, 2006. The term of
Employment Agreement provides for automatic oney&gr renewals in the absence of written notidgdéocontrary from the Company or
Spivey at least ninety (90) days prior to the eqpan of the initial term or any subsequent renepadiod. The Employment Agreem
provides for an annual base salary of $260,00@; thle payment of annual bonus of up to thirty-freecent (35%) of Dr. Spivey’base sala
based on the achievement of such targets, congition parameters as may be set from time to timehbyBoard of Directors or t
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directansadcordance with the terms of the Employment Ages#, the Company granted to
Spivey stock options exercisable for up to 3,000,8Bares of Common Stock at an exercise price df3%per share. The stock opt
provides for vesting of 1,000,000 shares on Octdhe&004 with the remaining balance vesting in tgrr increments of 333,333 share
the expiration of each quarterly period commeneiity) the quarterly period ending December 31, 200v% Employment Agreement pern
the Company to purchase the vested portion of Piie§’s options upon his termination for Cause (as ddfinghe Employment Agreeme
or his resignation other than for Good Reason &fimed in the Employment Agreement) at a purcha®e gqual to the positive difference
any, between (i) the average of the closing bid asiad prices of the CompasyCommon Stock for the five trading days priorte tlate ¢
termination or resignation, and (ii) the exercis& of the option shares, multiplied by the numbérshares which, as of the date
termination or resignation, are vested under theksbptions. The Employment Agreement containsdatechtermination provisions, includi
upon death, disability, for Cause, for Good Reamuth without Cause. In the event the Employment &guent is terminated due to deatl
disability, Dr. Spivey or his designees shall havperiod of twelve (12) months following such temation to exercise Dr. Spivey/veste
stock options. In the event that the Employmenteggnent is terminated by the Company without Caudsy ®r. Spivey for Good Reast
the Company is required to pay Dr. Spivey an amaqial to the bonus for such year, calculated qoarata basis assuming f
achievement of the bonus criteria for such yeanvell as Dr. Spivey's base salary for one year (theverance Pay”)payable in equ
monthly installments over a period of twelve (1X)nths. In addition, Dr. Spivey is entitled to conigd coverage under the Compantfier
existing benefit plans, including medical and lifigurance, for twelve (12) months from the datéeofmination. The Employment Agreem
permits Dr. Spivey to terminate the Employment Agnent in the event of a Change of Control (as @dfin the Employment Agreement)
which case such termination is considered to beemwthout Cause, entitling Dr. Spivey to the betsefiescribed above, except that (i)
Severance Pay is payable in a lump sum withinytti80) days of the date of termination, and (il)altstanding stock options granted to
Spivey shall fully vest and be immediately exeroisa The Employment Agreement restricts Dr. Spiffreyn disclosing, disseminating
using for his personal benefit or for the benefibthers, confidential or proprietary informatioas(defined in the Employment Agreem:
and, provided the Company has not breached thestefithe Employment Agreement, from competing lih Company at any time prior
one year after the termination of his employmernhwhe Company.

Peter A. Clemens is employed pursuant to an Empdoymgreement effective as of March 10, 1998, wtatter giving effect t
amendments dated as of June 28, 2000, May 4, 2@ January 5, 2005, provides that Mr. Clemens seitve as the ComparsySenior Vic
President and Chief Financial Officer for a ternpieing April 30, 2006. The term of the Employmengr&ement provides for automatic
(1) year renewals in the absence of written ndiicthe contrary from the Company or Mr. Clemengast one hundred eighty (180) d
prior to the expiration of any renewal period. Hmployment Agreement provides for an annual bakeysaf $180,000 plus the paymen
an annual bonus to be determined based on théastitie of such targets, conditions or parametemnyiay be determined from time to time
the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directddr. Clemens received a bonus of $60,000 in edcliscal 2004 and 2003. T
Employment Agreement also provides for the grargto€k options on March 10, 1998 to purchase 3@gb@res of the Comparsytommol
stock at an exercise price of $2.375 per shareclwbptions vest in equal increments of 25,000 optbares at the end of each quar
period during the term of the Employment Agreemnastsuch vesting schedule may be amended by magteé¢ment of Mr. Clemens and
Board of Directors). In addition, in August 200hetCompany granted stock options to Mr. Clemerngutchase 375,000 shares of Comi
Stock at an exercise price of $0.13 per share. Stotk options vest in equal quarterly incremeritdha end of each annual per
commencing March 9, 2005. The Employment Agreenpeninits the Company to repurchase the vested podidvr. Clemens’options
upon his termination for Cause (as defined in thglByment Agreement) or his resignation (other tfmrGood Reason as defined there
at a purchase price equal to the positive diffezeifany, between (i) the average of the closirigepof the Compang’ common stock for tl
five trading days prior to the date of terminatimmresignation, and (ii) the exercise price of tiption shares, multiplied by the numbe
option shares which, as of the date of terminatare, vested under the option. The Employment Agesgtroontains standard terminal
provisions, including upon death, disability, foau®e, for Good Reason and without Cause. In thatahhe Employment Agreement
terminated by the Company without Cause or by Men@ns for Good Reason, the Company is requir@aydvir. Clemens an amount ec
to $310,000 or twice his then base salary, whichisvgreater, payable in a lump sum within 30 dafyermination and to continue to prov
Mr. Clemens coverage under the Companyien existing benefit plans, including medicad &fe insurance, for a term of 24 months.
Employment Agreement permits Mr. Clemens to termteiritae Employment Agreement in the event of a ChafgControl (as defined in t
Employment Agreement) and for Good Reason. The Bynpént Agreement also restricts Mr. Clemens frostldsing, disseminating
using for his personal benefit or for the benefibthers confidential or proprietary informatiors(defined in the Employment Agreems
and, provided the Company has not breached thestefithe Employment Agreement, from competing lith Company at any time prior
two years after the earlier to occur of the expirabf the term and the termination of his emplopine
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Compensation of Directors

Directors who are employees of the Company recedsadditional or special remuneration for theivgsss as Directors. Directc
who are not employees of the Company receive anargrant of options to purchase 50,000 shareb@®iCompanys common stock ai
$500 for each meeting attended ($250 in the cagelephonic meetings). The Company also reimbuBiesctors for travel and lodgii
expenses, if any, incurred in connection with atéarte at Board meetings. Directors who serve onoaitlye Committees established by
Board of Directors receive $250 for each Committexeting attended unless held on the day of a fodirB meeting.

Stock Option Plan:

The Company currently maintains two stock opticemgladopted in 1995 and 1998, respectively. Thepaasnin the past has us
and will continue to use, stock options to attract retain key employees in the belief that emm@og®mck ownership and stocklatec
compensation devices encourage a community ofdstéretween employees and shareholders.

The 1995 Stock Option Plan. In September, 1995,Gbmpany established the 1995 Halsey Drug Co., $tock Option an
Restricted Stock Purchase Plan (the “1995 Stocko®g@®lan”). Under the 1995 Stock Option Plan, the Company nrayptgoptions t
purchase up to 1,000,000 shares of the Companysn@m Stock. Incentive Stock Options (“ISO’stjay be granted to employees of
Company and its subsidiaries and rmpralified options may be granted to employeesctiirs and other persons employed by, or perfor
services for, the Company and its subsidiariesjestio the 1995 Stock Option Plan, the Stock Op@immmittee determines the persor
whom grants are made and the vesting, timing, atscamd other terms of such grants. An employee moayeceive ISGs exercisable in al
one calendar year for shares with a fair markatesain the date of grant in excess of $100,000. Nmiity limitations apply to the grant
non-qualified stock options.

As of February 1, 2005, ISO’s to purchase 540,10 es and noqualified options to purchase 106,390 shares haea lgrante
under the 1995 Stock Option Plan, leaving 212,4#&es available for grant under the Plan. The geeper share exercise price for
outstanding options under the 1995 Stock Option Blapproximately $1.46. No exercise price of 80 lwas set at less than 100% of the
market value of the underlying Common Stock, exéepgrants made to any person who owned stockgssgsy more than 10% of the t
voting power of the Company, in which case the eserprice was set at not less than 110% of thenfairket value of the underlyi
Common Stock.

The 1998 Stock Option Plan. The 1998 Stock Optilam Was adopted by the Board of Directors in Adr198 and approved by 1
Companys shareholders in June, 1998. The 1998 Stock Ojptian was amended by the Board of Directors in IAfR899 to increase tl
number of shares available for the grant of optiomder the Plan from 2,600,000 to 3,600,000 shadtes.Companys shareholders ratified t
Plan amendment on August 19, 1999. The 1998 Statio®Plan was further amended by Board of DirextarApril, 2001 to increase t
number of shares available for grant of optionseurtle Plan from 3,600,000 to 8,100,000 shares.ddrapanys shareholders ratified t
Plan amendment on June 14, 2001. The 1998 StodkrOpkan was further amended by the Board of Dinscon May 5, 2004 to increase
number of shares available for grant of optionseuritle Plan from 8,100,000 to 20,000,000 shares.ddmpanys shareholders ratified 1
Plan amendment on August 12, 2004. The 1998 Stqatlo® Plan permits the grant of 1ISO’s and rgpralified stock options to purche
shares of the Company’s Common Stock. As of Felrligr2005, stock options to purchase 16,851,820 shadfr€ommon Stock had be
granted under the 1998 Stock Option Plan. Of sytlolm grants, 624,519 are 1SOs and 16,227,301 aneynalified options. The average
share exercise price for all outstanding optiondenrthe 1998 Stock Option Plan is approximatel0 No exercise price of an ISO was s
less than 100% of the fair market value of the dydey Common Stock, except for grants made to pesson who owned stock posses
more than 10% of the total voting power of the Camp in which case the exercise price was set fatess than 110% of the fair mar
value of the underlying Common Stock. The exerpisee of nonqualified options exercisable for 13,375,145 shafesommon stock hi
been set at less than the fair market value olutidgerlying Common Stock. Subject to the terms ef 1898 Stock Option Plan, the St
Option Committee determines the persons to whomtgrare made and the vesting, timing, amounts dher derms of such grant. .
employee may not receive 1SOéxercisable in any one calendar year for shaittsanvfair market value on the date of grant inessco
$100,000. No quantity limitations apply to the grahnon-qualified stock options.
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Securities Authorized For Issuance Under Equity Cpansation Plan:

The following table includes information as of Dader 31, 2004 relating to the Compasy995 Stock Option Plan and 1998 S
Option Plan, which comprise all of the equity comgegion plans of the Company. The table providesniimber of securities to be iss
upon the exercise of outstanding options under plas, the weightedverage exercise price of such outstanding opaaisthe number
securities remaining available for future issuameder such equity compensation plans:

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

NUMBER OF
SECURITIES
REMAINING
NUMBER OF AVAILABLE
SECURITIES FOR
TO FUTURE
BE ISSUED WEIGHTED- ISSUANCE
UPON AVERAGE UNDER EQUITY
EXERCISE EXERCISE = COMPENSATION
OF PRICE OF PLANS
OUTSTANDING OUTSTANDING  (EXCLUDING
OPTIONS, OPTIONS, SECURITIES
WARRANTS WARRANTS REFLECTED IN
PLAN CATEGORY AND RIGHTS AND RIGHTS COLUMN(a))
(@) (b) (©
Equity Compensation Plans Approved by Security ddd 17,498,91 $ 44 3,338,62!
Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by Secutitiders 0 0 0
TOTAL 17,498,91 $ 44 3,338,62!

OPTION GRANTS IN 2004

The following table presents information regardgrgnts of options to purchase shares of the Compamommon stock for each
the named executive officers receiving option ggamt2004.

Individual Grants

Percent of . .
Total Potential Realizable value

at Assumed Annual Rates
of Stock Price Appreciation

Number of
Securities Options
Underlying  Granted to Exercise

Options Employees ir Price Per Expiration  for Option Term(2)

Name Granted Fiscal Year  Share (1) Date
Andrew D. Reddick 8,750,001 65.4%% 0.1< 201<¢ $ 5,066,25( $ 8,732,50
Ron J. Spivey 3,000,001 22.4%$ 0.1z 201¢ 1,737,00! 2,994,001
Peter A. Clemens

375,00( 2.8%% 0.1z 201¢ 217,12 374,25(
Vijai Kumar 200,00 1.5%$ 0.1z 201¢ 115,80( 199,60(
James Emigh 249,00( 1.9%$ 0.1: 201¢ 144,17: 248,50:
(1) The stock options granted to Mr. Reddick providetfee vesting of 3,000,000 shares immediately ugpengrant of the optior

with the balance vesting in monthly increments @80, shares at the expiration of each monthly pecmamencing August 31, 2004. 1
stock options granted to Dr. Spivey provide for tires of 1,000,000 shares on October 1, 2004, wiih balance vesting in quarte
increments of 333,333 shares at the expiratioraohuarterly period commencing with the quartedyiod ending December 31, 2004.
remainder of the stock option grants provide fostivey in quarterly increments at the expiratioreath annual period commencing with
quarterly period ending March 9, 2005.
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2 The dollar amounts in these columns represent denpal realizable value of each option assumirad the market price of t
Common Stock (based on the average of the closoh@rd asked prices of the Compayommon Stock on August 12, 2004 of $0
appreciates in value from the date of grant atfteand 10% annual rates prescribed by regulatidntlzerefore are not intended to fore
possible future appreciation, if any, of the praéehe Common Stock.

AGGREGATE OPTION EXERCISED IN LAST FISCAL YEAR
AND FISCAL YEAR END OPTION VALUES

The following table presents information regardihg value of options outstanding at December 30420r each of the nam
executive officers.

NUMBER OF SECURITIES VALUE OF UNEXERCISED
UNDERLYING UNEXERCISED IN-THE-MONEY OPTIONS AT
OPTIONS AT FISCAL YEAR END FISCAL YEAR END (2)
NAME EXERCISABLE UNEXERCISABLE EXERCISABLE UNEXERCISABLE
Andrew D. Reddick 4,250,00! 4,500,001 $ 1,168,75 $ 1,237,501
Ron J. Spivey 1,333,33. 1,666,66 $ 366,66 $ 458,33:
Peter A. Clemens 625,00( 375,000 $ —$ 103,12!
Vijai Kumar @ 400,00( 200,00( $ 55,00( $ —
James Emigh 144,75( 255,25( $ —$ 68,47¢
Q) Mr. Kumar’s services as Chief Operations €Hficeased effective November 17, 2004.
(2 Value is based upon the average of the gjasid and asked prices of $ 0.405 per share atrbleee31, 2004.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Paitiation

From January 1, 2004 through August 11, 2004 thexgamy’s Compensation Committee consisted of Messrs. ie&ielly an
Thangaraj. From August 12, 2004 through December2804 the Companyg’ Compensation Committee consisted of Messrs. l€tas
Skelly and Reddick. During 2004, except for Mr. Riel, there were no Compensation Committee intkdoar insider participation
compensation decisions.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth information regamlithe beneficial ownership of the Common Stock,0fd-ebruary 1, 2005, f
individuals or entities in the following categori€§ each of the Company’'Directors and nominees for Directors; (ii) theigEHExecutive
Officer and the next four highest paid executiviicefs of the Company whose total annual compemsdtr 2004 exceeded $100,000
“named executive officers”)ji{) all Directors and executive officers as a gopand (iv) each person known by the Company ta beneficic
owner of more than 5% of the Common Stock. Unledicated otherwise, each of the shareholders Has/eting and investment power w
respect to the shares beneficially owned.

SHARES OF COMMON STOCK ON AN AS-
CONVERTED AND AS-EXERCISED BASIS

PERCENT PERCENT
AMOUNT OF OF
NAME OF BENEFICIAL OWNER OWNED(1) CLASS(2) CLASS(3)

Galen Partners lll, L.P(4)

610 Fifth Avenue, 5th Floor

New York, New York 10020 158,503,83(5) 87.%% 42.6%
Galen Partners International 1ll, L.P(4)

610 Fifth Avenue, 5th Floor

New York, New York 10020 15,372,24(6) 40.7% 4.1%
Oracle Strategic Partners, L.P(4)

200 Greenwich Avenue

Suite 3

Greenwich, CT 06830-2506 24,640,79(7) 56.7% 6.6%
Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P..

c/o Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.L.C.

190 South LaSalle Street, Suite 2800

Chicago, IL 60603 56,982,82(8) 72.(% 15.2%
Care Capital Investments I, LP (4)

c/o Care Capital, L.L.C.

Princeton Overlook One

100 Overlook Center, Suite 102

Princeton, New Jersey 08540 45,524,30(9) 67.2% 12.2%
Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc

311 Bonnie Circle

Corona, California 92880 10,700,665(1) 32.5% 2.5%
ClI Mutual Funds

Cl Place

151 Young Street, 1% Flr.

Toronto, Canada M5C 2W7 8,184,331(1) 26.7% 2.2%

Dennis Adams

120 Kynlyn Road

Radnor, Pennsylvania 19103 5,085,14(12) 19.2% 1.4%
Hemant K. Shah and Varsha H. Shah

29 Christy Drive

Warren, New Jersey 07059 2,962,15(13) 12.(% *
Bernard Selz

c/o Furman Selz

230 Park Avenue

New York, New York 10069 2,632,90(14) 10.€% *
Michael and Susan Weisbrot

1136 Rock Creek Road

Gladwyne, Pennsylvania 19035 3,725,03(15) 14.7% 1.C%
Andrew D. Reddick 4,750,001(16) 17.5% 1.2%
Ron J. Spivey 1,666,66/(17) 6.S% *



William Skelly

Bruce F. Wesson

William A. Sumner

Peter A. Clemens

Jerry Karabelas

Immanuel Thangaraj

Vijai Kumar

James Emigh

All Directors and Officers as a Group (11 persons)

376,00(18)
225,00((19)
1,034,07/(20)

400,00(21)
252,00((22)
8,510,74/(23)
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* Represents less than 1% of the outstanding sluditb® Company’s Common Stock.

Q) The information with respect to Hemant K. Shah ¥adgsha H. Shah, Dennis Adams, Bernard Selz and &¢ichnd Sus:
Weisbrot and Watson Pharmaceuticals, is based filpags with the Commission and/or information pided to the Company.

(2) Shows percentage ownership assuming (i) such mamtyerts all of its currently convertible secustier securitie
convertible within 60 days of February 1, 2005 ithe Companys common stock, and (ii) no other Company secusityér convert
any of its convertible securities.

) Shows percentage ownership assuming such partyathnather securityholders of the Company convettadl their
convertible securities into the Company’s commalst

(4) The following natural persons exercise votimyestment and dispositive rights over the Comparsecurities held
record by such entities:

0] Galen Partners lll, L.P. and Galen Partners Int@nal Ill, L.P. - William Grant, Bruce F. Wesson, L. John Wil
Srini Conjeevaram, David W. Jahns and Zubeen Shroff

(i) Care Capital Investments Il, LP - Jan Leschly, Aigggarabelas and David Ramsay;
(iii) Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P. - Immaieingaraj; and

(iv) Oracle Strategic Partners, L.P. - Larry N. Feinberg

(5) Includes (i) 30,978,600 shares issuable upon ceivernf Series A Preferred Shares, (i) 6,170,1kares issuable up
exercise of Series B Preferred shares, (iii) 10D&? shares issuable upon conversion of SerieseferRed shares, (iv) 19,476,¢
shares issuable upon exercise of common stock gsecharrants , and (v) 425,000 shares subjectiertly exercisable stock optiol

(6) Includes (i) 2,803,960 shares issuable upon comrersf Series A Preferred Shares, (ii) 558,503 ehidssuable upe
exercise of Series B Preferred shares, (iii) 10,043 shares issuable upon conversion of Serieeterdped shares, and (iv) 1,971,
shares issuable upon exercise of common stock gsealvarrants.

@) Includes (i) 20,991,333 shares issuable omversion of Series C Preferred Shares

(8) Includes (i) 33,909,751 shares issuable upon csioref Series A Preferred Shares, (ii) 6,756,208ras issuable up
conversion of Series B Preferred Shares, (iii) 95,847 shares issuable upon conversion of SeriPsef@rred Shares, (iv) 345,(
shares issuable upon exercise of common stock asecharrants, and (v) 75,000 shares subject terlyrexercisable stock options.

9) Includes (i) 24,453,931 shares issuable upon ceivernf Series A Preferred Shares, (i) 6,303,87dres issuable up
conversion of Series B Preferred Shares, (iii) 12,342 shares issuable upon conversion of SeriBseerred Shares, (iv) 150,(
shares issuable upon exercise of common stock gsealvarrants, and (v) 75,000 shares subject temtlyrexercisable stock options

(20) Includes 10,700,665 shares issuable uportisgeof a common stock purchase warrant.
(11) Includes 8,184,331 shares issuable uponersion of Series A Preferred Shares.
(12) Includes (i) 907,348 shares issuable upon conveiicseries A Preferred Shares, and (ii) 3,146 dl8fes issuable up

conversion of Series C Preferred Shares.
(13) Includes 2,130,157 shares issuable uponearsion of Series C Preferred Shares.

(14) Includes 2,272,666 shares issuable uponersion of Series C Preferred Shares.
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(15) Includes 1,125,107 shares issuable upon convedi@eries A Preferred Shares and (i) 1,777,862eshessuable up«
conversion of Series C Preferred Shares.

(16) Includes 4,750,000 shares subject to cuyrenercisable stock options.
a7 Includes 1,666,666 shares subject to cuyrenercisable stock options.
(18) Includes 365,000 shares subject to currexityasable stock options.

(29) Includes 225,000 shares subject to currentiyrcisable stock options.

(20) Includes (i) 269,273 shares issuable upon conversfoSeries C Preferred Shares, and (ii) 718,7%0eshsubject
currently exercisable stock options.

(21) Includes 400,000 shares subject to currentiyrcisable stock options.
(22) Includes 207,000 shares subject to currentiyrcisable stock options.
(23) Includes 8,408,690 shares which Directors and ekecofficers have the right to acquire within thext 60 days throug

the conversion of preferred shares and the exeo€isatstanding stock options.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS

On February 10, 2004, the Company consummated \atprioffering of convertible senior secured debesstu(the 200<
Debentures”) in the aggregate principal amountppreximately $12.3 million (the “2004 Debenture €fhg”). The 2004 Debentures wi
issued by the Company pursuant to a certain Debertnd Share Purchase Agreement dated as of Fel@u2004 (the 2004 Purchas
Agreement”)by and among the Company, Care Capital, Essex VdoddlHealth Ventures, Galen Partners and eachegiutthasers listi
on the signature page thereto. Of the approxima3$million in debentures issued on February 1M42under in the 2004 Debent
Offering, approximately $2 million of 2004 Debergarwere issued in exchange for the surrender idaamount of principal plus accrt
and unpaid interest under the Compangonvertible debentures issued to Care Capitabx¢/oodlands Health Ventures and Galen Pai
during November and December, 2003.

Effective August 13, 2004, the 2004 Debenturesloting the principal amount plus interest accruetha date of conversion) we
converted automatically into the Company’s SeriesoAvertible preferred stock (“Series A Preferreafa price per share (th€6nversiol
Price”) of $0.6425, representing the average ofdlesing bid and asked prices of the Compangbmmon Stock for the 20 trading d
ending February 4, 2004, as reported by the OweiGbunter (“OTC")Bulletin Board. Based on the $0.6425 ConversioneRithe Compar
issued on an aggregate of approximately 22 milbares of Series A Preferred of which approxima%eB million, 6.8 million and 6.
million were issued to Care Capital, Essex WoodtaHéalth Ventures and Galen Partners, respectivelyer the 2004 Debentures helc
such parties (representing 23.8%, 30.9% and 30r@%pectively, of the total Series A Preferred isé®iaupon conversion of the 2C
Debentures). The 2004 Purchase Agreement alsoda®vhat the holders of the Series A Preferred blaak the right to vote as part of
single class with all holders of the Companybting securities on all matters to be voted wpsiich security holders. Each holder of Seri
Preferred shall have such number of votes as shall the number of votes he would have had if sudther converted all Series A Prefel
held by such holder into shares of Common Stockeutiately prior to the record date relating to sucte.

As a condition to the completion of the 2004 PusehAgreement, the Company, the investors in thd Z#bentures and the hold
of the Companys outstanding 5% convertible senior secured debesitlue March 31, 2006 issued by the Company iimgltine period fror
1998 through 2003 (collectively, the “1998-2003 Betures”), executed a certain Voting Agreementalaseof February 6, 2004 (th€dting
Agreement”).The Voting Agreement provides that each of Careit@hgEssex Woodlands Health Ventures and GaletnBar (collectively
the “Lead 2004 Investors”) has the right to desigriar nomination one member of the Compargbard of Directors, and that the Lead
Investors collectively may designate one additianamber of the Board (collectively, the “Designge¥he Designees of Care Capital, Es
Woodlands Health Ventures and Galen Partners assigleKarabelas, Thangaraj and Wesson, respectaath of whom are current Bo
members. As of the date of this Report, the calledDesignee of the Lead 2004 Investors had nat beeermined.
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Simultaneous with the execution of a 2004 Purch®geement, and as a condition to the initial clgsof the 2004 Purcha
Agreement, the Company, the investors in the 20@bebtures and each of the holders of the I¥® Debentures executed a cel
Debenture Conversion Agreement dated as of Febfat904 (the “Conversion Agreementif).accordance with the terms of the Conver
Agreement, the 1998-2003 Debentures were convedtmmatically into the Company’s Series B convégtitreferred stock (theSkeries |
Preferred”) and/or the Company’s Series C convertitveferred stock (the “Series C Preferredfe Series B Preferred and the Serit
Preferred are referred to collectively as the “dufireferred Shares&nd the Junior Preferred Shares, together witlfstrees A Preferred &
referred to collectively as the “Preferred Stock”.

As of December 31, 2004, after giving effect to tie@version of the 2004 Debentures and the ¥R Debentures, Care Capl
Essex Woodlands Health Ventures and Galen Partoatsol approximately 14.7%, 17.2% and 46.5%, respely, of the Company voting
securities (or approximately 12.2 %, 15.3 %, 47.9régpectively, after giving effect to the conversof all of the Companyg’ issued ar
outstanding convertible securities).

It was a condition to the completion of the 2004bBmture Offering that the Company’s senior terrmlagreement (theWatsor
Loan Agreement”) with Watson Pharmaceuticals, [f\¢/atson”) be restructured to provide for a reduction in thiegipal amount of th
Watson term loan and for the assignment of the Wviaterm loan as restructured to Care Capital, E¥gesdlands Health Ventures, Ga
Partners and the other investors in the 2004 Debesias of February 10, 2004 (collectively, the t8%a Note Purchasers’ccordingly
simultaneous with the closing of the 2004 Purchisgeeement, each of the Company, Watson and thedivdiete Purchasers executec
Umbrella Agreement dated as of February 10, 2004 {Umbrella Agreement”). The Umbrella Agreemenb\pdes for (i) the Company’
payment to Watson of approximately $4.3 milliorconsideration of amendments to the Watson ternsrintthe aggregate principal amc
of approximately $21.4 million evidencing the Watsterm loan (the “Watson Notes”A) to forgive approximately $16.4 million
indebtedness under that Watson Notes, leaving @ d8lion principal balance, (B) to extend the métudate of the Watson Notes fr
March 31, 2006 to June 30, 2007, (C) to providetfer satisfaction of future interest payments urtberWatson Notes in the form of
Companys Common Stock, and (D) to provide for the forbeaeafrom the exercise of rights and remedies upenotcurrence of certe
events of default under the Watson Notes (the Waléates as so amended, the “2004 Note”), and (ax36hs sale and conveyance of
2004 Note to the Watson Note Purchasers for casbideration of $1.0 million. In addition to Wats@mrgiveness of approximately $1.
million of indebtedness under the Watson Notes;uaitent supply agreements between the Company\atsion were terminated and Wat
waived the dilution protections contained in thernaat previously granted to Watson to purchase @pprately 10.7 million shares
Common Stock, to the extent such dilution protediwere triggered by the transactions contempiatéte 2004 Debenture Offering.

The 2004 Note in the principal amount of $5.0 roilliis secured by a first lien on all of the Comparand its subsidiariesisset:
senior in right of payment and lien priority ovédr @her Company indebtedness, carries a floatatg of interest equal to the prime rate
4.5% and matures on June 30, 2007.

After giving effect to the transactions providedtire Umbrella Agreement, the Watson Note Purchasgnesent the Comparsy’
senior lenders. The allocation of ownership of #0 million 2004 Note among each of the WatsoneN®urchasers was based on
quotient of the principal amount of the 2004 Debess purchased by such Watson Note Purchaseredilig approximately $12.3 millic
representing the aggregate principal amount oR@@ Debentures issued by the Company on Febr@rg0D4. As such, of the $5.0 milli
principal amount of the 2004 Note, approximately3%$2,000, $1,754,000, and $1,754,000, is owed byGbmpany to Care Capital, Es
Woodlands Health Ventures and Galen Partners, cégply (representing approximately 27%, 35% an#3Eespectively, of the 2004 Not

Each of Michael and Susan Weisbrot beneficially amvexcess of 5% of the Compaswoting securities. The Weisbhrots particip:
as an investor in the 2004 Debentures and purctapedtion of the 2004 Note as a member of the Wakéote Purchasers. In addition, €
of Bernard Selz, Hemant and Varsha Shah, Orachegic Partners, L.P. and Michael and Susan Wdjsbazh a beneficial owner of
excess of 5% of the Company’s voting securitieayeaed their respective 1998-2003 DebenturesJatoor Preferred Shares. See “ltem 12-
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners dMahagement and Related Stockholder Matters”.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Audit Fees

The aggregate fees billed for professional servieadered by Grant Thornton, LLP, the Companyrincipal accountant during 2(
and through October 21, 2004, was $209,856 foatftit of the Compang’annual financial statements for the fiscal yealeel December 3
2003 and $31,979 for the review of the financiatestents included in the Company’s Quarterly Raport Form 109 for each of th
quarters ended March 31, 2004 and June 30, 2004.

The aggregate fees billed for professional servieesiered by BDO Seidman, LLP, the Companyincipal accountant commenc
October 22, 2004, was $6,112 for the review of fthancial statements included in the Company’s b report on Form 1@ for the
quarter ended September 30, 2004 and $39,500dautit of the Compang’annual financial statements for the fiscal yeaieel Decemb
31, 2004.

Audit - Related Fees

The aggregate fees billed for professional servieadered by the Comparsyprincipal accountant and which are reasonabbtae
to the performance of the audit or review of therpany’s financial statements and which are not ntepoabove under the captioAuddit
Fees"for each of the fiscal years ended December 313 20@ December 31, 2004 were $10,724 and $12,68pectively, all of which
attributable to Grant Thornton.

These fees relate to services provided in conneetith the audit of the Company’s 401(k) and prefiaring plan.
Tax Fees

The aggregate fees billed for professional servieadered by the Comparsyprincipal accountant for tax compliance, tax aehant
tax planning for the fiscal years ended December28D3 and December 31, 2004 were $55,071 andeBpectively, all of which
attributable to Grant Thornton. These servicegedlto the preparation of various state and Fedaxaleturns.

All Other Fees

There were no fees billed for professional serviemsdered by the Compaisyprincipal accountant for products and sen
provided, other than those described above undecdptions “Audit Fees”, “Audit-Related Fees” afdtX Fees”.

Audit Committee’s Pre-Approval Policies and Procedu

Consistent with policies of the Commission regagd@iiditor independence and the Audit Committee ©hathe Audit Committe
has the responsibility for appointing, setting cemgation and overseeing the work of the indeperaigditor. The Audit Committes’policy
is to pre-approve all audit and permissible noniasetvices provided by the independent auditoe-dpproval is detailed as to the partic
service or category of services and is generalbyesti to a specific budget. The Audit Committee rasp preapprove particular services o
case-byease basis. In assessing requests for servicelsebyndependent auditor, the Audit Committee considenhether such services
consistent with the audit@’independence, whether the independent auditikely to provide the most effective and efficiesdrvice base
upon their familiarity with the Company, and whaetlige service could enhance the Comparapility to manage or control risk or impre
audit quality.

All of the auditrelated, tax and other services provided by Gréatriiton LLP in fiscal year 2003 and 2004 and by B&€man i
2004 and related fees (as described in the capiooee) were approved in advance by the Audit Cdtemi
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AN D REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(a)(1) Consolidated Financial Statements — Seexitdl&inancial Statements.

(a)(2) Consolidated Financial Statement ScheduleSee-Index to Financial Statements

(b)

Exhibits

The following exhibits are included as a part aé thnnual Report on Form 10-K or incorporated heisy reference.

EXHIBIT
NUMBER

DOCUMENT

3.1

3.2

3.3

4.1

4.2

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.5(1)

10.5(2)

Certificate of Incorporation and amendments (inooaped by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registsafinnual Report on 16c
for the year ended December 31, 1999).

Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to BxI3H to the Registrant’'s Quarterly Report on Fd6Q for the quarte
ended June 30, 1993).

Restated By-Laws (incorporated by reference to EkI3.3 to the Registrant’s Annual Report FormKL@er the year ende
December 31, 1998 (the “1998 Form 10-K")).

Form of 5% Convertible Senior Secured Debentureofiporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Regd’s Current Report ¢
Form 8-K dated December 20, 2002 (the “Decembe Zafiim 8-K")).

Form of Convertible Senior Secured Debenture isqugduant to the Debenture and Share Purchase mAgreedated as
February 6, 2004 (incorporated by reference to lkHi.1 of the Registrant’'s Current Report on F@{ dated February 1
2004 (the “February 2004 Form 8-K”)

Credit Agreement, dated as of December 22, 1992ngrthe Registrant and The Chase Manhattan Bawk, (Kwcorporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’'s AdriR@port on Form 10-K for the year ended Decemlier992 (the 1992 Forn
10-K")).

Amendment Two, dated as of January 12, 1994, tdiCAgireement among the Registrant and The ChaseéhMtean Bank, N.A
together with forms of Stock Warrant and RegistratRights Agreement (incorporated by reference xbiliit 10.1 to th
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for theryeaded December 31, 1993 (the “1993 Form 10-K")).

Amendment Three, dated as of May 31, 1994, to Creglieement among the Registrant and The Chase afmmhBank, N./
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 6(a) to thegRtrant’s Quarterly Report on Form @@for the quarter ended March
1994).

Amendment Four, dated as of July 1994, to CrediteAment among the Registrant and The Chase ManhB#ak, N.A
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 6(a) to thegRtrant’s Quarterly Report on Form Q0for the quarter ended June 30, 19

Amendment Five, dated as of March 21, 1995, to i€Agieement among the Registrant and The Chaséhitan Bank, N./
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to thegRtrant’'s Current Report on Form 8-K dated Ma2dh 1995 (the Marct
1995 8-K")).

Form of Warrants issued to The Bank of New Yorke TBhase Manhattan Bank, N.A. and the Israel DiscBank (incorporate
by reference to Exhibit 10.5(i) to the Registra{tnual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddner 31, 1995 (thel99t
Form 10-K")).

Letter Agreement, dated July 10, 1995, among thgisRant, The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A., The Baihklew York ani



10.5(3)

10.5(4)

Israel Discount Bank of New York (incorporated Igfaerence to Exhibit 6(a) to the Registrant’'s QuéytBeport on Form 1@
for the quarter ended June 30, 1995 (the “June 1999")).

Letter Agreement, dated November 16, 1995, amoadRibgistrant, Inc., The Chase Manhattan Bank, NIAg Bank of Ne\
York and Israel Discount Bank of New York (incorpterd by reference to Exhibit 10.25(iv) to the 1995K).

Amendment 6, dated as of August 6, 1996, to Credieement among The Registrant, The Chase ManhB#ak, N.A., Th
Bank of New York and Israel Discount Bank of Newrkdincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to @éamdment No. 1 to tt
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for dluarter ended June 30, 1996 (the “June 1996 10-Q").
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EXHIBIT
NUMBER

DOCUMENT

10.5(5)

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.10(1)

10.10(2)

10.10(3)

10.11

10.12

10.12(l)

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

Letter Agreement, dated March 25, 1997 among ttgisRant, The Chase Manhattan Bank, as successuateiest to The Cha
Manhattan Bank (National Association), The Bankefv York and Israel Discount Bank.

Agreement Regarding Release of Security Intereateddas of March 21,1995 by and among the Registhallinckrod!
Chemical Acquisition, Inc. and The Chase ManhaBank, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibita6f the March 1995 8-
K).

Consulting Agreement dated as of September, 198@lea the Registrant and Joseph F. Limongelli fipe@ted by reference
Exhibit 10.6 to the 1993 Form 10-K).

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 118988yeen the Registrant and Rosendo Ferran (incatgubiby reference
Exhibit 10.2 to the 1992 Form 10-K).

Registrant’s 1984 Stock Option Plan, as amendeorated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the 186&n 10-K).

Registrant’s 1995 Stock Option and Restricted Sfégichase Plan (incorporated by reference to EixAitiito the Registrargt’
Registration Statement on Form S-8, File No. 339833

Registrant’s Non-Employee Director Stock OptionrPla

Leases, effective February 13, 1989 and JanuardQ0, respectively, among the Registrant and MillorAckerman, St
Ackerman, Lee Hinderstein, Thelma Hinderstein andriMn Weiss (incorporated by reference to Exhii6 and 10.
respectively, to the Registrant’'s Annual ReporfFonm 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1989).

Lease, effective as of April 15, 1988, among thgi&eant and Milton J. Ackerman, Sue Ackerman, Hiederstein, Thelr
Hinderstein and Marilyn Weiss, and Rider theretmwdrporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to thgifeants Annual Repo
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1987).

Lease, as of October 31, 1994, among Registrantiloin J. Ackerman, Sue Ackerman, Lee Hinderstd@inelma Hinderste
and Marilyn Weiss, together with Modification, Cofidation and Extension Agreement (incorporatedréference to Exhik
10.12(i) to the 1995 Form 10-K).

Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of March 21, H®&ng Mallinckrodt Chemical Acquisition, Inc. (“4aisition”),
Mallinckrodt Chemical, Inc., as guarantor and tlegiRtrant (incorporated by reference to ExhibitL1t0.the March 1995 8-K).

Toll Manufacturing Agreement for APAP/Oxycodone Tedb dated as of March 21, 1995 between Acquisiiod the Registra
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to tharth 8-K).

Capsule ANDA Option Agreement dated as of March1®B5 between Acquisition and the Registrant (ipocated by referen
to Exhibit 10.3 to the March 1995 8-K).

Tablet ANDA Noncompetition Agreement dated as ofrdha21, 1995 between the Registrant and Acquisiiiocorporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the March 1995 8-K).

Subordinated NomNegotiable Promissory Term Note in the amount g28Q,00 dated March 21, 1995 issued by the Registt
Acquisition (incorporated by reference to Exhitit3 to the March 1995 8-K).

Term Note Security Agreement dated as of March1®B5 among the Company, Houba, Inc. and Acquisiiiocorporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the March 1995 8-K).

Amendment dated March 21, 1995 to SubordinationeAgrent dated as of July 21, 1994 between Mallirtk@hemical, Inc
Acquisition, the Registrant, The Chase ManhattankB&lational Association), Israel Discount BankN#w York, The Bank ¢



New York, and The Chase Manhattan Bank (Nationalomtion) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit8lth the March 19¢
8-K).

10.20 Agreement dated as of March 30, 1995 between tigésiRant and Zatpack, Inc. (incorporated by refeesto Exhibit 10.10 to tt
March 1995 8-K).

10.21 Waiver and Termination Agreement dated as of M&@h1995 between Zuellig Group, W.A., Inc. and &mdi Fine Chemice
Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibitll to the March 1995 8-K).
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EXHIBIT
NUMBER

DOCUMENT

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39

10.40

10.41

Convertible Subordinated Note of the Registranedddecember 1, 1994 issued to Zatpack, Inc. (irmretpd by reference
Exhibit 10.12 to the March 1995 8-K).

Agreement dated as of March 30, 1995 among thesRagt, Indiana Fine Chemicals Corporation, ZueBigup, N.A., Inc
Houba Inc., Zetapharm, Inc. and Zuellig Botanitat, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13he March 1995 8-K).

Supply Agreement dated as of March 30, 1995 betwémrba, Inc. and ZetaPharm, Inc. (incorporateddfgrence to Exhikt
10.14 to the March 1995 8-K).

Form of 10% Convertible Subordinated Debenturedfiporated by reference to Exhibit 6(a) to the JL@@5 10-Q).
Form of Redeemable Common Stock Purchase Warrardrfiorated by reference to Exhibit 6(a) to theeJU®95 10-Q).

Form of 10% Convertible Subordinated Debenturecfiporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Regidts Current Report ¢
Form 8-K dated December 4, 1995 (the “December BOB5)).

Form of Redeemable Common Stock Purchase Warrardrfiorated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Dawer 1995 8-K).
Form of 10% Convertible Subordinated Debenturedfiporated by reference to Exhibit 99 to the Jur@6180-Q).

Form of Redeemable Common Stock Purchase Warrastrfiorated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Amendnim 1 to the Jur
1996 10-Q).

Form of 5% Convertible Senior Secured Debentureofiporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Regd’s Current Report ¢
Form 8-K dated March 24, 1998 (the “March 1998 §)K”

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant (incorporbyeference to Exhibit 4.2 to the March 1998 8-K)

Debenture and Warrant Purchase Agreement datechM#&c1998, by and among the Registrant, Galemé&arill, L.P. and tt
other Purchasers listed on the signature pagetth@neorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 te kharch 1998 8-K).

Form of General Security Agreement of Registraneédidarch 10, 1998 (incorporated by reference thiltik10.2 to the Marc
1998 8-K).

Form of Agreement of Guaranty of Subsidiaries ofjiRteant dated March 10, 1998 (incorporated byresfee to Exhibit 10.3
the March 1998 8-K).

Form of Guarantor General Security Agreement ddfadch 10, 1998 (incorporated by reference to Exhibi4 to the Marc
1998 8-K).

Stock Pledge Agreement dated March 10, 1998 bybatdeen the Registrant and Galen Partners I, a$agent (incorporat
by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the March 1998 8-K)

Form of Irrevocable Proxy Agreement (incorporatgdadference to Exhibit 10.6 to the March 1998 8-K).

Agency Letter Agreement dated March 10, 1998 by amdng the purchasers a party to the Debenturé\ardant Purcha:
Agreement, dated March 10, 1998 (incorporated fareace to Exhibit 10.7 to the March 1998 8-K).

Press Release of Registrant dated March 13, 1888rfiorated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the tiak998 8-K).

Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by the Registraith the Securities and Exchange Commission anchl 24, 1998.



10.42 Letter Agreement between the Registrant and the DePartment of Justice dated March 27, 1998 rejab the restructuring
the fine assessed by the Department of Justicer tinelé’lea Agreement dated June 21, 1993.

10.43 Employment Agreement dated as of March 10, 199&dt the Registrant and Michael K. Reicher (incoafam by reference
Exhibit 10.43 to the Registrant’s Annual Reporfofm 10-K for the year ended December 31, 19978687 Form 10-K")).

10.44 Employment Agreement dated as of March 10, 1998/dwn the Registrant and Peter Clemens (incorpolatetference 1
Exhibit 10.44 to the 1997 Form 10-K).
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EXHIBIT
NUMBER

DOCUMENT

10.45

10.46

10.47

10.48

10.49

10.50

10.51

10.52

10.53

10.54

10.55

10.56

10.57

10.58

10.59

10.60

10.61

10.62

Amended, Restated and Consolidated Bridge Loan ékgeat dated as of December 2, 1998 between thestRedi Gale
Partners 1ll, L.P., Galen Partners Internationd) LI.P., Galen Employee Fund lll, L.P. and the otlsgnatures there
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.45 to 1888 Form 10-K).

First Amendment to Amended, Restated and Conselid&ridge Loan Agreement dated December 7, 199@%deat th
Registrant and the lenders listed on the signatage thereto (incorporated by reference to ExAibid6 to the 1998 Form 1K))-

Second Amendment to Amended, Restated and Contaliéidge Loan Agreement dated March 8, 1999 betvike Registra
and the lenders listed on the signature page théretorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.47 ® 1998 Form 10-K).

Form of 10% Convertible Secured Note due May 3091@ncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.48n® 1998 Form 10-K).

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued pardaosbe Amended, Restated and Consolidated Biidg® Agreemer
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.49 to 1888 Form 10-K).

Amended and Restated General Security Agreemeet da¢cember 2, 1998 between the Company and Galgners 1II, L.P.
as Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit @@cbthe 1998 Form 10-K).

Subordination Agreement dated December 2, 1998dmtwhe Registrant and Galen Partners I, L.PAgent (incorporated
reference to Exhibit 10.51 to the 1998 Form 10-K).

Agency Letter Agreement dated December 2, 1998nblyaanong the lenders a party to the Amended, Restatd Consolidat
Bridge Loan Agreement, as amended (incorporategfgyence to Exhibit 10.52 to the 1998 Form 10-K).

Lease Agreement dated March 17, 1999 between tlggstRent and Par Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorpdrée reference
Exhibit 10.53 to the 1998 Form 10-K).

Lease Agreement dated September 1, 1998 betweeRebistrant and Crimson Ridge Partners (incorpdrate reference !
Exhibit 10.54 to the 1998 Form 10-K).

Manufacturing and Supply Agreement dated March1BB9 between the Registrant and Par Pharmaceytinalsincorporate
by reference to Exhibit 10.55 to the 1998 Form 10-K

Registrant’s 1998 Stock Option Plan (incorporateddierence to Exhibit 10.56 to the 1998 Form 10-K)

Loan Agreement dated March 29, 2000 between thésRagt and Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incotedréy reference
Exhibit 10.57 to the Registrant’s Current Report-amm 8-K dated March 29, 2000 (the “March 20008}

Amendment to Loan Agreement dated March 31, 200@den the Registrant and Watson Pharmaceuticals(ihrcorporated t
reference to Exhibit 10.58 to the March 2000 8-K).

Secured Promissory Note in the principal amoun$bf,500,000 issued by the Registrant, as the makegavor of Watso
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. dated March 31, 2000 (inaaited by reference to Exhibit 10.59 to the MarcB®8-K).

Watson Security Agreement dated March 29, 2000 &etwthe Registrant and Watson Pharmaceuticals (imeorporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.60 to the March 2000 8-K).

Stock Pledge Agreement dated March 29, 2000 betweerRegistrant and Watson Pharmaceuticals, Imcofporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.61 to the March 2000 8-K).

Watson Guarantee dated March 29, 2000 between Hdutaand Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as theagtars, in favor ¢



10.63

10.64

10.65

Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by esfe to Exhibit 10.62 to the March 2000 8-K).

Watsons Guarantors Security Agreement dated March 29,0206tween the Registrant, Houba, Inc. and Wi
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by referendextubit 10.63 to the March 2000 8-K).

Subordination Agreement dated March 29, 2000 byandng the Registrant, Watson Pharmaceuticals,aim¢.the holders

the Registrans outstanding 5% convertible debentures due Maé;2@03. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 406 the
March 2000 8-K).+

Real Estate Mortgage dated March 29, 2000 betwerrb&l Inc. and Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (iraratpd by reference
Exhibit 10.65 to the March 2000 8-K).
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EXHIBIT
NUMBER

DOCUMENT

10.66

10.67

10.68

10.69

10.70

10.71

10.72

10.73

10.74

10.75

10.76

10.77

10.78

10.79

10.80

10.81

10.82

Subordination Agreement by and among Houba, Inele® Partners, I, L.P., Oracle Strategic Partn&r®. and Watsc
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by referendextubit 10.66 to the March 2000 8-K).

Product Purchase Agreement dated March 29, 200@ebeatthe Registrant and Watson Pharmaceuticals (imeorporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.67 to the March, 2000 8+K).

Finished Goods Supply Agreement dated March 290 2@dween the Registrant and Watson Pharmaceuytinals(incorporate
by reference to Exhibit 10.68 to the March 2000)8+K

Active Ingredient Supply Agreement dated March 2800 between the Registrant and Watson Pharmaaks,titnc
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.69 toMmerch 2000 8-K).+

Right of First Negotiation Agreement dated March, 2000 between the Registrant and Watson Pharmeaksytinc
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.70 to therch 2000 8-K).+

Finished Goods Supply Agreement (Core Product®dditarch 29, 2000 between the Registrant and Wa&banmaceutical
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.71he March 2000 8-K).+

Debenture and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated?Blal©Q99 by and among the Registrant, Oracle $jiakRartners, L.P. ai
the other purchasers listed on the signature gegyetop (the “Oracle Purchase Agreemenitiydrporated by reference to Exh
10.72 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on FornKifer the year ended December 31,1999 (the “1998nF0-K")).

Form of 5% Convertible Senior Secured Debentungedpursuant to the Oracle Purchase Agreementrocated by referen
to Exhibit 10.73 the 1999 Form 10-K).

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued pordwathe Oracle Purchase Agreement (incorporatedeference t
Exhibit 10.74 to the 1999 Form 10-K).

Lease Termination and Settlement Agreement datectiV20, 2000 between the Registrant and Atlantap@rties Company
respect of the Registrant’s Brooklyn, New York kedacility (incorporated by reference to Exhibt 25 to the 1999 Form 10-
K).

Debenture Purchase Agreement dated December 20,[808nd among the Registrant, Care Capital Investall, LP, Esse
Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P. and the otheclpasers listed on the signature page thereto @8e2' Debentureholders”
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thegRtrant’'s current report on FormkB-dated December 27, 2002 (
“December 2002 Form 8-K")).

Form of General Security Agreement dated Decemlier 2002 between the Registrant and the 2002 Detmntlder.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to thec®mber 2002 Form 8-K).

Form of Agreement of Guaranty of Subsidiaries & Registrant dated December 20, 2002 between Hdbubathe Registra
and the 2002 Debentureholders (incorporated byerée to Exhibit 10.3 to the December 2002 Form)8-K

Form of Guarantor General Security Agreement betvike Guarantors and the 2002 Debentureholderd @eeember 20, 20
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to thec@mber 2002 Form 8-K).

Stock Pledge Agreement dated December 20, 2002ndybatween the Registrant and Galen Partners IR,,las age
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to thec@mber 2002 Form 8-K).

Voting Agreement dated December 20, 2002 (incortpdray reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Decemb@&220orm 8-K).

Debentureholders Agreement dated December 20, @€&porated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to trec®mber 2002 Form 8-



10.83

10.84

K).

Amendment to Debenture and Warrant Purchase Agrmaeneéween the Registrant, Galen Partners lll, &rfél other signatori
thereto, dated December 20, 2002, amending theribafgeand Warrant Purchase Agreement dated March98® between tl
Company, Galen Partners lIll, L.P. and the othenatigries thereto (incorporated by reference to l&Hi0.8 to the Decemk
2002 Form 8-K).

Amendment to Debenture and Warrant Purchase Agmelbeéween the Registrant, Oracle Strategic PatheP. and the oth
signatories thereto, dated December 20, 2002, aimgeride Debenture and Warrant Purchase Agreemead dday 26, 199
between the Company, Oracle Strategic Partners,dné the other signatories thereto (incorporateceberence to Exhibit 10
to the December 2002 Form 8-K).
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EXHIBIT
NUMBER

DOCUMENT

10.85

10.86

10.87

10.88

10.89

10.90

10.91

10.92

10.93

10.94

10.95

10.96

10.97

10.98

10.99

Amended and Restated 5% Convertible Senior Seddednture due March 31, 2006 (incorporated by eefsg to Exhib
10.10 to the December 2002 Form 8-K).

Second Amendment to Loan Agreement dated Decenfhe2@2, between the Registrant and Watson Phautieals, Inc.
amending the Loan Agreement dated March 29, 2000dam the Registrant and Watson Pharmaceuticals(itrcorporated
reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the December 2002rF8K).

Amended and Restated Secured Promissory Note da¢edmber 20, 2002, issued by the Registrant inrfafoWatsol
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. in the principal amount $@,800 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10td2he December 20
Form 8-K).

Second Amendment to Finished Goods Supply Agreei@are Products) dated December 20, 2002, betweeRegistrant ar
Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. amending the Finishedds Supply Agreement (Core Products) dated Mas;h2000 200
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 toEreeember 2002 Form 8-K).

Watson Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated Dece2fb@002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibitlao the Decemb
2002 Form 8-K).

Registration Rights Agreement dated December 202 Zibicorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15h® December 2002 Fo
8-K).

Warrant Recapitalization Agreement dated DecemBef@02 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1Gd $he December 20
Form 8-K).

Debenture and Share Purchase Agreement dated-abfary 6, 2004 by and among the Registrant, Capital Investments,
LP, Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P., G&anners lll, L.P. and the other purchasers listedhe signature pa
thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1i®.the Registrant’s current report on Fornk &ated February 10, 2004 (
“February 2004 Form 8-K").

Debenture Conversion Agreement dated as of FebiaPp04 by and among the Registrant, Care Cajitdex Woodland
Galen Partners and the other signatories themetorforated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of thergaty 2004 Form 8-K).

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatibthe Registrant (incorporated by reference to BixHi0.3 of the Februa
2004 Form 8-K).

Investor Rights Agreement dated as of February0842y and among the Registrant, Care Capital,xE®ésodlands, Gale
Partners and the other signatories thereto (incatpd by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Febri§4 Form 8-K).

Amended and Restated Voting Agreement dated asebfuBry 6, 2004 by and among the Registrant, Cagit&, Esse
Woodlands, Galen Partners and the other signattrésto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16f.the February 2004 Fol
8-K).

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreerdatdéd as of February 6, 2004 by and among the Ragis Watso
Pharmaceuticals, Care Capital, Essex Woodlandgn@artners and the other signatories theretorfiocated by reference
Exhibit 10.6 of the February 2004 Form 8-K).

Amended and Restated Subordination Agreement dested February 6, 2004 by and among the Regist@are Capital, Ess
Woodlands, Galen Partners and the other signatthégsto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1df.the February 2004 Fo
8-K).

Company General Security Agreement (incorporatetefsrence to Exhibit 10.8 of the February 2004nfr8¢K).



10.100

10.101

10.102

10.103

Form of Unconditional Agreement of Guaranty (inamgted by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of the Febriz094 Form 8-K).
Form of Guarantor Security Agreement (incorpordtedeference to Exhibit 10.10 of the February 2664m 8-K).

Stock Pledge Agreement dated as of February 6, B9Gahd between the Registrant and Galen Partagragent (incorporat
by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of the February 2664m 8-K).

Umbrella Agreement dated as of February 6, 2004y among the Registrant, Watson Pharmaceutical® Capital, Essi
Woodlands, Galen Partners and the other signatthi@zeto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 200f the February 20(
Form 8-K).
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EXHIBIT
NUMBER

DOCUMENT

10.104

10.105

10.106

10.107

10.108

10.109

10.110

10.111

10.112

10.113

10.114

10.115

10.116

10.117

10.118

10.119

Third Amendment to Loan Agreement dated as of Falyré, 2004 by and among the Registrant and Wa@rmaceutica
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 of Badruary 2004 Form 8-K).

Amended and Restated Promissory Note in the pahamount of $5,000,000 issued by the Registrarfavor of Watso
Pharmaceuticals (incorporated by reference to Exhib14 of the February 2004 Form 8-K).

Hydrocodone APl Supply Option Agreement dated aBaifruary 6, 2004 between the Registrant and Wa@sammaceutica
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 of Bedruary 2004 Form 8-K).

Noteholders Agreement dated as of February 6, 2804nd among the Registrant, Care Capital, Essendidnds, Gale
Partners and the other signatories thereto (incatpd by reference to Exhibit 10.16 of the Febr2@94 Form 8-K).

Asset Purchase Agreement dated March 19, 2004 tyaamong the Registrant, Axiom Pharmaceutical Catfpam and IVAX
Pharmaceuticals New York LLC (incorporated by refie to Exhibit 2.1 of the Registrant’s FornK8led March 25, 2004 (tt
“March 2004 Form 8-K")).

Voting Agreement dated March 19, 2004 by and amibreg Registrant, IVAX Pharmaceuticals New York LL@dacertail
holders of Halsey Drug Co., Inc. voting securifieEorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of tharbh 2004 Form 8-K).

Use and License Agreement dated March 19, 200hbdyamong the Registrant, Axiom Pharmaceutical Qatgm and IVAX
Pharmaceuticals New York LLC (incorporated by refee to Exhibit 10.2 of the March 2004 Form 8-K.)

Executive Employment Agreement dated as of Noveni8er2002 between the Registrant and Vijai Kumacdiporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s QarytReport on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Bhe2004 (the June 200
10-Q")).

Executive Employment Agreement dated as of Aug8s2R03 between the Registrant and Andrew D. Ré&d@lcorporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to June 2004 10-Q).

Executive Employment Agreement dated as of AprR@)4 between the Registrant and Ron J. Spiveyijiacated by referen
to Exhibit 10.3 to June 2004 10-Q).

Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement betwHen Registrant and Andrew D. Reddick, dated May 270«
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to JR@e4 10-Q).

Separation Agreement and General Release datecerSiegt 18, 2003 between the Registrant and MichaeR&che
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to JR@e4 10-Q).

First Amendment to Separation Agreement and Gerieldase between the Registrant and Michael K.Heeidecember
2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6uoe 2004 10-Q).

Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of FebruaryQD8, By and between the Registrant and Mutual Phaautizal Compan
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. dtme 2004 10-Q).

Amendment to Debenture and Share Purchase Agredmgearid among the Registrant, Care Capital Invastsni, LP, Esse
Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P. and other sigiesahereto, dated as of June 1, 2004 (incorpdrayereference to Exhit
10.8 to June 2004 10-Q).

First Amendment to Debenture Purchase Agreementiriyy among the Registrant, Galen Partner lll, L@are Capit:
Investments Il, LP, Essex Woodlands Health Ventwed. .P. and other signatories thereto, dated af\udust 11, 200
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to JR@e4 10-Q).



10.120

14

21

*23.1

Letter of Support from Galen Partner Ill, L.P., E&apital Investments I, LP, and Essex Woodlanealtd Ventures V, L.P.
the Registrant, dated May 5, 2003 (incorporatedefigrence to Exhibit 10.10 to June 2004 10-Q).

Code of Ethics (incorporated by reference to ExHildi of the Registrant’'s Form 10-K filed April _2004 (the “2003 Form 10-
K").

Subsidiaries of the Registrant (incorporated bgneice to Exhibit 22 to the 1993 Form 10-K).

Consent of Grant Thornton LLP, independent cedifieiblic accountants, to the incorporation by refiee of its report to tl
consolidated financial statements of the Registcamtained in its Form 1B-for the year ended December 31, 2003, intc
Registrant’s Registration Statements on Form Sefji®ration Nos. 333-63288 and 33-98356).
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EXHIBIT
NUMBER

DOCUMENT

*23.2

*31.1

*31.2

*32.1

*32.2

Consent of BDO Seidman LLP, independent certifieblioc accountants, to the incorporation by refeeent its report to tt
consolidated financial statements of the Registcantained in its Form 1B-for the year ended December 31, 2004, intc
Registrant’s Registration Statements on Form Sefji®ration Nos. 333-63288 and 33-98356).

Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Executi@dficer pursuant to Rule 13a-14 and 1B#lof the Securities Exchange Ac
1934.

Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Financ@fficer pursuant to Rule 13a-14 and 1b#tlof the Securities Exchange Ac
1934.

Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Executi@ficer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, aspsatb pursuant to Secti
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Financifficer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, agpsetbpursuant to Section ¢
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Filed herewith

+ A portion of this exhibit has been omitted pursu® an application for confidential treatmentguant to Rule 248B-of the Securitie
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&fdhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this reg
to be signed on its behalf by the undersignedeti@o duly authorized.

ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

Date: February 25 , 2005 By: /s/ ANDREW D. REDDICK

Andrew D. Reddicl
President and Chief Executive Offi¢(Principal Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons «
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities@mthe dates indicated.

/s/ Andrew D. Reddick

Andrew D. Reddick President, Chief Executive Officer February 25, 2005
and Director

/sl William G. Skelly
William G. Skelly Director February 25, 2005

/sl Peter Clemens
Peter Clemens Senior Vice President and Chief February 25, 2005
Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting

Officer)
/s/ Bruce F. Wesson
Bruce F. Wesson Director February 25, 2005
/s/ William Sumner
William Sumner Director February 25, 2005
Jerry Karabelas Director February __ , 2005
/sl Immanuel Thangaraj February 25 , 2005

Immanuel Thangaraj Director




INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Page

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accourfings F—g -F-3
Consolidated Balance Sheets F-4 - F-5
Consolidated Statements of Operations F-6
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equityi¢ide F-7
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows F-8 - F-12
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem F-13 - F-29
Schedule Il - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts F-30




Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Palatine, lllinois

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheet of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of Dbeerl, 2004 and the rela
consolidated statements of operations, stockhdldeftcit, and cash flows for the year then ended.Néke also audited the schedule liste
the accompanying index. These financial statemamdsthe financial statement schedule are the reggtity of the Companys managemer
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on ¢hfisancial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadedof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@q®@nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether the finas@tments are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes consideration ¢érimal control over financial reporting as a bdsisdesigning audit procedures that
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for thgpse of expressing an opinion of the effectiverefsthe company's internal control ¢
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no Isupinion. An audit also includes examining, oneattbasis, evidence supporting
amounts and disclosures in the financial statemeastsessing the accounting principles used andfisart estimates made by managerr
as well as evaluating the overall financial statehpeesentation. We believe that our audit provalesasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaaeferred to above present fairly, in all materéspects, the financial position of Ac
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. at December 31, 2004, andethdts of its operations and its cash flows far year then endedn conformity witk
accounting principles generally accepted in thetdthStates of America.

The accompanying financial statements have begraprd assuming that the Company will continue gsiiag concern. As discussed in N
B to the financial statements, the Company hassedfrecurring losses from operations and has aapétal deficiency that raise substar
doubt about its ability to continue as a going @nc Managemenrd’ plans in regard to these matters are also desciib Note B. Th
financial statements do not include any adjustm#érasmight result from the outcome of this undetia

Also, in our opinion, the schedule presents fairyall material respects, the information setldherein.

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLI

Chicago, lllinois
February 9, 2005




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Directors and Stockholders
ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineet of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc and Subgdiéormerly Halsey Drug Co., Ir
and Subsidiaries) (the "Company") as of December2®D3 , and the related consolidated statementspefations, shareholders' eq
(deficit) and cash flows for the years ended Decan®i, 2003 and 2002. These financial statemeptsharresponsibility of the Compar
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these financial statements based on outsaud

We conducted our audits in accordance with starsdafdhe Public Compangccounting Oversight Board (United States). Thasedard
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether the finas@gments are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on &ltesis, evidence supporting the amounts and disads in the financial statements.
audit also includes assessing the accounting piegiused and significant estimates made by maregemms well as evaluating the ove
financial statement presentation. We believe thataodits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, the financial statements referredabove present fairly, in all material respedtg, tonsolidated financial position of Ac
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiaries at Dece®ihe?003, and the results of their operations aed tonsolidated cash flows for eacl
the two years in the period ended December 31, ,2@08onformity with accounting principles geneyaliccepted in the United States
America.

We have also audited the consolidated financiaéstant schedule listed in the Index at Iltem 15faPthe years ended December 31, -
and 2002. In our opinion, this schedule, when aersid in relation to the basic consolidated finainsiatements taken as a whole, pre:
fairly, in all material respects, the informaticet $orth therein.

The accompanying consolidated financial statembat®e been prepared assuming that the Company evitintie as a going concern.
discussed in Note B, the Company incurred a net t6s$48,455,000 during the year ended Decembel@23, and, as of that date,
Company's current liabilities exceeded its curasgets by $3,770,000, and its total liabilitieseeded its total assets by $52,067,000. T
factors, among others, as discussed in Note Beditlancial statements, raise substantial doubttathe Company's ability to continue &
going concern. Management's plans in regard toetimestters are also described in Note B. The firzrgtatements do not include i
adjustments that might result from the outcoméehisf tincertainty.

/sl GRANT THORNTON LLP

New York, New York
February 26, 2004, except for Note E, as to whiehdate is March 19, 2004
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable - net of allowance for
doubtful accounts of $428 in 2003
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets
PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT, NET
DEFERRED PRIVATE DEBT OFFERING COSTS,
net of accumulated amortization of $318

in 2003

OTHER ASSETS AND DEPOSITS

TOTAL ASSETS

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteiements.

DECEMBER 31,
(in thousands)

2004 2003
$ 3,10¢ 942
- 467
- 312
307 401
3,41( 2,12z
1,55¢ 3,39¢
- 714
2 392
$ 4,967 6,622
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (CONTINUED)

DECEMBER 31,
(in thousands, except share data)

2004 2003
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current maturities of capital lease obligations $ 29 % 45
Accounts payable - 1,89t
Accrued interest - 1,544
Accrued expenses 95¢ 2,10¢
Department of Justice settlement - 30C
Total current liabilities 98¢ 5,892
SENIOR SECURED TERM NOTE PAYABLE 5,00( 21,40:
BRIDGE LOANS - 2,00(
Less: debt discount - (56€)
- 1,432
CONVERTIBLE SUBORDINATED DEBENTURES - 86,63
Less: debt discount - (56,897
- 29,73¢
CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS, less current maturities 64 92
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE SETTLEMENT, less current [pamt - 13¢

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Common stock - $.01 par value; authorized
650,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding,
22,466,967 and 21,601,704 shares in 2004
and 2003, respectively 22¢ 21€
Convertible Preferred stock - $.01 par value; atitieol
290,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding,
217,972,986 and 0 shares in 2004

and 2003, respectively 2,18( -
Additional paid-in capital 276,05: 157,26.
Accumulated deficit (279,547 (209,54%)
STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT (1,08%) (52,067
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS'’ DEFICIT $ 4,967 $ 6,622

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,
(in thousands, except per share data)

2004 2003 2002
Net product revenue $ 83t $ 575( $ 8,20t
Cost of manufacturing 1,43t 11,70¢ 12,53t
Research and development 4,13( 1,46(C 1,517
Selling, marketing, general and administrative 5,23¢ 7,90z 7,21¢€
Plant shutdown costs (benefit) - 1,92¢ (12€)
Loss from operations (9,965 (17,249 (12,937
Other income (expense)
Interest expense (2,962 (6,007 (4,72%)
Interest income 58 25 15
Amortization and write-off of deferred debt discoand private debt offering
costs (72,49) (24,77 (12,559
Loss on extinguishment of debt - - (28,41Y
Gain on debt restructure 12,40 - -
Gain on asset disposals 2,35¢ - -
Other 602 (464) (96€)
NET LOSS $ (69,996 $ (48,455 $ (59,589
Basic and diluted loss per Common share $ (3.20) $ (2.2¢) $ (3.90)
Weighted average number of outstanding Common share 21,86 21,227 15,26:

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbesteiements .
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEF ICIT)

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
(in thousands, except per share data)

Convertible
Common Stock Preferred Stock
$.01 par value $.01 par value
Additional
Paid-in  Accumulated
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Total
Balance at January 1, 2002 15,06t $ 151 -$ -$ 3591+$ (101,50)%(65,43¢)
Net loss for the year ended December 31, - (59,589 (59,589
Issuance of Common Shares in exchange for warrants 5,97( 60 2,22z 2,28
Beneficial conversion features in connection with
debentures 74,61¢ 74,61¢
Issuance of warrant in connection with extension of
maturity date of term loan 11,98t 11,98¢
Issuance warrant in connection with bridge loans 5,11¢ 511¢
Beneficial conversion features in connection witsuiance
of bridge loans 3,74¢ 3,74¢
Modifications of terms of existing warrants 15,01: 15,01:
Balance at December 31, 2002 21,03t 211 -$ -$ 148,61: % (161,09)% (12,26%)
Net loss for the year ended December 31, - (48,455 (48,45%
Conversion of debentures 567 5 32z 327
Issuance of warrant for lending commitm: 581 581
Beneficial conversion features in connection wigt 7,17¢ 7,17¢
Issuance of warrant in severance 11z 11z
Increase in fair value of warrants 457 457

Balance at December 31, 20C 21,60z $ 21¢ -$ -$ 157,26: $ (209,54! $(52,06:



See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbesteiements .
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEF ICIT) (CONTINUED)

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
(in thousands, except per share data)

Convertible
Common Stock  Preferred Stock
$.01 par value $.01 par value
Additional
Shares Amount Shares Amount  pgid-in  Accumulated
Capital Deficit Total
Balance at December 31, 2003 (cont'd) 21,60: $ 21¢€ -3 -$ 157,26: % (209,54)%(52,06)

Net loss for year ended December 31, 2
Issuance of Common Shares for payment of interest 86& 9 391
Fair value of options issued to employees 2,007

Issuance of Series A Convertible Preferred Shares f
convertible debentures 21,96¢ 22C 13,89:

Issuance of Series B Junior Convertible Preferiteat&s
for convertible debentures 20,24¢ 20¢< 6,722

Issuance of Series C-1 Junior Convertible PrefeBieales
for convertible debentures 56,42: 564 32,02¢

Issuance of Series C-2 Junior Convertible Prefetteales
for convertible debentures 37,43: 374 22,05¢

Issuance of Series C-3 Junior Convertible PrefeBieales
for convertible debentures 81,907 81¢ 27,69:¢

Beneficial conversion features in conjunction wigthuance
of convertible debentures 14,00(

Balance at December 31, 2004 22,467 % 22 21797.$ 2,18($ 276,05 %

(69,996 (69,996
40¢

2,007

14,11:

6,92t

32,58¢

22,43

28,51

14,00(

(279,54)% (1,085

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteigements .
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002

(in thousands, except supplemental data)

Cash flows from Operating Activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash irsegerating activities
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of deferred debt discount and privéébt offering
costs
Write off unamortized deferred debt discount aridgte debt
offering costs
Non-cash compensation charge on options
Gain on debt restructuring
Gain on Department of Justice settlement
Amortization of deferred product acquisition costs
Provision for losses on accounts receivable
(Gain) loss on assets disposals
Debentures and stock issued for interest expense
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Change in fair value of warrants due to modificatid terms
Write-down of investment in affiliate
Impairment reserve against assets
Changes in assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets and deposits
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses

Total adjustments
Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures
Proceeds from asset disposals

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Cash flows from Financing Activities:
Payments on senior secured term note payable
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable
Payments to Department of Justice
Payments on capital lease obligations
Proceeds from issuance of subordinated convediftentures
Payments on private offering costs

Net cash provided by financing activities

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

2004 2003

$ (69,99¢) (48,45%) (59,589
291 811 83t
30,68« 24,77: 12,55¢
41,80; - -
2,007 - -
(12,407 - -
(402) - -

6 42 37
(42¢) 351 101
(2,359 7 28
- 3,241 2,191

- - 28,41t

- 457 862

- - 202

- 3,61¢ -

72¢ (2,244) (2,170
312 28 444
94 (76) (15€)

184 102 (81)
(1,882 (877) 852
1,861 2,137 3,01(
60,50: 32,37 47,13(
(9,499 (16,08%) (12,459
(444) (410) (287)
4,53¢ - 16
4,09t (410) (272)
(4,000) - -
- 2,00( 12,50(

(31) (328 (319
(45) (46) (147)
11,95: 6,60( 10,50(
(315) - (1,041)
7,56( 8,22¢ 21,49¢
2,161 (8,269 8,76¢
94z 9,211 442




Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 3,10: $ 94z  $ 9,211

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteigements .
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002
(in thousands, except supplemental data)
Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing erah¢ing activities:

Year ended December 31, 2004

1. The Company's Convertible Subordinated Debentwetamed beneficial conversation features, whichewmlued at $14,000,000.

2. The Company has repaid $166,000 of indebtednes® iform of product deliveries.

3. Bridge Loans of $2,000,000 and accrued intere$#8f000 were converted into like amounts of CoriblertSubordinated Debentures.
4. The Company has issued 865,263 shares of commok asgpayment of $400,616 of Senior Secured Terte Rayable accrued intere

5. Convertible Subordinated Debentures of $100,632 &0 accrued interest of $3,939,000 were convertd217,973,000 shares
Convertible Preferred Stock.

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbesteitements .
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002
(in thousands, except supplemental data)
Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing erah¢ing activities:

Year ended December 31, 2003

1. The Company's bridge loans contained benéfioiaversion features, which were valued at $57&,00

2. The Company's convertible debentures contadieeéficial conversation features, which were valaie$6,600,000.

3. The Company issued $3,241,000 of debenturpayasent of like amounts of debenture accruedester

4, The Company repaid $2,037,000 of indebtedmetsge form of product deliveries.

5 The Company issued 645,000 warrants with an estiinalative fair value of $582,000 for the lende@mmitment in the fori

of debentures and bridge loans.
6. The Company issued 567,000 shares of comnegk spon conversion of $327,000 of debentures.

7. The Company issued 150,000 warrants with an estinalative fair value of $113,000 in connectiothwthe termination of ¢
employment agreement.

8. Equipment financed through capital leasesegaged approximately $111,000.

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbesteiements .
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002
(in thousands, except supplemental data)
Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing erah¢ing activities:

Year ended December 31, 2002

1. The Company issued 5,970,083 shares of common a®cksult of recapitalization of warrants to pas# 8,145,736 shares
common stock and recorded a charge to earning®,28%,000 in connection with this transaction.

2. The Company issued 10,700,665 warrants with amaggid relative fair value of $11,985,000 in conimectvith the extension
a note payable.

3. The Company issued $15,885,000 in debentaregahange for like amounts of notes payable anduad interest.

4. The Company's convertible debentures contdieeéficial conversion features, which were valae$i74,619,000.

5. The Company issued $2,191,000 of debenturpayasent of like amounts of debenture accruedéster

6. The Company repaid $1,826,000 of indebtedmetsge form of product deliveries.

7. The Company issued approximately 2,120,000 warnaittsan estimated relative fair value of $2,41®,00 connection with tr

refinancing of existing bridge loans in January &fal 2003.

8. The Company issued 600,000 warrants with an esinaglative fair value of $948,000 for the lendoammitment of a brid¢
loan.

9. The Company issued approximately 1,535,000 warnaittsan estimated relative fair value of $1,759,00 connection with tr
issuance of bridge loans.

10. The Company's bridge loans contained beméficnversion features, which were valued at $300h

11. Equipment financed through capital leaseseagged approximately $35,000.

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbesteiements .
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

NOTE A - DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Company is a New York corporation established935. Prior to the restructuring of the Compamgsrations described below,
Company had been engaged in the development, nduargasale and distribution of a variety of gendmished dosage pharmaceut
products and active pharmaceutical ingredients ($APOn November 6, 2003, the Company announceglén to restructure the Compal
operations to focus on research and developmeaterketo certain proprietary opioid synthesis andfied dosage formulation technolog
The Board of Directors determined, among otherofactthat the Company's ability to generate pasitash flow from the operation of
Company's finished dosage manufacturing, packadatigling and distribution facilities located in 1@gers, New York (collectively, tl
"Congers Facilities") in the manufacture and disttion of finished dosage generic products purstmamtbbreviated new drug applicati
("ANDAs") was compromised by the highly competitivearket environment, low market pricing and dealgnimarket size for its existi
generic products and the lack of new generic prsdincdevelopment. The Board determined that neran sales of the Company's finisl
dosage generic products would likely result in niegagross margins in view of the market environm&ased on this analysis and o
factors, the Board concluded that the Company'sufaature and sale of finished dosage products dieeérto be produced at the Con
Facilities would result in continuing negative catbw for the foreseeable future. After due considien of alternative strategies ¢
considering the optimal use of available fundinge tBoard adopted a strategy to substantially restrer the Company's busine
Manufacturing of the Company's generic finishedaggsproducts at the Congers Facilities substantetsed on January 30, 2004. Such
also marks the completion, in large part, of theéumion in work force associated with the restrtiom of the Company's operations
approximately 100 employees, 70 of whom were engaldyy the Company at the Congers Facilities.

As restructuredthe Company is an emerging specialty pharmacewaalpany primarily engaged in research, developraedtmanufactu
of innovative abuse deterrent formulations ("Avensi™ Technology") intended for use in orally administerepioid-containing
pharmaceutical product§he Company is also engaged in collaborative rebeamnd development with a contract research orgtaizand a
academic institution for clinical evaluation andtieg of the Aversiori™ Technology. In addition, to a much lesser extent, during 20
Company was engaged in research, development andfacture of proprietary, highield, short cycle time, environmentally sensitoy@oid
synthesis processes (the "Opioid Synthesis Techiedband, collectively with the Aversidf Technology, the “Technologiesihtended fo
use in the commercial production of certain bulko@p APIs. As of the date of this Report, the Compdad commenced the proces
suspending further development and commercialinagifforts relating to the Opioid Synthesis Techgas. The Company expects to
evaluate the development and commercializatiorhef@pioid Synthesis Technologies after the Admiaiste Law Judges determinatio
relating to the Company’s Import Registrations Af February 1, 2005, the Company had one issi&@atent, one US Notice of Allowar
and 14 patent applications pending, including oheig¢sued US patent, one (1) US Notice of Allowamgeanted, eight (8) US patt
applications pending and one (1) foreign patentiegiion pending relating to the Opioid Synthesiscfinologies, and four (4) US pal
applications pending and one (1) foreign patentiegiion pending relating to the AversidN Technology.As of February 1, 2005, t
Company retained ownership of all intellectual gy and commercial rights to its product candid@ed Technologies.

The Company conducts research, development, labgrahanufacturing and warehousing activities retato the Aversiodf™ Technolog'
and the Opioid Synthesis Technologies at its Culveliana facility (the "Culver Facility"). The Cuér Facility is registered by the U.S. D
Enforcement Administration (the "DEA") to performasearch, development and manufacture of Schedulé Hontrolled substances in bi
and finished dosage forms. On January 31, 2001 Ctmapany filed with the DEA an application for reigation to import narcotic re
materials ("NRMs"). These NRMs are commonly usethasinitial starting materials in the synthesisceftain opioid APIls. The Compar
application for an importer registration (the "InmpRegistration") was published in the Federal Region September 6, 2001.

The Company plans to enter into development andwentialization agreements with strategically foclpharmaceutical company partr
(the "Partners") providing that such Partners ligethe Company’s Aversidff Technology and further develop, register and conaiakze
multiple formulations and strengths of orally adisiared opioid-containing finished dosage prodwtiiszing the Aversion™ Technology
The Company expects to receive milestone paymentgetl as a share of profits and/or royalty payrmeeatdrived from the Partners' sal
products incorporating the AversiéM Technology. The Company also believes that it déllive revenues through contract manufacture
supply of clinical trial and commercial suppliesfimished dosage products for use by such Partiies Company plans to utilize a single
vertical integration strategy to conduct reseaddwelopment and manufacturing activities fimished dosage form products utilizing

Aversion™ Technology. The Import Registration, if ultimategyanted, for which there can be no assurance prolide the Company wi
an economical source of NRMs for use as startintgriads in the commercial manufacture and supplyesfain opioid APIs.
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A summary of the significant accounting policiesmsistently applied in the preparation of the accanying consolidated financ
statements follows.

1. Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include ttepants of the Company and its whollyned subsidiaries, Acura Pharmaceu
Technologies, Inc., and Axiom Pharmaceutical Caxpon . All material intercompany accounts and seations have been eliminat
During 2003, the Company dissolved all of its imaetsubsidiaries with the exception of Acura Pharewgical Technologies, Inc. a
Axiom Pharmaceutical Corporation. The dissolutidrtte inactive subsidiaries had no impact on thasotidated financial positio
results of operations or cash flows of the Company.

2. Statements of Cash Flows

For purposes of the statements of cash flows, tragany considers all highly liquid debt instrumemtischased with an original matui
of three months or less to be cash equivalents Cdmpany paid no income taxes for the years endmeidber 31, 2004, 2003 and 2(
In addition, the Company paid cash interest of appnately $47,000, $526,000 and $136,000 for theryended December 31, 2(
2003 and 2002, respectively.

3. Accounts Receivable - Trade and Allowance Accounts

Consistent with the cessation of the manufactuk sate offinished dosage products in the first quarter dd2ahe Company had
accounts receivable from customers at DecembeR@d4. For prior periods, the Company's accountsivable -trade are due fro
customers engaged in the distribution of pharmacaluproducts. Credit is extended based on evaoatif a customer's financ
condition and, generally, collateral is not reqdirdccounts receivable are due generally betweemr8D 60 days and are state
amounts due from customers net of allowances fabtlol accounts, returns, term discounts, and cdlewances. Accounts outstand
longer than the contractual payment terms are densil past due. Estimates that are used in detegrinese allowances are basel
the Company's historical experience, current trewedsdit policy and a percentage of its accounteiv@ble by aging category.
determining these percentages, the Company lootteatredit quality of its customer base as weltlaanges in its credit policies. 1
Company continuously monitors collections and paytsidrom its customers. The Company writes off aote receivable when th
become uncollectible, and payments subsequentivedt on such receivables are credited to badalgi®nse.

Changes in the Company's allowance accounts dodl@ss (in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Beginning balance $ 42 $ 14 3 347
Provision for losses on accounts receivable - 351 101
Provision for all other allowances - 77 -
Allowances paid - (6) (4349
Write-off (42¢) (8) -
Recoveries - - R
Ending balance $ - 9 426 % 14
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4. Inventories

Consistent with the cessation of the manufactuk sate offinished dosage products in the first quarter dd2ahe Company had
inventories at December 31, 2004. For prior periodsentories are stated at the lower of cost or etaaad include material, labor ¢
manufacturing overhead. The first-in, fimtt method is used to determine the cost of invéagoIn evaluating whether inventory
stated at the lower of cost or market, managememsiders such factors as the amount of inventorjamd, remaining shelf life a
current and expected market conditions, includewgls of competition.

5. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at Eegireciation is recorded on a straigihe basis over the estimated useful lives o
related assets. Amortization of capital lease asseincluded in depreciation expense. Leaseholgrarements are amortized ol
straightline basis over the shorter of their useful liveshe terms of their respective leases. Bettermam@apitalized and maintena

and repairs are charged to operations as incurred.

The estimated lives of the major classificatiomlepreciable assets are:

Building and building improvements 20 - 40 years

Land improvements 20 years

Laboratory equipment 10 years

Machinery and equipment 3-10years

Leasehold improvements Shorter of the life of the lease or

the service life of the asset

6. Asset Impairment

Long{ived assets are reviewed for impairment whenewents or changes in circumstances indicate theyiogrivalue may not t
recoverable. Impairment is measured by compariegctirrying value of the lonlived assets to the estimated undiscounted futast
flows expected to result from use of the assetstheid ultimate disposition. To the extent impaimhbas occurred, the carrying amc
of the asset would be written down to an amoumétiect the fair value of the asset.

7. Deferred Debt Private Offering Costs

Debt private offering costs represent costs ineutng the Company in conjunction with securing diéldncing. The Company incurr
approximately $582,000 in debt private offering tsoduring the year ended December 31, 2003 in cotipn with a lendin
commitment received for the private offering of waties in the form of Debentures and Bridge Loamhe Company incurre
approximately $1,041,000 in debt private offerimgts during the year ended December 31, 2002 ijuction with a private offering
securities. Debt private offering costs are amedizo interest expense over the life of the relaibligations. In August, 2004
outstanding debentures were converted into vaiseags of preferred stock and approximately $7 B @f0unamortized and outstand
deferred debt private offering costs were chargegkpense.

8. Deferred Debt Discount

Debt discount resulting from the issuance of st@ekrants in connection with the issuance of sulmaigid debt and other notes pay
as well as beneficial conversion features containambnvertible debt instruments is recorded asdaiction of the related obligations
is amortized over the remaining life of the relatduligations. Debt discount related to the stockramts issued is determined b
calculation which is based on the relative fairueal ascribed to such warrants determined managesmesg of the Blackchole
valuation model. Inherent in the Bla8choles valuation model are assumptions made byageament regarding the estimated life of
warrant, the estimated volatility of the Compangtsnmon stock and the expected dividend yield. Iigusl, 2004 all outstandi
debentures were converted into various seriesafeped stock and approximately $41,090,000 of wrtized and outstanding defer
debt discount was charged to expense.
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9. Revenue Recognition

Consistent with the cessation of the manufactuk sate offinished dosage products in the first quarter dd2ahe Company had
revenues after second quarter 2004. Prior to thaCompany recognized revenue, net of sales discamisllowances, when title to-
product passed to the customer, which occurred @hipment. The Company established sales providimmsstimated chargebac
discounts, rebates, returns, pricing adjustments @ther sales allowances concurrently with the ge@®mn of revenue. The sa
provisions were established based upon considarafi@a variety of factors, including, but not limidt to, actual return and histori
experience by product type, the number and timihgampetitive products approved for sale, the etgmbenarket for the produ
estimated customer inventory levels by productedeclines and current and projected economicittonsl and levels of competitic
Actual product return, chargebacks and other sdlewances incurred were, however, dependent upiome events.

10. Shipping and Handling Costs

Prior to cessation of the manufacture and salénafifed dosage products in the first quarter of4&2@6eCompany included all shippil
and handling expenses incurred as a componensbbémanufacturing.

11. Research and Development

R esearch and development expense consisted gyiroamproduct development costs prior to the cdemapf manufacture and sale
finished dosage products. During 2004, researchdamdlopment expense consist primarily of drug tisrment work associated with ¢
A version™Technology, including costs of preclinical, clini¢gals, clinical supplies and related formulatiand design costs, salal
and other personnel-related expenses, and facdiis. These expenses are charged to operatiamsuasd.

12. Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under thditiamethod in accordance with Statement of FiiahAccounting Standards N
109 ("SFAS No. 109"), "Accounting for Income Taxesnder this method, deferred tax assets and liegsilare determined based
differences between financial reporting and taxebasf assets and liabilities and are measured tkagnacted tax rates and laws
will be in effect when the differences are expedtedeverse. A valuation allowance is establistiedis more likely than not that all,
some portion, of deferred tax assets will not taized. The Company has recorded a full valuatitowance to reduce its deferred
assets to the amount that is more likely than aditet realized. While the Company has consideraddiutxable income in assessing
need for the valuation allowance, in the eventGoenpany were to determine that it would be ableetdize its deferred tax assets in
future in excess of its net recorded amount, ansaaient to the deferred tax asset would increas®me in the period such determina
was made.

13. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

The computation of basic earnings (loss) per slkbireommon stock is based upon the weighted avenageber of common shal
outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings gfeare are based on basic earnings per shareeatifostthe effect of other potentic
dilutive securities. Excluded from the 2004, 2008l 2002 computation are approximately 356,204,249,877,000 and 200,368,0
respectively, of outstanding warrants and optiond the effects of convertible debentures outstanpdind convertible preferred stc
which would have been antidilutive.

14. Stock-Based Compensation
The Company has two stock-based employee compengatins, which are described more fully in Note K.

The Company accounts for stobksed compensation using the intrinsic value methaxtcordance with Accounting Principles Bc
Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Hayges," and related Interpretations ("APB No. 2&11 has adopted the disclos
provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting rié@rds No. 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based Comp#os - Transition an
Disclosure, ("SFAS No. 148"), an amendment of FARBBtement No. 123. Under APB No. 25, when the ésenarice of the Compan'
employee stock options equals the market pricehefunderlying stock on the date of grant, no coreaion expense is recogniz
Accordingly, no compensation expense has been némed) in the consolidated financial statementsannection with these types



employee stock option grants.
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The following table illustrates the effect on nesd and loss per share had the Company appliefdithealue recognition provisions
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No., I2&8counting for Stock-Based Compensation (“SFAZ3")," to stockbase!
employee compensation for these types of stocloomgfants.

Year ended December 31,
(in thousands, except per share data)

2004 2003 2002
Net loss, as reported $ (69,990 $ (48,45% $ (59,589
Deduct: total stock-based employee compensatioaresqpdetermined
under fair value-based method for all awards (399 (662) (1,047
Net loss, pro forma $ (70,389 $ (49,110 $ (60,63¢)
Loss per share:
Basic EPS - as reported $ (3.20 $ (2.28) $ (3.90)
Basic EPS - as pro forma $ (3.229 $ (231 $ (3.97)
Diluted EPS - as reported $ (3.20) $ (2.2¢) $ (3.90
Diluted EPS - as pro forma $ (3.22) $ (2.3) $ (3.99)

Pro forma compensation expense may not be indeatifuture disclosures because they do not talkedfiect pro forma compensat
expense related to grants before 1995. For purpafsestimating the fair value of each option on dage of grant, the Company utiliz
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

The BlackScholes option valuation model was developed fer insestimating the fair value of traded option$jck have no vestir
restrictions and are fully transferable. In additioption valuation models require the input ofhiygsubjective assumptions including
expected stock price volatility. Because the Comfzaamployee stock options have characteristiasifgigntly different from those |
traded options and because changes in the sulgdajput assumptions can materially affect the Yailue estimate, in manageme
opinion, the existing models do not necessarilyjg® a reliable single measure of the fair valuésémployee stock options.

The weighted-average option fair values and therapsons used to estimate these values are asvillo

Grants issued during

2004 2003 2002
Expected life (years) 2-5 2.5 10
Risk-free interest rate 2.4% -4.6 % 1.8% 4.6 %
Expected volatility 73% - 87 % 94 % 88 %
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Weighted-average option fair value $ 25 $ 53 $ 112

Equity instruments issued to nonemployees in exghdar goods, fees and services are accountedhfigrithe fair valudrased methc
of SFAS No. 123.

During 2004, the Company granted approximately 23400 stock options with an exercise price less tthe market price of t
underlying stock on the date of grant. Under APB R®, compensation expense is recognized for tfiereince between the exerc
price of the employee stock option and the markitepof the underlying stock on the date of grdrdtal compensation expense
approximately $3,084,000 will be recognized over Hiesting period of the options, of which approxeha$2,007,000 was recordec
2004.
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15. Use of Estimates in Consolidated Financial Statemén

The preparation of consolidated financial statesiémtconformity with accounting principles geneyadiccepted in the United State:
America requires management to make estimates aadassumptions that affect the reported amoun@sséts and liabilities a
disclosure of contingent liabilities at the datetlod consolidated financial statements, as wethasreported amounts of revenues
expenses during the reporting period. Actual reszduld differ from those estimates.

Management periodically evaluates estimates us#tkipreparation of the consolidated financialestetnts for continued reasonabler
Appropriate adjustments, if any, to the estimateduare made prospectively based on such periedioations.

16. Carrying Amount and Fair Value of Financial Instrum ents

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalerdsaaoounts receivable approximates fair value duéé shorterm maturities of tk
instruments. The Company believes that it is nattical to estimate the fair value of its accoy#gable based upon the costs that w
be incurred to obtain such valuation. The fair eatd the Company's short-term and Idegn debt approximates the book value b
upon the proximity of the issuance of new debt whbe cash consideration received equaled thevidoe of the debt.

17. Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to thr pgars' amounts to conform to the current ygmesentation.
18. New Accounting Pronouncements

Consolidation of Variable Entities

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standd@dard (“FASB”), issued FASB Interpretation of FINb. 46, ‘Consolidation ¢
Variable Entities,” VIES). FIN 46 establishes standards for determininger what circumstances VIEs should be conse@afiith thei
primary beneficiary, including those to which th&ual condition of consolidation does not apply. FiBlalso requires disclosure ak
unconsolidated VIEs in which the company has aifogmt interest. The consolidation requirementsFafl 46 apply immediately
older entities the first fiscal year or interim joer beginning after June 15, 2003. certain disaleswequirements apply in all financ
statements issued after January 31, 2003. Theiadagftthe accounting pronouncement did not havargract on our financial positit
or results of operations.

In December 2003, the FASB publishes FIN No. 4&Bnsolidation of Variable Entities (revised Decem®@03),” superseding Fin 4
and exempting certain entities from the provisiofi$-IN 46. Generally, application of FIN 48-is required in financial statements
nonpublic entities immediately to VIEs or potenNdEs created after December 31, 2003 and forrdlties by the beginning of the fi
annual period beginning after December 31, 2004¢ adoption of the accounting pronouncement dichage an impact on our financ
position or results of operations.

Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with the Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity

FASB issued Statement No. 150, “Accounting for @ierFinancial Instruments with the CharacteristitBoth Liabilities and Equity”in
June 2003. The Statement establishes standartisioan issuer classifies and measures certaindiakbinstruments with characterist
of both liabilities and equity. It requires an issuo classify a financial instrument that is withthe scope of the pronouncement
liability. Many of those financial instruments wepeeviously classified as equity. The statemerdfisctive for all financial instrumer
entered into or modified after May 2003 and otheenshall be effective at the beginning of the finerim period beginning after Ju
15, 2003. The adoption of the accounting pronouregrdid not have an impact on our financial pogitio results of operations.
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Share-Based Payment

On December 16, 2004, the FASB released FASB Stateido. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Paym&Rf3B 123R")". Thest
changes in accounting replace existing requirementter FASB Statement No. 123, “Accounting for Et8ased Compensationanc
eliminates the ability to account for share-basechensation transaction using APB Opinion No.25counting for Stock Issued
Employees”. The compensation cost relating to shased payment transactions will be measured bas#uedair value of the equity
liability instruments issues. This Statement dogischange the accounting for similar transactionslving parties other than employe
Publicly traded companies must apply this Standardf the beginning of the first interim or annpatiod that begins after June 15, 2(
This Statement applies to all awards granted #fierequired effective date and to awards modifiegurchased, or cancelled after
date. The cumulative effect of initially applyinigis Statement, if any, is recognized as of the iredueffective date. The Company
not completed it evaluation of the impact of adogtFASB 123R on its consolidated financial statetsiehut anticipates that mc
compensation costs will be recorded in the futfitke use of options for employees and directorpansation continues as in the past.

NOTE B - BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying financial statements have beegpaprd assuming the Company will continue as a goowcern. Asrestructured, tt
Company is no longer engaged in the manufacturesaledof finished dosage generic pharmaceuticalymts. As a result, the Company
no ability presently to generate revenue from pobdiales. Accordingly, the Company must rely oncitsrent cash reserves to fund
development of its Aversion™echnology and related ongoing administrative apdrating expenses. The Company's future sourc
revenue, if any, will be derived from contract signfees, milestone payments and royalties andiffitsharing payments from licensees
the Company's Aversion™echnology. The Company estimates that its cucash reserves will be sufficient to fund the depgient of th
Aversion™ Technology and related operating expettsesigh May, 2005 To fund operations through March, 2006, the Compsstimate
that it must raise additional financing, or ent&ioialliances or collaboration agreements withdtfiarties providing for net proceeds to
Company of at least $5 million. No assurance cagiben that the Company will be successful in abtej any such financing or in secur
collaborative agreements with third parties on ptatgle terms, if at all, or if secured, that sutamcing or collaborative agreements

provide for payments to the Company sufficient émtcue to fund operations. In the absence of diungncing or thirdparty collaborativ
agreements, the Company will be required to scabd or terminate operations and/or seek protectiwter applicable bankruptcy laws.

Even assuming the Company is successful in secadgional sources of financing to fund the coméid development of the Aversion™
Technology, or otherwise enters into alliances altaborative agreements relating to the Technolgikere can be no assurance tha
Company's development efforts will result in comanety viable products. The Company's failure tecssfully develop the Aversion™
Technology in a timely manner, to obtain an issUefl. patent relating to the Aversion™ Technology &m avoid infringing thirdparty
patents and other intellectual property rights Wilre a material adverse impact on its financiabl@tmn and results of operations.

In view of the matters described above, recovetghmf a major portion of the recorded asset amsshbwn in the Company's accompan
consolidated balance sheets is dependent upomuedtioperations of the Company, which in turn agetident upon the Company's ab
to meet its financing requirements on a contindiagis, to maintain present financing, and to sutaeds future operations. The Compal
financial statements do not include any adjustmelating to the recoverability and classificationrecorded asset amounts or amounts
classification of liabilities that might be necegsshould the Company be unable to continue intemcs.

NOTE C - FINANCING TRANSACTIONS

2004 Debenture Offering

On February 10, 2004, the Company consummatedvateroffering of convertible senior secured debergifthe "2004 Debentures") in

aggregate principal amount of approximately $12i8ian (the "2004 Debenture Offering"). The 2004 &mtures were issued by

Company pursuant to a certain Debenture and Shach&#se Agreement dated as of February 6, 2004'20@4 Purchase Agreement")
and among the Company, Care Capital InvestmensexB&/oodlands Health Ventures, Galen Partners acit & the purchasers listed on
signature page thereto. On April 14, 2004 and M&y2®04, the Company completed additional closingder the 2004 Purchase Agreen
raising the aggregate gross proceeds receivedeb@aimpany from the offering of the 2004 Debenttwes14.0 million. The 2004 Debentu
carried an interest rate of 1.62% per annum ane wecured by a lien on all assets of the Compadytlan assets of Acura Pharmaceu
Technologies, Inc. and Axiom Pharmaceutical Cortiana each a whollypwned subsidiary of the Company. As the conversitce of the
2004 Debentures was less than the fair market \a@fltiee Company common stock on the date of issue, beneficiavemion features we
determined to exist. The Company recorded appraein&14.0 million of debt discount limited to tfece amount of the new debt. The ¢
discount was amortized over the life of the debbjolv matured on August 13, 2004, the date the 2DB8Mentures were automatics
converted into the Company's Series A ConvertiblefdPred Stock (see "Conversion of 2004 Debentures Series A Preferred Stoc
below).
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Conversion of 2004 Debentures into Series A Prefexd Stock

The 2004 Debentures (including the principal amaalas interest accrued) converted automaticallg the Company's Series A convert
preferred stock (the "Series A Preferred") on Audii 2004, the business day following the Compmangteipt of shareholder approva
restate the Company's Certificate of Incorporafibre "Charter Amendment") to authorize the SerieRrAferred and the Junior Prefel
Shares (as described below) and the filing of thar@r Amendment with the Office of the New Yorkdaetment of State, as provided in
2004 Purchase Agreement. The 2004 Debentures dedvieto an aggregate of 21,963,757 Series A Rexfeshares based on a $0.642¢
share conversion price.

Series A Preferred Stock Liquidation Preference, Caversion Right and Participation Right

In general, the Series A Preferred shares havgualéition preference equal to five (5) times thgah$0.6425 Series A conversion price |
"Series A Liquidation Preference"). In additionetBeries A Preferred shares are convertible irdoQbmpany's Common Stock, with e
Series A Preferred share convertible into the nurobshares of Common Stock obtained by dividingh{e Series A Liquidation Preferen
by (i) the $0.6425 Series A conversion price, @shsconversion price may be adjusted, from timgnte, pursuant to the dilution protectic
of such shares. Without limiting the Series A Laation Preference, the holders of Series A Predeshares also have the right to partici
with the holders of the Company's Common Stock upenoccurrence of a liquidation event, includihng €Company's merger, sale of al
substantially all of its assets or a change of mbritansaction, on an amnverted basis (but for these purposes only, assuthe Series
Preferred shares to be convertible into only thpgrcent (30%) of the shares of Common Stock intickv they are otherwise th
convertible). The holders of Series A Preferredrshialso have the right to vote as part of a siolfles with all holders of the Compat
voting securities on all matters to be voted orsbgh security holders. Each holder of Series AdPrefl shares will have such numbe
votes as shall equal the number of votes he woale lhad if such holder converted all Series A Preeshares held by such holder
shares of Common Stock immediately prior to the@rédate relating to such vote.

Impact of Conversion of the Companys Outstanding Debentures

As of February 10, 2004, the date of the initiadsohg of the 2004 Purchase Agreement, the Compadyissued and outstanding .
aggregate of approximately $86.6 million in prirddigmount of 5% convertible senior secured debestaraturing March 31, 2006 issi
pursuant to three separate Debenture Purchase rAgnte dated March 10, 1998, as amended (the "1%%®mMures"), May 26, 1999,
amended (the "1999 Debentures") and December 22, @Be "2002 Debentures"), respectively. The 1B88entures, 1999 Debentures
2002 Debentures are referred to collectively as'18982002 Debentures”. After giving effect to the Comparissuance of additional &
convertible senior secured debentures in satisfaaf interest payments on the 1998-2002 Debentae®f February 10, 2004, the 1998-
2002 Debentures were convertible into an aggregfaapproximately 190.4 million shares of the Compsi€ommon Stock.

Conversion Agreement of Holders of 1992002 Debentures

Simultaneous with the execution of the 2004 Purelfegreement, and as a condition to the initialiclp®f the 2004 Purchase Agreement
Company, the investors in the 2004 Debentures aol ef the holders of the 192802 Debentures executed a certain Debenture Cziaw
Agreement, dated as of February 6, 2004 (the "Quitv@ Agreement”). In accordance with the termthef Conversion Agreement, effect
August 13, 2004, each holder of 1998-2002 Debestcoaverted the 1998302 Debentures held by such holder into the Coylpa&eries |
convertible preferred stock (the "Series B Pref#)rand/or Series C-1, C-2 and/or33zonvertible preferred stock (collectively, thestigs (
Preferred"). The Series C Preferred shares togetitlethe Series B Preferred shares are hereinregféo as, the "Junior Preferred Shares".

Under the Conversion Agreement, the holders of @pprately $6.6 million in principal amount of 20@ebentures issued during 2(
converted such 2002 Debentures (plus accrued gpaidimterest) into Series B Preferred Sharesh®fréemaining approximate $80 milli
in principal amount of the 1998302 Debentures, approximately $31.2 million wampnsed of 1998 Debentures, approximately $
million was comprised of 1999 Debentures and apprately $27.3 million was comprised of 2002 Debeasu Effective August 13, 20(
the 1998 Debentures were converted into SerieP@ferred shares, the 1999 Debentures were codvatteSeries @ Preferred shares ¢
the remaining balance of the 2002 Debentures wareerted into Series C-3 Preferred shares.

F-20




The number of Junior Preferred Shares issued bZtimpany to each holder of 192802 Debentures was based on the respective @
which the 1998002 Debentures were convertible into Common Stdhk.2002 Debentures issued in 2003 had a conwepsice of $0.342
per share. The 1998 Debentures, 1999 Debentureghentcemaining balance of the 2002 Debentures lobastersion prices of $0.57%
$0.5993 and $0.3481 per share, respectively. Uperatitomatic conversion of the 192802 Debentures on August 13, 2004, the Com
issued an aggregate of 20,246,506 million Seri®derred shares, 56,422,558 million Seriet Preferred shares, 37,433,096 million S¢
C-2 Preferred shares and 81,907,069 million S&i8sPreferred shares.

Liguidation Preference of Junior Preferred Shares

In general, the Junior Preferred Shares have aatjon preference equal to one (1) time the ppakamount plus accrued and unpaid intt
on the 1998002 Debentures converted into Junior PreferredeShahe liquidation preference of the Series BePred has priority over, ai
will be satisfied prior to, the liquidation prefeie of the Series C Preferred. The liquidationgnexice for each class of the Junior Preft
Shares is equal to the conversion prices of suateshThe Junior Preferred Shares are convertibdetiie Company's Common Stock, v
each Junior Preferred Share convertible into oaeesbf Common Stock. The holders of the Juniord?refl Shares have the right to vot
part of the single class with all holders of thex@pany's Common Stock and the holders of the Sérieseferred on all matters to be votec
by such security holders, with each holder of JuRi@ferred Shares having such number of votehakexjual the number of votes he wc
have had if such holder had converted all JunieféPred Shares held by such holder into CommonkStomediately prior to the record d.
relating to such vote.

Common Share Equivalents of the Series A Preferrednd Junior Preferred Shares
As discussed, at August 13, 2004 the holders oChmpanys 5% convertible debentures converted their debestinto various series
convertible preferred stock. At December 31, 2@@hvertible preferred stock consists of the follogyi

$.01 Par
Value, Issued and Common
Authorized  Outstanding Par Stock Liquidation
Convertible Preferred Stock Shares Shares Value Equivalents  Preference
Series A 45,000,000  21,963,75 $ 22C 109,818,78 $ 70,558,57
Series B Junior 25,000,000  20,246,50 205 20,246,50 6,924,30!
Series C-1 Junior 70,000,000 56,422,55 564  56,422,55  32,589,66
Series C-2 Junior 50,000,000  37,433,09 374  37,433,09 22,433,65
Series C-3 Junior 100,000,00  81,907,06 81¢  81,907,06  28,511,85
Total 290,000,00 217,972,98 $ 2,18C 305,828,01 $161,018,05

N OTE D - CONVERTIBLE SUBORDINATED DEBENTURES

Convertible Subordinated Debentures consist ofdhewing (in thousands):

December 31,  December 31,

2004 2003

1998 Debentures $ 31,21: $ 31,21:
1999 Debentures 21,48t 21,48¢
2002 Debentures 27,30: 27,30:
2003 Debentures 6,632 6,632
2004 Debentures 14,00( -
100,63: 86,63

Debentures converted into Convertible PreferrediSto (100,63:) -
- 86,63:

Less: Unamortized Debt Discount -) (56,899

Convertible Subordinated Debentures, net $ -0 $ 29,73¢
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NOTE E - SALE OF CERTAIN COMPANY ASSETS

On February 18, 2004, the Company and Mutual Phaeuatcals, Inc. (“Mutual”)entered into a certain Asset Purchase Agreemes
“Mutual Asset Purchase Agreement”) pursuant to Wittte Company sold certain inactive, mawenue generating abbreviated new
applications (“ANDAs”)to Mutual in consideration of $2.0 million. The AMB sold to Mutual were in various therapeutic categs
including analgesics, anti-infectives, ahgipertensives, antihistamines, steroids and cex#ier categories. The decision to divest
ANDAs was based, among other things, on the Conigargvised business strategy which focuses on m@seard development of t
Aversion ™ Technology and the Opioid Synthesis Technologiegl that the Company had ceased operations atrnishéid dosa¢
manufacturing facilities in Congers, New York andsan the process of negotiating the sale of sactitfes.

On March 19, 2004, the Company and its wholly-owsalsidiary, Axiom Pharmaceutical Corporation (“&x"), entered into an Ass
Purchase Agreement with IVAX Pharmaceuticals Newkvld C ("IVAX"). Pursuant to the Purchase Agreemetie Company and Axio
agreed to sell to IVAX substantially all of the Cpamy's assets used in the operation of the Compémyher generic manufacturing ¢
packaging operations located in Congers, New Yor&onsideration of an immediate payment of $2.0ioniland an additional payment $
million upon receipt of shareholder approval of thensaction. Shareholder approval of the assettemhsaction with IVAX was obtained
August 12, 2004 and the closing was completed oguau13, 2004, at which time the Company receividremaining payment of $(
million from IVAX.

NOTE F - INVENTORIES
The Company held no inventories at December 314 200e composition of inventories at December 303Xconsists of the followir

(in thousands):

December 31,

2003
Finished goods $ 357
Work-in-process 953
Raw materials 356
1,66¢
Less impairment reserve (1,359
$ 312
NOTE G - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are summarized &safsl(in thousands):
December 31,
2004 2003

Machinery and equipment $ 435: $ 9,457
Construction in progress 5 312
Leasehold improvements - 1,45¢
Building and building improvements 1,592 2,81¢
Land 44 44
5,994 14,08

Less accumulated depreciation and amortizatiodug@ireg $17 in 2004 and $11 in 2003 of
capitalized lease amortization) (4,309 (9,016
1,69 5,067
Less impairment reserve (13¢) (1,679

$ 1,558 $ 3,39/
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Included in machinery and equipment is equipmeobnaed under capitalized leases at December 34 206 2003, of approximate
$146,000 and $221,000, respectively. Depreciati@hamortization expense for the years ended Deae&ihe2004, 2003 and 2002 v
approximately $291,000, $811,000 and $835,000 ectely.

NOTE H - ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses are summarized as follows (instuis):

December 31,

2004 2003

Accrued payroll and payroll taxes $ 57¢ % 31C
Legal and audit fees 234 491
Medicaid rebates and other customer allowances 50 50
Other professional fees 40 -
Benefit plan taxes - 20C
Investment and directors fees - 24¢€
Property and sales taxes 30 14z
Other 32 66¢

$ 95¢ $ 2,10¢

NOTE | - TERM NOTE PAYABLE AND STOCK WARRANTS

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, notes payable dedsid the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2004 2003
Term note payable (a) $ 5,000 $ 21,40:
Bridge loans (b) $ - 8 2,00(¢
Capital lease obligations 92 137
92 2,137
Less: Current maturities (29) (45)
$ 63 $ 2,092

(2) The Company was a party to a certain loan agreemigm\Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("Watson") parguo which Watson made te
loans to the Company (the "Watson Term Loan Agredthén the aggregate principal amount of $21.4lionl as evidenced by tv
promissory notes (the "Watson Notes"). It was ad@n to the completion of the 2004 Debenture @ffg that simultaneous with t
closing of the 2004 Purchase Agreement, the Comphalf have paid Watson the sum of approximatel$ $4illion (which amount we
funded from the proceeds of the 2004 Debentureridffand conveyed to Watson certain Company agsetsnsideration for Watsol
forgiveness of approximately $16.4 million of indetiness under the Watson Notes. As part of suclaction, the Watson Notes w
amended to extend the maturity date of such netes March 31, 2006 to June 30, 2007, to providesttisfaction of future intere
payments under the Watson Notes in the form oQbepany's Common Stock, to reduce the principaluarnof the Watson Notes frc
$21.4 million to $5.0 million, and to provide fdre forbearance from the exercise of rights and déeseupon the occurrence of cer
events of default under the Watson Notes (the Wialttmtes as so amended, the "2004 Note"). Simultaedth the issuance of the 2(
Note, each of Care Capital, Essex Woodland Heakthtes, Galen Partners and the other investothen2004 Debentures as
February 10, 2004 (collectively, the "Watson NotedPasers") purchased the 2004 Note from Wats@omsideration for a payment
Watson of $1.0 million.
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The 2004 Note in the principal amount of $5.0 milli as purchased by the Watson Note Purchasesscised by a first lien on all of 1
Company's and its subsidiaries' assets, carriematny rate of interest equal to the prime ratespt.5% and matures on June 30, 2
The interest rate at December 31, 2004 was 9.75%.

(b) Of the $14.0 million in 2004 Debentures issuedhie 2004 Debenture Offering, approximately $2.0 iomllof 2004 Debentures we
issued in exchange for the surrender of like amofiprincipal plus accrued interest outstandingarm@dompany's 5% convertible ser
secured debentures issued pursuant to workingatdpitige loan transactions with Care Capital, Ed&®odlands Health Ventures ¢
Galen Partners during November and December, 2003.

At December 31, 2004, warrants to purchase 22,8Z6Bhares of common stock remain that were issuednnection with the issuar
of convertible debentures, bridge loans and finragncommitments during the years 1998 through 2002002 a warrant for 10,700,€
common shares were issued to Watson in connectitintleir agreement to amend the Watson Loan ae@éer 20, 2002. Also,
warrant for 150,000 common shares was issued i 28(part of the settlement terms with a formercetiee officer of the Company.

The following table summarizes information concagnoutstanding and exercisable stock purchase miarra

Warrants outstanding

Weighted-
Number average Weighted-
outstanding at remaining average
Range of December 31, contractual exercise
exercise prices 2004 life(years) price
$0.13 - $0.97 32,876,932 3.78 $ 0.54

NOTE J - INCOME TAXES

Reconciliations between the Federal income taxaatethe Company's effective income tax rate werfeliows (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
AMOUNT % Amount % Amount %

Federal statutory rate $ (23,799 (34.0%$ (15,96¢) (34.0)%3% (20,260 (34.0%
Loss for which no tax benefit was
provided 3,71¢ 5.2 4,357 9.2 12,95; 21.7
Non-deductible financing costs 24,64 35.2 11,58¢ 24.€ 7,27¢ 12.2
Federal tax carryback refund (122 (-2 - - - -
Debt forgiveness (4,307 (6.2) - - - -
Department of Justice settlement (137) (.2 11 A 16 A
Other 1 - 9 A 15
Actual tax benefit $ - % $ - % $ - %

The Company has net operating loss carryforwardgeagting approximately $129.7 million, expiringrithg the years 2009 throu
2024.

The tax loss carryforwards of the Company andutssiliaries may be subject to limitation by Sect3®?2 of the Internal Revenue Ci
with respect to the amount utilizable each yeais Timitation reduces the Company's ability to in&l net operating loss carryforwa
included above each year. The amount of the lilitalhas not been quantified by the Company. Dutiregcalendar year, the Compi
adjusted its net operating loss carryforward. Huijustment has no effect on the current or priar y@ancial statements.
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The components of the Company's deferred tax a@ddsities), pursuant to SFAS No. 109, are sumge as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2004 2003
Deferred tax assets
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 55,17¢ $ 55,99¢
Asset reserves - 1,01¢
Research and development tax credit - 29
Accrued expenses 254 20¢
Capital loss carryforwards - 212
Stock compensation 843 -
Depreciation and amortization - 20
Accrued shutdown costs 71 70z
Other 71 73
Gross deferred tax assets 56,417 58,25¢
Deferred tax liabilities
Depreciation (26) -
Net deferred tax assets before valuation allowance 56,39: 58,25¢
Valuation allowance (56,39)) (58,25¢)
Net deferred tax assets $ - $ -

SFAS No. 109 requires a valuation allowance agaleftrred tax assets if, based on the weight oflabla evidence, it is more like
than not that some or all of the deferred tax assety not be realized. The valuation allowance etdinber 31, 2004 primarily perta
to uncertainties with respect to future utilizatmimet operating loss carryforwards.

NOTE K - EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

1. 401(k) and Profit-sharing Plan

Effective October 1, 1998, the Company establishetD1(k) and profisharing plan for all employees other than thosees unde
collective bargaining agreements. Eligible emplays®y elect to make a basic contribution of up38&61of their annual earnings. 1
plan provides that the Company can make discratyomatching contributions equal to 25% of the f8% of employee contributions -
an aggregate employee contribution of 1.5%, aloith @ discretionary profisharing contribution. The Company incurred no exsg
under the plan in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively

2. Stock Option Plans

In September 1995, the stockholders of the Compapyoved the adoption of a stock option and rdsttistock purchase plan (the "1!
Option Plan™). The 1995 Option Plan provides fa ¢franting of (i) nonqualified options to purchéise Company's common stock at
less than the fair market value on the date obteon grant, (ii) incentive stock options to puask the Company's common stock a
less than the fair market value on the date ofotiteon grant and (iii) rights to purchase the Comps common stock on a "Restric
Stock" basis, as defined, at not less than thenfiairket value on the date the right is granted. tbted number of shares which may
sold pursuant to options and rights granted urtted 895 Option Plan is 1,000,000. No option cagraated under the 1995 Option F
after May 2005 and no option can be outstandingrfore than ten years after its grant. At Decemier2B04, approximately 212,0
shares are available for grant under the 1995 @gtlan.

In June 1998, the stockholders of the Company amgordhe adoption of a stock option and restrictedks purchase plan (the "1¢
Option Plan™). The 1998 Option Plan provides far granting of (i) nonqualified options to purchéise Company's common stocKk i
price determined by the Stock Option Committee, @ixdncentive stock options to purchase the Conycommon stock at not I¢
than the fair market value on the date of the opgmant. In June 2002, the shareholders of the @amppproved a resolution to incre
the total number of shares which may be sold putsieaoptions and rights granted under the 1998c@®lan to 8,100,000. In Augt
2004, the shareholders of the Company approvedadutén to increase this amount to 20,000,000.0ltion can be granted under
1998 Option Plan after April 2008 and no option ¢snoutstanding for more than ten years after liggtg At December 31, 20(
approximately 3,126,000 options are available fangunder the 1998 Option Plan.
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Transactions involving stock options under all glane summarized as follows:

Weighted-
Stock average
options exercise
outstanding price
Balance at December 31, 2002 5,008,95( $ 1.8C
Granted 45,00( .9€
Forfeited (1,529,28) 1.6¢
Balance at December 31, 2003 3,524,67! 1.8:
Granted 14,475,14 A3
Exercised - -
Forfeited (500,900 1.8¢
Balance at December 31, 2004 17,498,91 $ 44
The following table summarizes information concagncurrently outstanding and exercisable stockoogti
Options outstanding Options exercisable
Weighted-
Number average Weighted- Number Weighted-
Ra_nge O_f outstanding at remaining average exercisable at average
exercise prices December 31, contractual exercise December 31, exercise
2004 life (years) price 2004 price
$.13-%$1.00 14,475,145 9.29 $.15 6,758,333 $.16
1.01-2.00 1,557,945 4.84 1.30 1,355,445 1.32
2.01-4.38 1,465,825 2.04 2.39 1,443,325 2.38
17,498,915 8.29 $ .44 9,557,770 $ $ .66

NOTE L - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The following table presents the Company's expectsth requirements for contractual obligationstantiing as of December 31, 2!
(in thousands):

DUE IN DUE IN DUE IN DUE
TOTAL 2005 2006 2007 THEREAFTER

Term loan payable $ 5,00C $ - $ - $ 5,00C $ -
Capital leases 93 29 32 25 7
Operating leases 34 29 5 - -
Contract research 93 93 -- -- --
Employment agreements 76E 64C 12F -- -
Total contractual cash obligations $ 5,98t $ 791 $ 16z $ 5,02t $ 7
Contractual cash obligations entered into subsequéto DUE IN DUE IN DUE IN DUE

December 31, 2004

TOTAL 2005 2006 2007 THEREAFTER




Contract research
Market research

$

20t
95

39C $

20t
95

39C $
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Employment Contracts

Andrew D. Reddick is employed pursuant to an Emplegt Agreement effective as of August 26, 2003 civiprovides that Mr. Reddi
will serve as the Company's Chief Executive Offieerd President for an initial term expiring Augz&, 2005. The term of t
Employment Agreement provides for automatic oney€Br renewals in the absence of written notiddéocontrary from the Company
Mr. Reddick at least ninety (90) days prior to #wpiration of the initial term or any subsequenmewal period. The Employme
Agreement provides for an annual base salary 00880, plus the payment of annual bonus of up itytifive percent (35%) of M
Reddick's base salary based on the achievementbftargets, conditions, or parameters as may tfease time to time by the Board
Directors or the Compensation Committee of the Boafr Directors. Mr. Reddick received a bonus of $60 in fiscal 2004. |
accordance with the terms of the Employment Agregnes amended, the Company granted to Mr. Reddiazik options exercisable
up to 8,750,000 shares of Common Stock at an eseeprice of $0.13 per share. The stock optionsigeofor vesting of 3,000,000 sha
on the date of grant of the option, with the batamesting in monthly increments of 250,000 shatethea expiration of each montt
period thereafter commencing with the month endingust 31, 2004.

Ron J. Spivey, Ph.D., is employed pursuant to apl&yment Agreement effective as of April 5, 2004ieh provides that Dr. Spiv:
will serve as the Company's Senior Vice Presidemt &hief Scientific Officer for term expiring Apri#, 2006. The term of tl
Employment Agreement provides for automatic oney€Br renewals in the absence of written notidbeéocontrary from the Company
Dr. Spivey at least ninety (90) days prior to theigtion of the initial term or any subsequentaenl period. The Employme
Agreement provides for an annual base salary 00828, plus the payment of annual bonus of up itbytfive percent (35%) of D
Spivey's base salary based on the achievementbftargets, conditions, or parameters as may biaattime to time by the Board
Directors or the Compensation Committee of the BaarDirectors. In accordance with the terms of Braployment Agreement, t
Company granted to Dr. Spivey stock options exahtes for up to 3,000,000 shares of Common Stocnatxercise price of $0.13 |
share. The stock option provides for vesting 000,000 shares on October 1, 2004 with the remaibadgnce vesting in quarte
increments of 333,333 shares at the expiratiormofiguarterly period commencing with the quartpdyiod ending December 31, 2004.

Peter A. Clemens is employed pursuant to an Emptoynigreement effective as of March 10, 1998, whadter giving effect t
amendments dated June 28, 2000, May 4, 2001 anddah, 2005, provides that Mr. Clemens will seagethe Company's Senior V
President and Chief Financial Officer for a ternpiexg April 30, 2006. The term of the Employmengr&ement provides for autom:
one (1) year renewals in the absence of writtert@ab the contrary from the Company or Mr. Clemahkeast one hundred eighty (1
days prior to the expiration of any renewal peribde Employment Agreement provides for an annuaélsalary of $180,000 plus
payment of an annual bonus to be determined basdHeosatisfaction of such targets, conditions anameters as may be determi
from time to time by the Compensation Committe¢hef Board of Directors. The Employment Agreemesb adrovides for the grant
stock options on March 10, 1998 to purchase 300gh@0es of the Company's common stock at an erepecise of $2.375 per sha
which options vest in equal increments of 25,00000pshares at the end of each quarterly periothguhe term of the Employme
Agreement (as such vesting schedule may be amdndauitual agreement of Mr. Clemens and the BoarDiadctors). In addition, |
August 2004, the Company granted stock options to@femens to purchase 375,000 shares of Commark &toan exercise price
$0.13 per share. Such stock options vest in equaateyly increments at the end of each annual gex@nmencing March 9, 2005.

U.S. Department of Justice Settlement

On June21, 1993, the Company entered into a Plea Agreemihtthe U.S. Department of Justice (the "DOJ"yé¢solve the DO.
investigation into the manufacturing and record pieg practices at the Company's former BrooklynwNéork plant. The Ple
Agreement required the Company to pay a fine 05@2,000 over five years in quarterly installmentss®25,000, commencing on
about September 15, 1993.

As of February 28, 1998, the Company was in defafuthe payment terms of the Plea Agreement andniadie payments aggregat
$350,000. On May 8, 1998, the Company and the Dghkd the Letter Agreement serving to amend tha Rigreement relating to t
terms of the Company's satisfaction of the fineesssd under the Plea Agreement (the "Letter AgregineSpecifically, the Lette
Agreement provided that the Company will satisfg tiemaining $2,150,000 of the fine through the miynpayments of $25,0(
commencing June 1, 1998, plus interest on suctiamdihg balance (at the rate calculated pursua28td.S.C. Section 1961 (5.3199
Such payment schedule provided for the full satigfa of the DOJ fine in July 2005. The Letter Agmeent also provides cert
restrictions on the payment of salary or compeaoasatd any individual in excess of certain amounitheut the written consent of t
DOJ. In addition, the Letter Agreement requires riigayment of the outstanding fine to the exten2%# of the Company's aftéax
profit or 25% of the net proceeds received by tben@any on any sale of a capital asset for a suexéess of $10,000, if not investec
another capital asset. At December 31, 2003, thepaoy was current in its payment obligations, wathremaining obligation
$433,000. In February 2004, the Company fully §atisits obligation to the DOJ under the Letter égiment.
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Other Legal Proceedings

Beginning in 1992, actions were commenced agamsCompany and numerous other pharmaceutical metnuvéas, in connection wi
the alleged exposure to diethylstilbestrol ("DES e defense of all of such matters was assumekbeb€ompany's insurance carrier,
a substantial number have been settled by theeca@urrently, several actions remain pending g Company as a defendant in
Pennsylvania Court of Common Pleas, Philadelphidsioin, and the insurance carrier is defending esxtfon. The Company and
legal counsel do not believe any of such actiorishaive a material impact on the Company's findnmiadition. The ultimate outcor
of these lawsuits cannot be determined at this, tand accordingly, no adjustment has been madeestodnsolidated financial stateme

The Company is named as a defendant in an actiithedmlfred Kohn v. Halsey Drug Co. in the Suprer@ourt of New York, Bror
County. The plaintiff seeks damages of $1.0 millionbreach of an alleged oral contract to paynddi's fee for a business transac
involving the Company. Discovery in this actioncemplete. The Company's and the Plairgiffiotion for summary judgment were
to be heard by the Court in August 8, 2003. PIfiiltohn deceased shortly prior to such hearing datel the motions for summi
judgment and any trial of this matter were stayedding the substitution of Mr. Kohn's estate asplhntiff. The Estate of Mr. Kohn h
been substituted as the plaintiff. In February,®2a8e Court ruled in favor of the Company undsmitotion for summary judgment.
doing so, the Court dismissed all aspects of Rfsmtomplaint, with the exception of Plaintif’ claim for payment of the fair value
the services alleged to have been performed bytiffairhe Company and the Estate of Mr. Kohn hageeed in principle to settle tl
matter, pursuant to which the Company would makeetime payment of $35,000. The proposed settlemesuligect to the preparati
and execution of a definitive settlement agreenaextthe approval of the Bronx, New York SurrogaBssirt.

Each of the purchase agreements for the Compaf@8 Debentures, 1999 Debentures, 2003 Debentunds2@04 Debentures a
Bridge Loans contains provisions by which the Conypia obligated to indemnify the purchasers ofdebentures for any losses, clai
damages, liabilities, obligations, penalties, awajddgments, expenses or disbursements arisingf astresulting from the breach of ¢
representation, warranty or agreement of the Compalated to the purchase of the debentures aniddibans. These indemnificat
obligations do not include a limit on maximum pdtehfuture payments, nor are there any recourseigions or collateral that m
offset the cost.

As of December 31, 2004, the Company does not\eelthat any liability has been incurred as a resfilthese indemnificatic
obligations.
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NOTE M - QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

Quarterly Financial Data

(amounts in thousands 1st 2nd 3rd 4th
except per share amounts) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year

2004
Net product revenues $ 62¢ $ 21C $ -$ -$ 83¢
Loss from operations (2,089 (2,120 (3,810 (1,95 (9,965
Net income (loss) 68C (17,117 (51,480 (2,089 (69,99¢)
Earnings (loss) per common share - basic $ 023 (79 % (2.35 % (.09 $ (3.20)
Earnings (loss) per common share - diluted $ .0C $ (79 % (2.35 % (.09 $ (3.20)

2003
Net product revenues $ 152¢ $ 1,20¢ $ 147¢ $ 154C $ 5,75C
Loss from operations (3,387 (3,557 (3,325 (6,980 (17,249
Net loss (10,57%) (11,027 (11,590 (15,267) (48,455
Loss per common share - basic and diluted $ (.50 $ (52) % (.55) % (7)) % (2.2¢)

2002
Net product revenues $ 1,881 $ 2,25¢ $ 2,01 $ 2,05: $ 8,20t
Loss from operations (2,889 (3,379 (3,46¢) (3,209 (12,937
Net loss (5,47 (7,340 (7,86¢) (38,90)) (59,589
Loss per common share - basic and diluted $ (.36) % (49 % (52) % (2.46) $ (3.90)
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE II - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

DECEMBER 31,
(in thousands)

COL. A COoL.B COoL.C COL.D (1) COL. E
Additions Additions
Balance at chargedto charged to _
beginning costs and other Deductions  Balance at
Description of period expenses accounts end of period
Year ended December 31, 2004
Allowances - accounts receivable $ 42¢€ $ - $ - $ (428 $ -
Valuation allowance - deferred tax assets $ 58,25¢ $ - $ - $ (4,119 % 54,131
Year ended December 31, 2003
Allowances - accounts receivable $ 14 $ 42€ $ - $ 14 % 42€
Valuation allowance - deferred tax assets $ 53,89¢ $ 4,351 $ - $ - $ 58,25¢
Year ended December 31, 2002
Allowances - accounts receivable $ 347 $ 101 $ - $ 439 $ 14
Valuation allowance - deferred tax assets $ 40,94¢ $ 1295. % - $ - $ 53,89¢

(1) Accounts written-off.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

EXHIBIT
NUMBER DOCUMENT
3.1 Certificate of Incorporation and amendments (inooaped by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registsafinnual Report on 16c

3.2

3.3

4.1

4.2

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.5(1)

10.5(2)

10.5(3)

10.5(4)

for the year ended December 31, 1999).

Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to BxI3H to the Registrant’'s Quarterly Report on FdtQ for the quarte
ended June 30, 1993).

Restated By-Laws (incorporated by reference to EkI3.3 to the Registrant’s Annual Report FormKL@er the year ende
December 31, 1998 (the “1998 Form 10-K")).

Form of 5% Convertible Senior Secured Debentureofiporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Regd’s Current Report ¢
Form 8-K dated December 20, 2002 (the “Decembel Fifim 8-K")).

Form of Convertible Senior Secured Debenture isqugduant to the Debenture and Share Purchase mgreedated as
February 6, 2004 (incorporated by reference to lkHi.1 of the Registrant’'s Current Report on F@{ dated February 1
2004 (the “February 2004 Form 8-K”)

Credit Agreement, dated as of December 22, 1992ngnthe Registrant and The Chase Manhattan Bauk, (kwcorporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’'s ArriR@port on Form 10-K for the year ended Decemliei1392 (the 1992 Forn
10-K™).

Amendment Two, dated as of January 12, 1994, tdiCAgireement among the Registrant and The ChaseéhMtan Bank, N.A
together with forms of Stock Warrant and RegistratRights Agreement (incorporated by reference xbiliit 10.1 to th
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for theryeaded December 31, 1993 (the “1993 Form 10-K")).

Amendment Three, dated as of May 31, 1994, to Creglieement among the Registrant and The Chase ammhBank, N./
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 6(a) to thegRtrant’s Quarterly Report on Form @@for the quarter ended March
1994).

Amendment Four, dated as of July 1994, to CrediteAment among the Registrant and The Chase ManhBa&ak, N.A
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 6(a) to thegRtrant’s Quarterly Report on Form Qfor the quarter ended June 30, 19

Amendment Five, dated as of March 21, 1995, to i€Agieement among the Registrant and The Chaséhittan Bank, N./
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to thegRtrant’'s Current Report on Form 8-K dated Ma2dh 1995 (the Marct
1995 8-K")).

Form of Warrants issued to The Bank of New Yorke TBhase Manhattan Bank, N.A. and the Israel DiscBank (incorporate
by reference to Exhibit 10.5(i) to the Registra{tnual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Ddner 31, 1995 (thel99t
Form 10-K")).

Letter Agreement, dated July 10, 1995, among thgidRant, The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.A., The Banklew York ant
Israel Discount Bank of New York (incorporated Igfarence to Exhibit 6(a) to the Registrant's QuértBeport on Form 1@
for the quarter ended June 30, 1995 (the “June 1999")).

Letter Agreement, dated November 16, 1995, amoadRibgistrant, Inc., The Chase Manhattan Bank, NIAg Bank of Ne\
York and Israel Discount Bank of New York (incorpted by reference to Exhibit 10.25(iv) to the 1995K).

Amendment 6, dated as of August 6, 1996, to Cregieement among The Registrant, The Chase ManhBtak, N.A., Th
Bank of New York and Israel Discount Bank of Newrkdincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to @éamdment No. 1 to tt
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for dluarter ended June 30, 1996 (the “June 1996 10-Q").






EXHIBIT
NUMBER

DOCUMENT

10.5(5)

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.10(1)

10.10(2)

10.10(3)

10.11

10.12

10.12(l)

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

Letter Agreement, dated March 25, 1997 among ttgisRant, The Chase Manhattan Bank, as successuateiest to The Cha
Manhattan Bank (National Association), The Bankefv York and Israel Discount Bank.

Agreement Regarding Release of Security Intereateddas of March 21,1995 by and among the Registhallinckrod!
Chemical Acquisition, Inc. and The Chase ManhaBank, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibita6f the March 1995 8-
K).

Consulting Agreement dated as of September, 198@lea the Registrant and Joseph F. Limongelli fipe@ted by reference
Exhibit 10.6 to the 1993 Form 10-K).

Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 118988yeen the Registrant and Rosendo Ferran (incatgubiby reference
Exhibit 10.2 to the 1992 Form 10-K).

Registrant’s 1984 Stock Option Plan, as amendeorated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the 186&n 10-K).

Registrant’s 1995 Stock Option and Restricted Sfégichase Plan (incorporated by reference to EixAitiito the Registrargt’
Registration Statement on Form S-8, File No. 339833

Registrant’s Non-Employee Director Stock OptionrPla

Leases, effective February 13, 1989 and JanuardQ0, respectively, among the Registrant and MillorAckerman, St
Ackerman, Lee Hinderstein, Thelma Hinderstein andriMn Weiss (incorporated by reference to Exhii6 and 10.
respectively, to the Registrant’'s Annual ReporfFonm 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1989).

Lease, effective as of April 15, 1988, among thgi&eant and Milton J. Ackerman, Sue Ackerman, Hiederstein, Thelr
Hinderstein and Marilyn Weiss, and Rider theretmwdrporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to thgifeants Annual Repo
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1987).

Lease, as of October 31, 1994, among Registrantiloin J. Ackerman, Sue Ackerman, Lee Hinderstd@inelma Hinderste
and Marilyn Weiss, together with Modification, Cofidation and Extension Agreement (incorporatedréference to Exhik
10.12(i) to the 1995 Form 10-K).

Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of March 21, H®&ng Mallinckrodt Chemical Acquisition, Inc. (“4aisition”),
Mallinckrodt Chemical, Inc., as guarantor and tlegiRtrant (incorporated by reference to ExhibitL1t0.the March 1995 8-K).

Toll Manufacturing Agreement for APAP/Oxycodone Tedb dated as of March 21, 1995 between Acquisiiod the Registra
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to tharth 8-K).

Capsule ANDA Option Agreement dated as of March1®B5 between Acquisition and the Registrant (ipocated by referen
to Exhibit 10.3 to the March 1995 8-K).

Tablet ANDA Noncompetition Agreement dated as ofrdha21, 1995 between the Registrant and Acquisiiiocorporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the March 1995 8-K).

Subordinated NomNegotiable Promissory Term Note in the amount g28Q,00 dated March 21, 1995 issued by the Registt
Acquisition (incorporated by reference to Exhitit3 to the March 1995 8-K).

Term Note Security Agreement dated as of March1®B5 among the Company, Houba, Inc. and Acquisiiiocorporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the March 1995 8-K).

Amendment dated March 21, 1995 to SubordinationeAgrent dated as of July 21, 1994 between Mallirtk@hemical, Inc
Acquisition, the Registrant, The Chase ManhattankB&lational Association), Israel Discount BankN#w York, The Bank ¢



New York, and The Chase Manhattan Bank (Nationalomtion) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit8lth the March 19¢
8-K).

10.20 Agreement dated as of March 30, 1995 between tigésiRant and Zatpack, Inc. (incorporated by refeesto Exhibit 10.10 to tt
March 1995 8-K).

10.21 Waiver and Termination Agreement dated as of M&@h1995 between Zuellig Group, W.A., Inc. and &mdi Fine Chemice
Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibitll to the March 1995 8-K).
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10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39

10.40

10.41

Convertible Subordinated Note of the Registranedddecember 1, 1994 issued to Zatpack, Inc. (irmretpd by reference
Exhibit 10.12 to the March 1995 8-K).

Agreement dated as of March 30, 1995 among thesRagt, Indiana Fine Chemicals Corporation, ZueBigup, N.A., Inc
Houba Inc., Zetapharm, Inc. and Zuellig Botanitat, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13he March 1995 8-K).

Supply Agreement dated as of March 30, 1995 betwémrba, Inc. and ZetaPharm, Inc. (incorporateddfgrence to Exhikt
10.14 to the March 1995 8-K).

Form of 10% Convertible Subordinated Debenturedfiporated by reference to Exhibit 6(a) to the JL@@5 10-Q).
Form of Redeemable Common Stock Purchase Warrardrfiorated by reference to Exhibit 6(a) to theeJU®95 10-Q).

Form of 10% Convertible Subordinated Debenturecfiporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Regidts Current Report ¢
Form 8-K dated December 4, 1995 (the “December BOB5)).

Form of Redeemable Common Stock Purchase Warrardrfiorated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Dawer 1995 8-K).
Form of 10% Convertible Subordinated Debenturedfiporated by reference to Exhibit 99 to the Jur@6180-Q).

Form of Redeemable Common Stock Purchase Warrastrfiorated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Amendnim 1 to the Jur
1996 10-Q).

Form of 5% Convertible Senior Secured Debentureofiporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Regd’s Current Report ¢
Form 8-K dated March 24, 1998 (the “March 1998 §)K”

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant (incorporbyeference to Exhibit 4.2 to the March 1998 8-K)

Debenture and Warrant Purchase Agreement datechM#&c1998, by and among the Registrant, Galemé&arill, L.P. and tt
other Purchasers listed on the signature pagetth@neorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 te kharch 1998 8-K).

Form of General Security Agreement of Registraneédidarch 10, 1998 (incorporated by reference thiltik10.2 to the Marc
1998 8-K).

Form of Agreement of Guaranty of Subsidiaries ofjiRteant dated March 10, 1998 (incorporated byresfee to Exhibit 10.3
the March 1998 8-K).

Form of Guarantor General Security Agreement ddfadch 10, 1998 (incorporated by reference to Exhibi4 to the Marc
1998 8-K).

Stock Pledge Agreement dated March 10, 1998 bybatdeen the Registrant and Galen Partners I, a$agent (incorporat
by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the March 1998 8-K)

Form of Irrevocable Proxy Agreement (incorporatgdadference to Exhibit 10.6 to the March 1998 8-K).

Agency Letter Agreement dated March 10, 1998 by amdng the purchasers a party to the Debenturé\ardant Purcha:
Agreement, dated March 10, 1998 (incorporated fareace to Exhibit 10.7 to the March 1998 8-K).

Press Release of Registrant dated March 13, 1888rfiorated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the tiak998 8-K).

Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by the Registraith the Securities and Exchange Commission anchl 24, 1998.



10.42 Letter Agreement between the Registrant and the DePartment of Justice dated March 27, 1998 rejab the restructuring
the fine assessed by the Department of Justicer tinelé’lea Agreement dated June 21, 1993.

10.43 Employment Agreement dated as of March 10, 199&dt the Registrant and Michael K. Reicher (incoafam by reference
Exhibit 10.43 to the Registrant’s Annual Reporfofm 10-K for the year ended December 31, 19978687 Form 10-K")).

10.44 Employment Agreement dated as of March 10, 1998/dwn the Registrant and Peter Clemens (incorpolatetference 1
Exhibit 10.44 to the 1997 Form 10-K).




EXHIBIT
NUMBER

DOCUMENT

10.45

10.46

10.47

10.48

10.49

10.50

10.51

10.52

10.53

10.54

10.55

10.56

10.57

10.58

10.59

10.60

10.61

10.62

Amended, Restated and Consolidated Bridge Loan ékgeat dated as of December 2, 1998 between thestRedi Gale
Partners 1ll, L.P., Galen Partners Internationd) LI.P., Galen Employee Fund lll, L.P. and the otlsgnatures there
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.45 to 1888 Form 10-K).

First Amendment to Amended, Restated and Conselid&ridge Loan Agreement dated December 7, 199@%deat th
Registrant and the lenders listed on the signatage thereto (incorporated by reference to ExAibid6 to the 1998 Form 1K))-

Second Amendment to Amended, Restated and Contaliéidge Loan Agreement dated March 8, 1999 betvike Registra
and the lenders listed on the signature page théretorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.47 ® 1998 Form 10-K).

Form of 10% Convertible Secured Note due May 3091@ncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.48n® 1998 Form 10-K).

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued pardaosbe Amended, Restated and Consolidated Biidg® Agreemer
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.49 to 1888 Form 10-K).

Amended and Restated General Security Agreemeet da¢cember 2, 1998 between the Company and Galgners 1II, L.P.
as Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit @@cbthe 1998 Form 10-K).

Subordination Agreement dated December 2, 1998dmtwhe Registrant and Galen Partners I, L.PAgent (incorporated
reference to Exhibit 10.51 to the 1998 Form 10-K).

Agency Letter Agreement dated December 2, 1998nblyaanong the lenders a party to the Amended, Restatd Consolidat
Bridge Loan Agreement, as amended (incorporategfgyence to Exhibit 10.52 to the 1998 Form 10-K).

Lease Agreement dated March 17, 1999 between tlggstRent and Par Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorpdrée reference
Exhibit 10.53 to the 1998 Form 10-K).

Lease Agreement dated September 1, 1998 betweeRebistrant and Crimson Ridge Partners (incorpdrate reference !
Exhibit 10.54 to the 1998 Form 10-K).

Manufacturing and Supply Agreement dated March1BB9 between the Registrant and Par Pharmaceytinalsincorporate
by reference to Exhibit 10.55 to the 1998 Form 10-K

Registrant’s 1998 Stock Option Plan (incorporateddierence to Exhibit 10.56 to the 1998 Form 10-K)

Loan Agreement dated March 29, 2000 between thésRagt and Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incotedréy reference
Exhibit 10.57 to the Registrant’s Current Report-amm 8-K dated March 29, 2000 (the “March 20008}

Amendment to Loan Agreement dated March 31, 200@den the Registrant and Watson Pharmaceuticals(ihrcorporated t
reference to Exhibit 10.58 to the March 2000 8-K).

Secured Promissory Note in the principal amoun$bf,500,000 issued by the Registrant, as the makegavor of Watso
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. dated March 31, 2000 (inaaited by reference to Exhibit 10.59 to the MarcB®8-K).

Watson Security Agreement dated March 29, 2000 &etwthe Registrant and Watson Pharmaceuticals (imeorporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.60 to the March 2000 8-K).

Stock Pledge Agreement dated March 29, 2000 betweerRegistrant and Watson Pharmaceuticals, Imcofporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.61 to the March 2000 8-K).

Watson Guarantee dated March 29, 2000 between Hdutaand Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as theagtars, in favor ¢



10.63

10.64

10.65

Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by esfe to Exhibit 10.62 to the March 2000 8-K).

Watsons Guarantors Security Agreement dated March 29,0206tween the Registrant, Houba, Inc. and Wi
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by referendextubit 10.63 to the March 2000 8-K).

Subordination Agreement dated March 29, 2000 byandng the Registrant, Watson Pharmaceuticals,aim¢.the holders

the Registrans outstanding 5% convertible debentures due Maé;2@03. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 406 the
March 2000 8-K).+

Real Estate Mortgage dated March 29, 2000 betwerrb&l Inc. and Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (iraratpd by reference
Exhibit 10.65 to the March 2000 8-K).




EXHIBIT
NUMBER

DOCUMENT

10.66

10.67

10.68

10.69

10.70

10.71

10.72

10.73

10.74

10.75

10.76

10.77

10.78

10.79

10.80

10.81

10.82

Subordination Agreement by and among Houba, Inele® Partners, I, L.P., Oracle Strategic Partn&r®. and Watsc
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by referendextubit 10.66 to the March 2000 8-K).

Product Purchase Agreement dated March 29, 200@ebeatthe Registrant and Watson Pharmaceuticals (imeorporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.67 to the March, 2000 8+K).

Finished Goods Supply Agreement dated March 290 2@dween the Registrant and Watson Pharmaceuytinals(incorporate
by reference to Exhibit 10.68 to the March 2000)8+K

Active Ingredient Supply Agreement dated March 2800 between the Registrant and Watson Pharmaaks,titnc
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.69 toMmerch 2000 8-K).+

Right of First Negotiation Agreement dated March, 2000 between the Registrant and Watson Pharmeaksytinc
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.70 to therch 2000 8-K).+

Finished Goods Supply Agreement (Core Product®dditarch 29, 2000 between the Registrant and Wa&banmaceutical
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.71he March 2000 8-K).+

Debenture and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated?Blal©Q99 by and among the Registrant, Oracle $jiakRartners, L.P. ai
the other purchasers listed on the signature gegyetop (the “Oracle Purchase Agreemenitiydrporated by reference to Exh
10.72 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on FornKifer the year ended December 31,1999 (the “1998nF0-K")).

Form of 5% Convertible Senior Secured Debentungedpursuant to the Oracle Purchase Agreementrocated by referen
to Exhibit 10.73 the 1999 Form 10-K).

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued pordwathe Oracle Purchase Agreement (incorporatedeference t
Exhibit 10.74 to the 1999 Form 10-K).

Lease Termination and Settlement Agreement datectiV20, 2000 between the Registrant and Atlantap@rties Company
respect of the Registrant’s Brooklyn, New York kedacility (incorporated by reference to Exhibt 25 to the 1999 Form 10-
K).

Debenture Purchase Agreement dated December 20,[808nd among the Registrant, Care Capital Investall, LP, Esse
Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P. and the otheclpasers listed on the signature page thereto @8e2' Debentureholders”
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thegRtrant’'s current report on FormkB-dated December 27, 2002 (
“December 2002 Form 8-K")).

Form of General Security Agreement dated Decemlier 2002 between the Registrant and the 2002 Detmntlder.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to thec®mber 2002 Form 8-K).

Form of Agreement of Guaranty of Subsidiaries & Registrant dated December 20, 2002 between Hdbubathe Registra
and the 2002 Debentureholders (incorporated byerée to Exhibit 10.3 to the December 2002 Form)8-K

Form of Guarantor General Security Agreement betvike Guarantors and the 2002 Debentureholderd @eeember 20, 20
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to thec@mber 2002 Form 8-K).

Stock Pledge Agreement dated December 20, 2002ndybatween the Registrant and Galen Partners IR,,las age
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to thec@mber 2002 Form 8-K).

Voting Agreement dated December 20, 2002 (incortpdray reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Decemb@&220orm 8-K).

Debentureholders Agreement dated December 20, @€&porated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to trec®mber 2002 Form 8-



10.83

10.84

K).

Amendment to Debenture and Warrant Purchase Agrmaeneéween the Registrant, Galen Partners lll, &rfél other signatori
thereto, dated December 20, 2002, amending theribafgeand Warrant Purchase Agreement dated March98® between tl
Company, Galen Partners lIll, L.P. and the othenatigries thereto (incorporated by reference to l&Hi0.8 to the Decemk
2002 Form 8-K).

Amendment to Debenture and Warrant Purchase Agmelbeéween the Registrant, Oracle Strategic PatheP. and the oth
signatories thereto, dated December 20, 2002, aimgeride Debenture and Warrant Purchase Agreemead dday 26, 199
between the Company, Oracle Strategic Partners,dné the other signatories thereto (incorporateceberence to Exhibit 10
to the December 2002 Form 8-K).




EXHIBIT
NUMBER

DOCUMENT

10.85

10.86

10.87

10.88

10.89

10.90

10.91

10.92

10.93

10.94

10.95

10.96

10.97

10.98

10.99

Amended and Restated 5% Convertible Senior Seddednture due March 31, 2006 (incorporated by eefsg to Exhib
10.10 to the December 2002 Form 8-K).

Second Amendment to Loan Agreement dated Decenfhe2@2, between the Registrant and Watson Phautieals, Inc.
amending the Loan Agreement dated March 29, 2000dam the Registrant and Watson Pharmaceuticals(itrcorporated
reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the December 2002rF8K).

Amended and Restated Secured Promissory Note da¢edmber 20, 2002, issued by the Registrant inrfafoWatsol
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. in the principal amount $@,800 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10td2he December 20
Form 8-K).

Second Amendment to Finished Goods Supply Agreei@are Products) dated December 20, 2002, betweeRegistrant ar
Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. amending the Finishedds Supply Agreement (Core Products) dated Mas;h2000 200
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 toEreeember 2002 Form 8-K).

Watson Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated Dece2fb@002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibitlao the Decemb
2002 Form 8-K).

Registration Rights Agreement dated December 202 Zibicorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15h® December 2002 Fo
8-K).

Warrant Recapitalization Agreement dated DecemBef@02 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1Gd $he December 20
Form 8-K).

Debenture and Share Purchase Agreement dated-abfary 6, 2004 by and among the Registrant, Capital Investments,
LP, Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P., G&anners lll, L.P. and the other purchasers listedhe signature pa
thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1i®.the Registrant’s current report on Fornk &ated February 10, 2004 (
“February 2004 Form 8-K").

Debenture Conversion Agreement dated as of FebiaPp04 by and among the Registrant, Care Cajitdex Woodland
Galen Partners and the other signatories themetorforated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of thergaty 2004 Form 8-K).

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatibthe Registrant (incorporated by reference to BixHi0.3 of the Februa
2004 Form 8-K).

Investor Rights Agreement dated as of February0842y and among the Registrant, Care Capital,xE®ésodlands, Gale
Partners and the other signatories thereto (incatpd by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Febri§4 Form 8-K).

Amended and Restated Voting Agreement dated asebfuBry 6, 2004 by and among the Registrant, Cagit&, Esse
Woodlands, Galen Partners and the other signattrésto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16f.the February 2004 Fol
8-K).

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreerdatdéd as of February 6, 2004 by and among the Ragis Watso
Pharmaceuticals, Care Capital, Essex Woodlandgn@artners and the other signatories theretorfiocated by reference
Exhibit 10.6 of the February 2004 Form 8-K).

Amended and Restated Subordination Agreement dested February 6, 2004 by and among the Regist@are Capital, Ess
Woodlands, Galen Partners and the other signatthégsto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1df.the February 2004 Fo
8-K).

Company General Security Agreement (incorporatetefsrence to Exhibit 10.8 of the February 2004nfr8¢K).



10.100

10.101

10.102

10.103

Form of Unconditional Agreement of Guaranty (inamgted by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of the Febriz094 Form 8-K).
Form of Guarantor Security Agreement (incorpordtedeference to Exhibit 10.10 of the February 2664m 8-K).

Stock Pledge Agreement dated as of February 6, B9Gahd between the Registrant and Galen Partagragent (incorporat
by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of the February 2664m 8-K).

Umbrella Agreement dated as of February 6, 2004y among the Registrant, Watson Pharmaceutical® Capital, Essi
Woodlands, Galen Partners and the other signatthi@zeto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 200f the February 20(
Form 8-K).




EXHIBIT
NUMBER

DOCUMENT

10.104

10.105

10.106

10.107

10.108

10.109

10.110

10.111

10.112

10.113

10.114

10.115

10.116

10.117

10.118

10.119

Third Amendment to Loan Agreement dated as of Falyré, 2004 by and among the Registrant and Wa@rmaceutica
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 of Badruary 2004 Form 8-K).

Amended and Restated Promissory Note in the pahamount of $5,000,000 issued by the Registrarfavor of Watso
Pharmaceuticals (incorporated by reference to Exhib14 of the February 2004 Form 8-K).

Hydrocodone APl Supply Option Agreement dated aBaifruary 6, 2004 between the Registrant and Wa@sammaceutica
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 of Bedruary 2004 Form 8-K).

Noteholders Agreement dated as of February 6, 2804nd among the Registrant, Care Capital, Essendidnds, Gale
Partners and the other signatories thereto (incatpd by reference to Exhibit 10.16 of the Febr2@94 Form 8-K).

Asset Purchase Agreement dated March 19, 2004 tyaamong the Registrant, Axiom Pharmaceutical Catfpam and IVAX
Pharmaceuticals New York LLC (incorporated by refie to Exhibit 2.1 of the Registrant’s FornK8led March 25, 2004 (tt
“March 2004 Form 8-K")).

Voting Agreement dated March 19, 2004 by and amibreg Registrant, IVAX Pharmaceuticals New York LL@dacertail
holders of Halsey Drug Co., Inc. voting securifieEorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of tharbh 2004 Form 8-K).

Use and License Agreement dated March 19, 200hbdyamong the Registrant, Axiom Pharmaceutical Qatgm and IVAX
Pharmaceuticals New York LLC (incorporated by refee to Exhibit 10.2 of the March 2004 Form 8-K.)

Executive Employment Agreement dated as of Noveni8er2002 between the Registrant and Vijai Kumacdiporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s QarytReport on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Bhe2004 (the June 200
10-Q")).

Executive Employment Agreement dated as of Aug8s2R03 between the Registrant and Andrew D. Ré&d@lcorporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to June 2004 10-Q).

Executive Employment Agreement dated as of AprR@)4 between the Registrant and Ron J. Spiveyijiacated by referen
to Exhibit 10.3 to June 2004 10-Q).

Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement betwHen Registrant and Andrew D. Reddick, dated May 270«
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to JR@e4 10-Q).

Separation Agreement and General Release datecerSiegt 18, 2003 between the Registrant and MichaeR&che
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to JR@e4 10-Q).

First Amendment to Separation Agreement and Gerieldase between the Registrant and Michael K.Heeidecember
2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6uoe 2004 10-Q).

Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of FebruaryQD8, By and between the Registrant and Mutual Phaautizal Compan
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. dtme 2004 10-Q).

Amendment to Debenture and Share Purchase Agredmgearid among the Registrant, Care Capital Invastsni, LP, Esse
Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P. and other sigiesahereto, dated as of June 1, 2004 (incorpdrayereference to Exhit
10.8 to June 2004 10-Q).

First Amendment to Debenture Purchase Agreementiriyy among the Registrant, Galen Partner lll, L@are Capit:
Investments Il, LP, Essex Woodlands Health Ventwed. .P. and other signatories thereto, dated af\udust 11, 200
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to JR@e4 10-Q).



10.120

14

21

*23.1

Letter of Support from Galen Partner Ill, L.P., E&apital Investments I, LP, and Essex Woodlanealtd Ventures V, L.P.
the Registrant, dated May 5, 2003 (incorporatedefigrence to Exhibit 10.10 to June 2004 10-Q).

Code of Ethics (incorporated by reference to ExHildi of the Registrant’'s Form 10-K filed April _2004 (the “2003 Form 10-
K").

Subsidiaries of the Registrant (incorporated bgneice to Exhibit 22 to the 1993 Form 10-K).

Consent of Grant Thornton LLP, independent cedifieiblic accountants, to the incorporation by refiee of its report to tl
consolidated financial statements of the Registcamtained in its Form 1B-for the year ended December 31, 2003, intc
Registrant’s Registration Statements on Form Sefji®ration Nos. 333-63288 and 33-98356).




EXHIBIT
NUMBER

DOCUMENT

*23.2

*31.1

*31.2

*32.1

*32.2

Consent of BDO Seidman LLP, independent certifieblioc accountants, to the incorporation by refeeent its report to tt
consolidated financial statements of the Registcantained in its Form 1B-for the year ended December 31, 2004, intc
Registrant’s Registration Statements on Form Sefji®ration Nos. 333-63288 and 33-98356).

Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Executi@dficer pursuant to Rule 13a-14 and 1B#lof the Securities Exchange Ac
1934.

Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Financ@fficer pursuant to Rule 13a-14 and 1b#tlof the Securities Exchange Ac
1934.

Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Executi@ficer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, aspsatb pursuant to Secti
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Financifficer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, agpsetbpursuant to Section ¢
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Filed herewith

+ A portion of this exhibit has been omitted pursu® an application for confidential treatmentguant to Rule 248B-of the Securitie
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We have issued our report dated February 26, 20@&pt for Note E, as to which the date is Marcf2Q@4, accompanying the consolid:
financial statements and schedule included in tiau&l Report of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (folyneralsey Drug Co., Inc.) a
Subsidiaries on Form 1K-for the year ended December 31, 2003. We herebgant to the incorporation by reference of sajbrein the
Registration Statements of Acura Pharmaceuticals, dn Forms S-8 (Registration Nos. 333-63288 a3@8856), pertaining to the 19
Stock Option Plan and the 1995 Stock Option Plan.

/sl GRANT THORNTON LLP

New York, New York

February 23, 2005

EXHIBIT 23.2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Palatine, lllinois

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referém¢be Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N83-63288 and 338356) of our repao
dated February 9, 2005, relating to the consolaidieancial statements and schedule of Acura Pheeatals, Inc. appearing in |
Company’s Annual Report on Form KOfor the year ended December 31, 2004. Our repastains an explanatory paragraph regardin
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.



Chicago, lllinois /s BDO Seidman, LLI
February 23, 2005

EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT
PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14 AND 15d-14 OF THE SECURSIEXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

I, Andrew D. Reddick, the President and Chief ExiweuOfficer of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc., certifiat:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on FornKl@FAcura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report doesoitain any untrue statement of a material faairoit to state a mater
fact necessary to make the statements made, indfgthe circumstances under which such statemeats made, not misleading w
respect to the period covered by this annual report

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$oéimer financial information included in this amhweport, fairly present
all material respects the financial condition, Hesof operations and cash flows of the registasbf, and for, the periods presente
this annual report;

4, The registrang’ other certifying officers and | are responsibte éstablishing and maintaining disclosure contrats
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a}Hhd 15d-15(e) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawased such disclosure controls and procedurdse tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this annual report is beingpared,;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtibis annual our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls amteulures, as of the end of the period covered isyattnual report based on s
evaluation; and

c) disclosed in this annual report any change in #gistrants internal control over financial reporting thatcooed during th
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that hatenally affected, or is reasonably likely to maadly affect, the registrand’ interna
control over financial reporting.

5. The registrang’ other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdsh on our most recent evaluation of internal abrave!
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditoredahe audit committee of the registranboard of directors (or persons performing
equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesisethe design or operation of internal controtiofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regigteaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involveanagement or other employees who have a significdatin the registrant’
internal control over financial reporting.

Date February 25, 200! By: /s/ Andrew D. Reddicl

Andrew D. Reddicl
President and Chief Executive Officer
EXHIBIT 31.2



CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT
PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14 AND 15d-14 OF THE SECURSIEXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

I, Peter A. Clemens, the Senior Vice President@hnigf Financial Officer of Acura Pharmaceuticals;.| certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on FornKl@fAcura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report doesotain any untrue statement of a material faairoit to state a mater
fact necessary to make the statements made, indfgime circumstances under which such statems&ate made, not misleading w
respect to the period covered by this annual report

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$oéimer financial information included in this amhweport, fairly present
all material respects the financial condition, hesof operations and cash flows of the registasbf, and for, the periods presente
this annual report;

4, The registrang’ other certifying officers and | are responsibte €stablishing and maintaining disclosure contrats
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a}Ehd 15d-15(e) for the registrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and procedurdse tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this annual is being prepared

(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtibis annual our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls amteulures, as of the end of the period covered isyattnual report based on s
evaluation; and

(c) disclosed in this annual report any change in #wistrants internal control over financial reporting thatcooed during th
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that hatenally affected, or is reasonably likely to maadly affect, the registrand’ interna
control over financial reporting.

5. The registrang’ other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdsh on our most recent evaluation of internal abrawve!

financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditoredahe audit committee of the registranboard of directors (or persons performing

equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesisethe design or operation of internal controtofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regigfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involveanagement or other employees who have a significdatin the registrant’
internal control over financial reporting.

COMPANY NAME CORPORATION

Date: February 25, 20( By: /s/ Peter A. Clemer

Peter A. Clemen
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED

PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACTF2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Acura Phaceuticals, Inc., Inc. (the “Company”) on Form KCOfor the period endir
December 31, 2004 as filed with the Securities Bxchange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8padrtAndrew D. Reddick, the Chi



Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursutntl8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuaBéttion 906 of the Sarban€&sdey
Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirerteeaf Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exaye Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results
operations of the Company.

Date: February 25, 20( By: /s/ Andrew D. Reddicl

Andrew D. Reddicl
President and Chief Executive Officer
EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACTF2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Acura Phaceuticals, Inc., Inc. (the “Company”) on Form K(or the period endir
December 31, 2004 as filed with the Securities Brechange Commission on the date hereof (the “R8pdytPeter A. Clemens, the Ser
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of then@pany, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1380adopted pursuant to Section 9C
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

3) The Report fully complies with the requirerteeaf Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exaye Act of 1934; and

4) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results
operations of the Company.

Date: February 25, 20( By: /s/ Peter A. Clemer

Peter A. Clemen
Senior Vice President aiChief Financial Officel

End of Filing
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